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NICKEL RESOURCES INTERNATIONAL

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited (formerly
known as China Nickel Resources Holdings Company Limited) is a
leading integrated hi-tech special steel, non-ferrous metal and mineral
enterprise in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Company
was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) in 2005 (stock code: 2889.HK) and is the first
non-state-owned mineral-resources exploration, development, and
processing enterprises, and is the first hi-tech special steel producer in
the PRC listed abroad. Our businesses are now vertically integrated from
mining to ferrous and non-ferrous metal production. We have successfully
transformed from a traditional special steel manufacturer to a leading
integrated mineral-resources exploration and processing enterprise in the
PRC. Our businesses include ore trading, ore processing, ferrous and
non-ferrous metallurgy. Our products have been extended to stainless
steel, tool steel, bearing steel, gearing steel, and high strength alloy steel;
and these products are widely used in metallurgy, automobile, ship-
building, petrochemical, buildings, bridges, animal husbandry uses,
railway transportation and infrastructures. The Group has successfully
developed a number of innovative and patented technologies. For
example, we used our own technology to extract valuable metals from
the multi-element low-grade ore; which is able to produce high strength
and high-value-added NiCr based alloy steel products from inferior ore
resources. The Group capitalises on its own exclusive offtake right on
mineral resources and technological advantages to enter into the mineral
resources and ore processing industries. With the long-term exclusive
offtake agreement entered into with an Indonesia mine, the Group is
actively expanding in the PRC and overseas and is seeking iron and
nickel mine investment and partnership opportunities in Southeast Asia.
Currently, the Group has subsidiaries and offices in the PRC, Hong Kong,
Singapore, and Indonesia with a global workforce of about 800 people.
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Corporate Information

LAFRH
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Corporate Information

LAFRH

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC
No. 7, Block F

Runhua Business Garden

No. 24 Jinshui Road, Jinshui District

Zhengzhou City, Henan Province

The PRC 450012

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada

Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor

Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

17M Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hong Kong:

China CITIC Bank International Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

The PRC:

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited
Pudong Development Bank Co. Ltd.
China Guangfa Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Jiangsu Co., Ltd.

Singapore:

Citibank Singapore Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
DBS Bank Limited

China CITIC Bank International Limited

WEBSITE

ir.nickelholdings.com

STOCK CODE
2889
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMBERE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of Nickel Resources International Holdings
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred as to the “Group”) for the last five financial years
prepared on the basis set out in the note below is as follows:

MBERBE
REREBRZERERAR(TARAD REHMER
A (AT o7 [ AN SR  ]) 1048 25 T (8 9 B E AR IR
TXHEMBEEERRICAMES BEE A
BN SF s - BI2T

Results E4
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—E-HF —T-NFE —T—=F —T-——F —T——F
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKPO00  HK$000
FET FAET FHET FHETT FiETT
Revenue W 38,697 336,403 1,635,170 1,810,036 3,114,804
Cost of sales SHE R (123,840)  (501,897) (1,664,620) (1,656,057) (2,718,530)
Gross (loss)/profit (E8)ER (85,143)  (165,494) (29,450) 153,979 396,274
Other gains/(loss), net Halas, (BE)
FEE 50,272 18,855 49,477  (100,414) 180,356
Selling and distribution SHE R SR A
costs (2,579) (10,036) (5,196) (19,225) (52,109)
Administrative expenses TR (191,315) (176,980) (284,672) (243,040) (155,727)
Finance income BhE WA 8,064 145,079 17,735 20,546 11,767
Finance costs BB KA (451,264) (559,261)  (280,927)  (356,547)  (246,868)
Other expenses HAFSZ (110,891) (36,740) (67,737) (10,981) (18,639)
Gain on disposal of HE B AT
a subsidiary v - - - 675,291 -
Impairment losses on W - BB KRR
property, plant and BERE
equipment (440,356)  (597,392)  (726,185)  (151,883) -
Provision for impairment of ~ B ¥ —REEE AT
loan to an associate ZRE R - (56,975) - - -
Share of (loss)/profit of JEfE—RE & QT
an associate (jE38) % F - (26,474) (13,508) 851 4,230
(Loss)/profit before RREFBHL AT
income tax (E18]), &R (1,223,212) (1,465,418) (1,340,463) (31,423) 119,284
Income tax (expense)/credit  FTEH (FIsz), (1,141) 11,205 (25,043)  (248,293) (38,181)
(Loss)/profit for the year  FEE (F518) % F (1,224,353) (1,454,213) (1,365,506)  (279,716) 81,103
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the RRATERFFE A
Company (1,222,916) (1,453,133) (1,366,411)  (278,301) 79,856
Non-controlling interests FEERR (1,437) (1,080) 905 (1,415) 1,247
(1,224,353) (1,454,213) (1,365,506)  (279,716) 81,103
Dividends ®’E - - - 23,043 -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMBERE

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests EE BERFERES
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—EB-HF —FNF ZF-=F T -F —F—F

HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TR THAT TAET TAT TAT

Total assets BEE 3,779,417 5,367,597 6,316,918 7,824,022 8,151,068
Total liabilities was 3,541,771 3,973,220 3,498,941 3,819,426 3,721,760
Non-controlling interests FEERR 6,682 8,465 9,450 18,905 150,004
Net assets FEE 237,646 1,394,377 2,817,977 4,004,596 4,429,308
Note: B3

The consolidated results of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2011, 2012, AEEREHEEZE-TE——F T ZF ZFT—=FR=F
2013 and 2014 were extracted from the Annual Report 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 of —WF+ZA=+—HIFEZHREEENIDRIRHEE AR A E]
the Company respectively (as restated from RMB to HK$ wherever applicable) while — —Z——4% « ZZ2——F . 2L —=—F R - -MFFERE
those for the year ended 31 December 2015 were prepared based on the consolidated (ARSI ABE (ER))  MBEEZ=-T—FAF+=A4
income statement and consolidated statement of financial position as set out on page 72~ =+ — BItFEZGAEEDDNER B 2B RFT4BEETS
and pages 74 to 75, respectively. This summary does not form part of the audited B ZHRAWERREATHEMRAREGE - B TERLE
financial statements. B HRER T — 8D o
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Corporate Responsibility

ERERE

UNLIMITED COMMITMENT WITH LIMITED
RESOURCES

It is the responsibility of an enterprise to utilise limited resources in an
efficient way and protect the environment with dedication and
creativity. Aiming to fulfil unlimited commitment with limited resources,
the Group has devoted efforts in the research and development of
new and green technologies and products in order to realise the
targets of high recovery rate, low emission as well as resources
recycling with effective and comprehensive use of resources. The
management believes that the Group is able to bring satisfactory
economic returns for the investors through proper use of limited
resources
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Recognition and Awards

SE KRR

AWARD #2715

FUROMUNEY

ASIA BEST
MANAGED
COMPANIES

2013 e x
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wssel

"RipLe ™

° Best Managed Company in Asia (Metals & Mining) 2013 from Euromoney
e (Euromoney) —E—=F [DMNEEEEQR (B MBEITHE)]

o Singapore 1000 Company 2012 from DP Information Group
e DPEFSEE [F0% 100058 * 2012

° The Asset Triple A Awards — The China’s Most Promising Companies in Mining 2011 from the Asset
s (ME)Z—FEIRAENPEEELE]
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° Certification for exporting and selling steel bar products in Indonesia
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHES

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2015 and extend my gratitude to all the
shareholders on behalf of the Board of Nickel Resources International
Holdings Company Limited.

REVIEW

2015 continues a challenging year full of uncertainties for both the
PRC'’s steel market and the Group. The over-supply situation had not
fundamentally improved amid the increasingly fierce competition from
similar products in the steel market although the PRC’s government
has started to discuss the over-supply situation which has affected
the iron and steel market seriously.

During the year, the persisting weak steel price, together with the
Export Ban which was implemented in early 2014 by the relevant
governmental authorities of Indonesia, have continuously casted
significant doubt on the Group’s financial performance and cash
flows position in 2015.

Following the continuous development of the high strength stainless
structural special steel products by the Group and the successful of
the launching market strategies for household, electricity,
communications, photovoltaic and animal husbandry uses which will
generate higher margin with lesser impact affected by macro
economy, we expect the Group may have new products bringing to
the higher margin market in the future.

The above unfavourable factors continuously brought substantial
negative impacts to the Group’s future operational and financial
performance. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s
turnover dropped dramatically when compared with last year and the
Group recorded a substantial loss mainly due to the significant
provision for impairment losses of property, plant and equipment and
of HK$440.1 million.

Annual Report 2015
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHES

PROSPECTS

We expect the economy of PRC will continue its healthy growth trend
and the demand and profitability of our steel products will rebound in
future.

In a longer term, we expect PRC will continue its modernisation and
urbanisation that the demand of high quality special steel products for
public infrastructure and equipment manufacturing will increase
steadily. This definitely will bring enormous business opportunities for
our Group.

We believe that after the technology industrialisation and
modernisation of special steel products, the Group will have a
stronger competitive advantage in the industry.

Also, we are considering and seeking for any possible alternatives
and financing sources to facilitate the development of the Indonesia
project, that is, for building up special steel mills in Indonesia in the
foreseeable future.

| have confident to achieve our restated performance targets through

the cooperation with all staff and the potential investors to bring
fruitful returns to our shareholders.

Dong Shutong
Chairman & CEO

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEMWRES

For the year ended
31 December

BEZ+-—A=+—H

LHFEE
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZT—mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Revenue Wz 38,697 336,403
Gross Loss FiE (85,143) (165,494)
Loss before Interest, Tax, Depreciation BB - FRIE - TE LRI 2 ETE

and Amortisation* (244,264) (329,069)
Loss before Tax FRELRIES 1B (1,223,212) (1,465,418)
Loss Attributable to Equity Holders of RARE=FE ARLEE

the Company (1,222,916) (1,453,133)
Gross Loss Margin FEEBX (220.0%) (49.2%)
LBITDA Margin LBITDA % (631.2%) (97.8%)
# Loss before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (“LBITDA”) also excluded # BRE -~ Fi1E - ITE RE#ERTERE ([LBITDAL) I 3E

impairment losses of property, plant and equipment of HK$440.4 million (2014:
HK$597.4 million).

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT ANALYSIS

Impact of Export Ban

The Group purchases ores for both trading of limonitic ore business
and self-use manufacturing of iron and special steel products. In the
past few years, the Group enjoyed fixed price in ore supply through
an exclusive offtake agreement entered into with PT. Yiwan Mining
(“Yiwan”) (“EOA”).

Pursuant to the relevant regulations promulgated in Indonesia,
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders in
Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) has been banned from 12 January 2014
onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out processing and
refining domestically according to Government Regulation No. 23 of
2010 regarding implementation of activities of business of minerals
and coal mining and have conducted refining and smelting in
accordance with Law No. 4 of 2009 regarding minerals and coal
mining (“Export Ban”). Due to the Export Ban, Yiwan can no longer
export unprocessed ore to the Group.

After the Export Ban, the ore trading business of the Group in 2015

was completely suspended. The turnover from ore trading business
shrank 100% from HK$52.1 million in 2014 to HK$nil in 2015.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEMWRES

Besides the direct impact on the ore trading business, the Export Ban
also adversely affected the manufacturing of iron and special steel
products. Without ore supply in stable price under the EOA, the
Group had to purchase the ores from the PRC market with volatile
ore price fluctuation which affected the cost of manufacturing of the
iron and special steel products.

Operating environment in 2015

In 2015, the PRC’s steel market continued to be negatively affected
by the over-supply and the persisting weak steel price under fierce
competition in the steel market. As a result, the sales of iron and
special steel products continuously recorded substantial gross loss
during the year.

We remain pessimistic about the steel market in the PRC in the short
term due to the continuation of over-supply and the persisting weak
steel price under fierce competition in the steel market. The PRC’s
government has started to discuss the possible solutions to mitigate
such over-supply situation continuously. We expect the prices of iron
and steel products will not have significant rebound in the near future.
However, in the long term, we expect the global economy will
gradually recover and the economy of the PRC will maintain its
healthy growth trend. Going forward, domestic market in the PRC will
become quality-oriented, which will impose higher requirements on
products in terms of environmental-friendliness, safety and durability,
sustainability and recycling. We expect that the quantitative demand
for high quality steel products will increase significantly in the long run,
and product development will incline to the high-end market.

To capture these business opportunities, the Group has shifted to the
production of high quality iron and special steel products through the
application of a more environmental-friendly production method.
Moreover, the Group had completed the innovation on the new “high-
strength special steel” product in the second half of the year 2014
which can be applied to bridge construction, offshore oil platform
construction, marine construction, ship construction, power
transmission engineering and marine transport facilities. Despite the
new “high-strength special steel” products launching to the market is
at very beginning stage, the Directors believe that the “high-strength
special steel” product can contribute substantially to the Group’s
future operating profits upon the successful exploration and
development of the new “high-strength special steel” products in the
PRC'’s steel market in the near future.

In view of the continuous unfavourable operating environment
experienced by the Group, the Directors have reviewed the
recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
and the related prepaid land lease payments and have been made a
provision for impairment losses on the plants of Lianyungang’s project
and certain idle equipment pending for repair and modification before
they can be put into for future use of HK$435.1 million and HK$5.3
million respectively.

Annual Report 2015
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THEMWRES

BUSINESS REVIEW

Project Progress

In the PRC

Lianyungang City East Harvest Mining Company Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has constructed a production
plant to produce nickel fine powder. The first production line of the
production plant started trial production in the second half year of
2012. The nickel fine powder can be treated as finished product for
direct sales; alternatively, it can be treated in a blast furnace and
possessed into nickel-iron alloy fluid, which becomes a high- quality
raw material for the production of stainless steel. The Lianyungang
plant applies low carbon metallurgical technology developed by the
Group. Ordinary coal, rather than coke used in traditional process, is
used in the reduction purification process, under which the
consumption of carbon may decrease by up to 40%. In addition, the
plant can utilise low grade nickel ore for production, the cost of which
is much lower than that used in traditional production process. The
project is highly recognised by the local government. Moreover, the
plant is situated at the Lianyungang port and benefits from
geographical advantages. Ores and other raw materials from
overseas can be conveniently transported to the plant, largely
reducing the inland transportation costs and logistics pressure.

Due to the Export Ban and the continuation of over-supply and the
persisting weak steel price under fierce competition in the steel
market, the production of iron ores related products was affected
substantially. The management has decided to suspend the
production plan to a later period. Because of the Export Ban, the
expected recoverable amount of the plant continually decreased
since in the year of 2013. As a result, the Directors made a further
provision for impairment of the property, plant and equipment of the
plant amounted to HK$435.1 million in 2015.

In Indonesia

PT. Mandan Steel, our wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in
Indonesia, is our future processing and manufacturing arm overseas.
PT. Mandan Steel is also recognised as a key iron and special steel
mill construction project of Indonesia with strong support from
Indonesia central government, and offers manufacturing capability
that is valuable considering the new mining regulations in Indonesia.
The special steel mill project will produce special steel bar for
concrete reinforcement to capture the market opportunities in
Indonesia. This processing facility can save shipping fees, loading and
unloading charges and inland port charges. The Stage 1 development
is facilitated and based on the overall relocation of the equipment
from Yongan Special Steel Company Limited, a former wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. To ensure high quality, environmental
protection, energy efficiency and low production cost, new equipment
will be added to existing equipment and some existing facilities will be
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modified. After the Export Ban which affected our cash flow position
together with the delay in disposal of 30% equity interest of SEAM, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the Group is seeking other
financing sources to facilitate the development of the project.
Management is currently negotiating with the relevant parties to
facilitate the completion of the proposed disposal despite longer than
expected time was spent as a result of the rapid changes in
environment the SEAM operates in.

Business Development

Ore trading business

The Group purchases ores from Indonesia through the EOA at fixed
price for self-use or for sale, and has started selling ores to third
parties since the end of 2009. The ore trading business had a
remarkable contribution to our profitability and cash flows due to
strong demand from the PRC customers in the past.

However, the ore trading business of the Group has been suspended
upon the Export Ban and it is anticipated that this will have a
continuous significant negative impact on the financial and operating
results of the Group.

It is possible that the relevant mining regulations in Indonesia may be
amended but there is no guarantee that the Export Ban will be
uplifted in near future.

The Directors are considering any possible alternatives, including but
not limited to, co- operation with local enterprises for building up
special steel mills in Indonesia.

Special steel-making operations

For the special steel-making operations of the Group, both the sales
volume and profit margins of stainless steel products and Ni-Cr alloy
steel ingot continued to be low during the year as a result of over-
supply under the intense competition on steel products market in the
PRC. In addition, due to the Export Ban and the continuous weak
demand in the iron and steel market in the PRC, the production plant
of our Yongtong Special Steel Company Limited suspended
production during February 2015 to July 2015 and September 2015
to February 2016. This led to the substantial low production level and
sales volume in 2015 since the Company listed in Hong Kong in
2005. Since early March 2016, the Group’s special steel-making
operation has been resumed gradually upon the successfully
obtaining the new sales order in the PRC.

Annual Report 2015

MABRENKERFHASREL BHERE
BRI TR % - B E A A ERARM T EE
B RETKERLE -

EBRBRR

BEER XK
AEBEBBREBEHZRABEEBHEEBA
BONHEERAEE  YEAER-_TZAFFR
FBpAFE=DHERO -  ARTREFMHTERA
Y BHESEBRBEBRFHERMORTEE
MRS RAAEER

Am - EHORER  AKRENBELEZEHBC
EiE  ZMEHAAREESHEYARE M
MEERERREXARTE -

|

HEMHEBRERI A e AMER - BETRFRE
O ZE KR AR REUH

EERICEEEMEEERNTR  BRETRR
B 7y (A E - AERENE AR o

SRR

MASENRFHREERMS  THHERDRE
5 A @ 5T HE Ros M R R FAHERIEM
REZPBMEERTSHRFHZ - HERF -
A - A AZE R RS IS0 ESKHE
B BPHKBEHERAFNEERERZ
E—AF-_AEZT—RAFLtARZZE—AFN
BE-_ZT—XE_AHMEELAE - EEH T
—HIFNESERHEEREZEEARARRAR_ZETRF
EEALLMEZBER BT —XF=HUHA
9 BRI RREERTER  AEEZ
HNAEERC RS IMELEE -

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 15



Management Discussion and Analysis

THEMWRES

While we expect that the keen competition in the PRC’s steel market
will continue in 2016, the demand for steel products will gradually
pick up. The Group is actively developing new high value-added
special steel products and identifying PRC and overseas markets with
growth potentials to strengthen our product portfolio and reduce
market concentration risk.

In view of the keen competition environment facing by the Group’s
special steel-making operations, the Directors have reviewed the
recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment and prepaid
land lease payments in the Group’s plants in Zhengzhou and no
further impairment loss was made in 2015.

Financing Arrangement

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$2,936.2 million. The Group has been actively
negotiating with PRC and overseas banks and institutional investors
for new borrowings and renewal of existing borrowings when they fall
due. During the year, the Group had successfully obtained bank and
other borrowings of HK$412.2 million to finance our operation and for
repayment of our borrowings when they fall due.

In addition, based on the framework agreement with a potential
investor for the disposal of 30% equity interest of SEAM, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, the aggregate consideration will be
approximately US$150 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1.1
billion). The transaction is still in progress due to the rapid change in
operating and regulatory environment of our subsidiary, and the
potential investor needs more time for conducting due diligence work.

Event of Default and Cross-Default

Bonds

Since December of 2014 and subsequent to the year end, the Group
had continuous default in payment of due interest and principal under
the terms and conditions of the bonds, the default may trigger a
cross-default in accordance with respective terms and conditions of
the bonds. In such an event, DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, in its
respective capacities as trustee for the holders of the bonds is entitled
to, amongst other things, accelerate the Company’s obligations
under the bonds and declare the outstanding principal amounts of
the bonds to be immediately due and payable, together with
outstanding interest and all other sums payable. As at the date of this
report, DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited has not made any demand
for immediate repayment of the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds, the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds or the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds. As
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at the date of this report, (i) the principal amount of the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds of HK$390,990,000 and the accrued interest of
HK$76,920,000 are outstanding; (i) the principal amount of the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds of HK$117,525,000 and the accrued
interest of HK$16,047,000 are outstanding; and (iii) the principal
amount of the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds of HK$28,400,000 and
the accrued interest of HK$5,377,000 are outstanding.

Bank Loans

CITIC Loan

Under the terms and conditions of the bank loan from China CITIC
Bank International Limited (“CITIC Bank”) to the Company (the “CITIC
Loan”), payment of the interest in respect of one of the CITIC Loan in
the amount of US$96,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$745,000)
has fallen due and was payable on 12 January 2015. The Company
did not repay the above interest. On 14 January 2015, the Company
received a demand letter from the CITIC Bank demanding settlement
of all the outstanding principal amount of US$25,616,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$198,587,000) together with accrued interests,
other charges and any amount due to the CITIC Bank (“Full
Qutstanding Amount of CITIC Loan”) thereon in full on or before 22
January 2015. Since the Company did not repay the Full Outstanding
Amount of CITIC Loan by 22 January 2015, the CITIC Bank is entitled
to lodge their claims against the covering standby letters of credit
issued by China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited, as a security of the
CITIC Loan.

Under the terms and conditions of the CITIC Bank, the principal in the
amount of US$12,516,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$97,030,000) has fallen due and was payable on 6 July 2015.
Since the Company did not repay the above principal, on 6 July
2015, the CITIC Bank lodged and has completed its claims against
the covering standby letter of credit issued by China CITIC Bank
Corporation Limited, as a security of the CITIC Loan fully backed up
by the pledged deposit of the Group, for the outstanding principal
amount of US$12,516,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$97,030,000) together with accrued interests, other charges and
any amount due to the CITIC Bank thereon in fulll.

Under the terms and conditions of the CITIC Bank, the principal in the
amount of US$8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$62,000,000) has fallen due and was payable on 24 October
2015. Since the Company did not repay the above principal, on 11
November 2015, the CITIC Bank lodged and has completed its
claims against the covering standby letter of credit issued by China
CITIC Bank Corporation Limited, as a security of the CITIC Loan fully
backed up by the pledged deposit of the Group, for the outstanding
principal amount of US$8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$62,000,000) together with accrued interests, other charges and
any amount due to the CITIC Bank thereon in full.
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Under the terms and conditions of the CITIC Bank, the remaining
outstanding principal in the amount of US$3,100,000 and
US$2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$24,028,000 and
HK$15,502,000 respectively) have fallen due and were payable on 11
March 2016 and 14 March 2016 respectively. Since the Company did
not repay the remaining outstanding principal, on 18 March 2016, the
CITIC Bank completed its claims against the pledged deposit of the
Group, for the remaining outstanding principal amount of
US$5,100,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,530,000) together
with accrued interests, other charges and any amount due to the
CITIC Bank thereon in full.

Up to the date of this report, CITIC Bank has confirmed that all the
remaining outstanding principal together with accrued interests, other
charges and any amount due to the CITIC Bank thereon have been
settled.

SCB Loan

Under the terms and conditions of the bank loan facility letters from
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited (the “SCB”) to the Company (the
“SCB Loan”), payment of the interest in respect of one of the SCB
Loan in the amount of US$100,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$775,000) has fallen due and was payable on 12 January 2015.
The Company did not to repay the above interest.

On 14 January 2015, the Company received a demand letter from
the SCB demanding settlement of all the outstanding principal
amount of US$15,650,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$121,386,000) together with accrued interests, other charges and
any amount due to the SCB (“Full Outstanding Amount of SCB Loan”)
thereon in full on or before 22 January 2015. Otherwise the SCB
would be entitled to lodge their claims against the covering standby
letters of credit issued by Bank of Jiangsu Company Limited, as a
security of the SCB Loan.

The Company did not repay SCB the Full Outstanding Amount of
SCB Loan by 22 January 2015. As a result, on 26 January 2015, the
SCB lodged and has completed its claims against the securities, and
the Full Outstanding Amount of SCB Loan has been fully offset by the
pledged deposit of the Group.

SPD Loan

On 26 January 2015, the Company received a demand letter from
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd. (“SPD”) in relation to
the bank loan facility and interest rate swap facility granted to the
Company by SPD.
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On 5 February 2015, the Company did not repay SPD all the
outstanding principal, accrued interests and the break funding cost
due by the Company to SPD (“Full Outstanding Amount of SPD
Loan”). As a result, the SPD lodged and has completed its claims for
the Full Outstanding Amount of SPD Loan against the securities, that
is, the irrevocable and unconditional letters of guarantee issued by
the SPD Zhengzhou Branch fully backed up by the pledged deposit
of the Group. The Full Outstanding Amount of SPD Loan has been
fully offset by the pledged deposit of the Group.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Syndicated loans in PRC

In January 2016, the Group obtained a syndicated loan from a
syndicate of banks in the PRC (i) to replace certain outstanding bank
loans and notes payable of the Group as at 31 December 2015 to the
extent of HK$320,625,000 and HK$95,175,000 respectively with a
3-year loan of the same amount; and (i) to provide additional loan
facilities to the Group as working capital for an amount of
approximately RMB150 million (the “New Facilities”) for a 3-year term.
Up to the date of this report, approximately RMB30 million of the New
Facilities have been drawn down.

Subscription agreement

On 5 March 2016, the Company and a potential investor (the
“Potential Investor” or “Subscriber”) entered into a share subscription
agreement that the Subscriber agreed to subscribe for a total of
1,465,898,410 new ordinary shares of the Company at a subscription
price of approximately HK$0.1876 per share (the “Subscription
Shares”), totalling approximately HK$275 million (the “Subscription”),
subject to certain conditions precedent which, among others, include
the following:

° approval from the Company’s shareholders, or independent
shareholders when appropriate, for (i) allotment and issuance of
the Subscription Shares; (ii) a Whitewash Waiver; and (i) a
Special Deal (as defined hereunder), at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company (‘EGM”);

o a Whitewash Waiver being granted by The Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”) in respect of any
obligation of the Subscriber and parties acting in concert with it
to make a mandatory general offer for all the issued shares and
other relevant securities of the Company not already owned (or
agreed to be acquired) by the Subscriber and parties acting in
concert with it which might otherwise arise as a result of the
Subscription;

° the consent from the SFC for repayment to any creditor who is
a shareholder of the Company using the proceeds from the
Subscription under a proposed debt restructuring as mentioned
below (the “Special Deal”);
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approval of resumption of trading of the Company’s shares,
and listing of the Subscription Shares from the Stock Exchange;
and

completion of a debt restructuring by the Company in
accordance with Section 673 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Debt
Restructuring Proposal”). The debt restructuring refers to a plan
for restructuring of the indebtedness of the Company which
involves, among other things: (i) the reduction and cancellation
of the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds by at least
80%; (i) the reduction and cancellation of all the outstanding
interests of the Bonds; (iii) the release and discharge of all
security collateral provided in relation to the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds and the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds; and (iv)
the reduction of and cancellation of all other indebtedness and
contingent liabilities of the Company as referred to in the Debt
Restructuring Proposal, by at least 80%.

Financial advisor and debt restructuring scheme advisor have been
appointed by the Company to facilitate the Subscription and Debt
Restructuring Proposal.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover and sales volume

Major products of the Group were stainless steel products, Ni-Cr
alloy steel ingot, ferro-nickel alloys and limonitic ores. The table below
sets out the turnover and sales volume of our products for the years
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Turnover =0
For the year ended 31 December
BHE+-A=1+—HLEE
2015 2014
—E-HE —Z—OF
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
FHET % FHIT %
Mineral Resources: BTYMER :
Limonitic ores R - % 52,111 16%
Iron and Special Steel Products: & R4S MHm ¢
Stainless steel products 5 2E o 10,543 27% 171,913 51%
Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot RiEe e REM
and others 19,097 50% 62,044 18%
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot 1R85 S MiE 9,057 23% 50,335 15%
Total st 38,697 100% 336,403 100%
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Sales volume

For the year ended 31 December

BEt+-HA=1+—HLEE

2015 2014
—E-RF —E-mEF
(tonnes) % (tonnes) %
(AWgE) % Ny %
Mineral Resources: BYER :
Limonitic ores B TR - % 142,125 75%
Iron and Special Steel Products: & 458085
Stainless steel products TEE S 1,662 18% 24,355 13%
Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot REA S REAM
and others 6,258 66% 15,179 8%
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot IRE8 G S T 1,475 16% 8,849 4%
Total et 9,395 100% 190,508 100%

The Group’s ore trading business, which was the key revenue and
cash flows contributor of the Group in 2014, was suspended for the
entire year of 2015 due to the Export Ban. Pursuant to the Export
Ban, unprocessed iron ore export from Yiwan to our Group has been
suspended from 12 January 2014 onwards. Therefore the Group’
turnover recorded a significant decrease by HK$297.7 million, or
88.5%, to approximately HK$38.7 million (2014: HK$336.4 million). It
is possible that the relevant mining regulations in Indonesia may be
amended but there is no guarantee that the Export Ban will be
uplifted in near future.

In 2015, the sales of iron and special steel products, in aggregate,
recorded a decrease of HK$245.6 million or 86.4% to HK$38.7
million (2014: HK$284.3 million). Due to weak demand and intense
competition in the PRC, the sales volume of our iron and special steel
products shrank significantly.

In 2015, the Group’s sales volume of stainless steel products
decreased by approximately 22,693 tonnes or 93.2% to 1,662 tonnes
(2014: 24,355 tonnes), of Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot and others
decreased by approximately 8,921 tonnes or 58.8% to 6,258 tonnes
(2014: 15,179 tonnes), and of Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot decreased by
approximately 7,374 tonnes or 83.3% to 1,475 tonnes (2014: 8,849
tonnes).

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s average

selling prices per tonne for stainless steel products, Ferro-nickel alloy
steel ingot and others and Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot were HK$6,344
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(2014: HK$7,059), HK3,076 (2014: HK$4,101) and HK$6,140 (2014:
HK$5,688) respectively.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales in 2015 decreased by HK$378.1 million, or 75.3%,
to approximately HK$123.8 million (2014: HK$501.9 million). The
decrease in cost of sales was mainly due to decrease in sales despite
the significant provision for impairment losses of inventories in current
year.

The unit costs of sales in 2015 for stainless steel products, Ferro-
nickel alloy steel ingot and others and Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot were
HK$5,710 (2014: HK$8,470), HK$4,099 (2014: HK$6,278) and
HK$6,112 (2014: HK$14,183) per tonne respectively.

Gross loss

The Group’s recorded the gross loss amounted to HK$85.1 million in
2015 (2014: HK$165.5 million). The gross loss margin in 2015 was
220.0% (2014: 49.2%). If the provision for impairment losses of
inventories in both years are excluded, the gross loss margin in 2015
would be 14.1% which was improved from that of 43.4% in 2014.
Due to the weak demand in steel market, the gross margin remained
negative in current year.

Other gains, net

Other gains, net in 2015 were HK$50.3 million (2014: HK$18.9
million). The increase was mainly due to the gain on fair value of
derivative financial instruments, foreign exchange and disposal of
property, plant and equipment in 2015.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses in 2015 decreased by HK$7.4
million, or 74.3%, to HK$2.6 million (2014: HK$10.0 million),
representing 6.7% of turnover (2014: 3.0%). Decrease in selling and
distribution expenses was mainly due to the decrease in sales.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses in 2015 increased by HK$14.3 million, or
8.1%, to HK$191.3 million (2014: HK$177.0 million), representing
494.4% of turnover (2014: 52.6%). The increase in administrative
expenses was mainly because certain factory overhead costs, which
used to be part of cost of sales in 2014, was accounted for as
administrative cost in 2015 due to certain suspension periods of
production in current year.
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Finance income

Finance income decreased by HK$137.0 million, or 94.4% to HK$8.1
million (2014: HK$145.1 million). Finance income decreased was
mainly due to gain on restructure of convertible bonds and senior
bonds in 2014 but not in 2015.

Finance costs

Finance costs in 2015 decreased by HK$108.0 million, or 19.3% to
HK$451.3 million (2014: HK$559.3 million). It was because of
continuous default on bonds and other borrowings in 2015 and
acceleration of unwinding interest on bonds in 2014 but not in 2015.

Other expenses

Other expenses in 2015 increased by HK$74.2 million, or 201.8%, to
HK$110.9 million (2014: HK$36.7 million). The increase was mainly
due to increased provision for claims and disputes in 2015.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment

In 2015, the Group recorded an impairment loss on its property, plant
and equipment totalling HK$440.4 million (2014: HK$597.4 million).
Details of the background of the impairment were discussed above.

Loss before tax

As a result of the factors discussed above, the loss before tax for the
year ended 31 December 2015 was HK$1,223.2 million (2014:
HK$1,465.4 million). The Group’s loss before tax margin was
3,161.0% (2014: 435.6%). The loss before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (LBITDA) margin was 631.2% (2014: 97.8%).

Income tax (expense)/credit

The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company and its
subsidiaries which operate in Hong Kong is 16.5% based on existing
legislation. The entities within the Group which operate in the PRC,
Singapore and Indonesia are subject to corporate income tax at rates
of 10% to 25% for the year ended 31 December 2015. The decrease
in income tax credit of HK$12.3 million or 110.2% to tax expense of
HK$1.1 million (2014: tax credit of HK$11.2 million) was mainly
because in 2014 there was reversal of over-provision in prior years.

Loss for the year and loss attributable to shareholders
As a result of the factors discussed above, the Group’s 2015 loss for
the year was HK$1,224.4 million (2014: HK$1,454.2 million) and the
2015 loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was
HK$1,222.9 million (2014: HK$1,453.1 million).
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Key financial ratios FEBKLER
For the year ended
31 December
BEt+t-A=t+—-HLEE
Notes 2015 2014
By 5x —E-hfF — T
Current ratio B & 1 17% 40%
Inventory turnover days FEHEEHE 2 673 days H 223 days H
Debtor turnover days = 3 68 days H 25 days H
Creditor turnover days FE B A EE A8 4 1,039 days H 670 days H
Interest cover BT S G 5 -1.8 times 1 —2.5 times f&
Interest-bearing gearing ratio FFEERAELE 6 953% 174%
Debt to LBITDA ratio BEMLBITDA L X 7 -9.0 times f& ~7.3 times f&
Net debt/Capital and net debt ratio FaG / EAREFEA G R 8 93% 67%
Notes: B 5
1. Current assets/Current liabilities x 100% 1. TEVEE B EE x 100%
) Inventories o ) TE 365 2
. . X
Cost of sales * e SHE A
Trade and notes receivables EUERSR R EN R &
3. x 365 days 3. - x 365 H
Turnover e
Trade and notes payables RS R ENRE
4. x 365 days 4, - x 365 H
Cost of sales SHE AR
5 Loss before interest and tax 5 BRI S R IER SR
Net interest expense FEFAZ FE
Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings FERERLAEMEE
6. (including convertible bonds) 6. (BIETHRERES) x 100%
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent x 100% BRAEA ARG

Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings (including convertible bonds) HEBEZLREMEES (BB ES)

7 7
LBITDA LBITDA
Net debt* (= s
8. x 100% 8. REEE X 100%
Capital and net debt AR B fEFRE

Net debt included bank and other borrowings, convertible bonds (the liability
component), trade and notes payables and other payables and accruals less cash
and cash equivalents, pledged time deposits and restricted cash.

: EEFEBRRTERREMER  JRRES (AED
)~ FERTBRR N A SR 4B K A R R K B A B 0
BAEEREEEY  CERTHERRERGRSL -

M BERSE
R-ZZ—AF+-_A=Z+—HBHZWE BEE&
HEZRREBEMESE EFREEIR - 5@
5585 BB ABIILHAT.4% E619.5F BB
TT(ZZE—MF 117808 &8 7L) T EHZER
FRMEEANVAGEB LI EVE BE &K
BREA404 B BB -

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2015 mainly
comprised plant and machinery, buildings and construction in
progress. The decrease in balance by HK$558.5 million or 47.4% to
HK$619.5 million (2014: HK$1,178.0 million) was mainly due to the
depreciation charges for the year of HK$90.4 million and impairment
of property, plant and equipment of HK$440.4 million.
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Intangible asset
The intangible asset solely represents the unamortised amount of the
EOA from Yiwan secured by the Group in May 2007.

Inventories

The inventory turnover days increased from 223 days in 2014 to 673
days in 2015. As at 31 December 2015, inventories balance
decreased by HK$78.6 million, or 25.6%, to HK$228.4 million (2014:
HK$307.0 million). Decrease in inventory balance was mainly due to
the significant provision for impairment losses in inventories.

Trade and notes receivables

The debtor turnover days increased from 25 days in 2014 to 68 days
in 2015. As at 31 December 2015, trade and notes receivables
balance decreased by HK$16.0 million, or 69.0%, to HK$7.2 million
(2014: HK$23.2 million) mainly due to decrease in sales.

Prepayments and other receivables

As at 31 December 2015, prepayments and other receivables
balance decreased by HK$39.3 million, or 15.4%, to HK$215.3
million (2014: HK$254.6 million).

Cash and cash equivalents, pledged time deposits and
restricted cash

The aggregate amount of cash and cash equivalents, pledged time
deposits and restricted cash decreased by approximately HK$874.4
million, or 85.8%, to HK$144.4 million as at 31 December 2015
(2014: HK$1,018.8 million). The decrease in the balance was mainly
due to cash used in operation and repayment of the bank and other
borrowings.

Trade and notes payables

The creditor turnover days increased from 670 days in 2014 to 1,039
days in 2015. As at 31 December 2015, trade and notes payables
balance decreased by HK$569.2 million, or 61.7%, to HK$352.6
million (2014: HK$921.8 million). The decrease in trade and notes
payables balance was the net result in decreased purchase and delay
in settlement of payables by the Group in 2015 resulting the increase
in creditor turnover days. The trade payables are unsecured, interest-
free and are normally settled on terms of 60 to 180 days while the
bank bills are generally on terms of 90 to 180 days.

Convertible bonds

Decrease in the convertible bonds from HK$143.9 million as at 31
December 2014 to HK$117.5 million as at 31 December 2015 was
solely due to conversion of the convertible bonds during the year.
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Bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2015, total bank and other borrowings balance
decreased by HK$190.1 million, or 8.4%, to HK$2,083.4 million
(2014: HK$2,273.5 million). Decrease in the bank and other
borrowings was mainly due to repayment of loans in default upon
demand.

Liquidity, going concern and capital resources

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group incurred a loss
of approximately HK$1,224.4 million and had a net operating cash
outflow of approximately HK$650.2 million. As at 31 December 2015,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$2,936.2 million. Its total bank and other borrowings amounted to
HK$2,083.4 million will be due within 12 months. The cash and cash
equivalents of the Group amounted to HK$14.3 million as at 31
December 2015.

Following the Export Ban which has substantially affected the cash
generating ability from operations of the Group, working capital of the
Group may further be affected and may have foreseeable financial
difficulties in the coming 12 months’ period.

However, a series of remedial measures to mitigate the liquidity
pressure were taken in 2015 to improve its financial and liquidity
position of the Group, details of which are set out in the Board’s
consideration — Mitigation measures to going concern issue of this
report. Please also refer to the details regarding uncertainties on the
going concern of the Group as stipulated in the section headed
“Going concern” in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s working capital has been principally sourced from cash
generated from operations and from long-term and short-term
borrowings. The Group also utilised advances received from our
customers to finance part of our working capital requirements. As at
31 December 2015, the advances from customers amounted to
HK$127.3 million.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had current liabilities of
HK$3,531.4 million, of which HK$2,083.4 million were bank and other
borrowings repayable within one year and HK$902.2 million were
other payables and accruals.
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Foreign currency risk

Since 2004, the Group has begun the purchase of iron ore from
overseas suppliers. The Group’s purchase and sales contracts of ore
trading business are principally denominated in United States dollar
(“USD”) and purchase and sales of iron and special steel products are
mainly denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”). As at 31 December 2015,
the bonds were denominated in Hong Kong dollar (‘HK$”) while bank
and other borrowings were mainly denominated in RMB, HK$ and
USD, and other assets and liabilities of the Group are mainly
denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not enter into any hedging
transactions to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currency as
the Directors considered the Group had no significant foreign
currency risk. However, the Group will closely monitor the foreign
currency risk and consider using necessary financial instruments for
hedging purposes if they foresee the foreign currency risk is
significant.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong, aged 64, was appointed as Director of the
Company on 16 March 2004 and is currently an Executive Director,
the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He is responsible for formulating the
Group’s overall business plans and strategies. Mr. Dong is the
founder of the Group. He has been the Director of Yongtong Special
Steel, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and a
number of subsidiaries of the Company since 1993. He was involved
in the management and day-to-day operations on a full time basis.
He served as the vice manager and senior economics and technology
consultant of Ministry of Metallurgical Industry Metallurgy News
Information Development Company (& & T 2 58/5 & it 1= 5 59 3%
73 ®])in 1989. Formerly, the said company was the Ministry’s
department responsible for news and major reports about the
metallurgical industry. Mr. Dong was also appointed as the director of
Synthesis Department of the World Metallurgical Products Exhibition
in 1990. The said organization was primarily involved in the activities
relating to exhibitions of metallurgical products. In 1992, he was
appointed as the general manager of Henan Sanen Industry Sci-Tech
Industrial Company (7] F = B T2 &HE F % /A F)). The said company
was primarily involved in research and development of industrial
technologies. Between October 1984 and April 2004, the business of
refractory materials factory, a factory principally involved in production
and management of refractory materials, was contracted out to and
managed by Mr. Dong. He was both the plant manager and the sole
legal representative of the refractory materials factory from 1984 to
2004. He has also served as a part-time associate professor in the
field of economics at Wuhan University of Science and Technology
since 2002. He graduated from the Metallurgy Department of Wuhan
Iron and Steel College in 1989. He received his Trade and Economics
Degree from Graduate School of the Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences in 2000 too. During the years from 1985 to 1994, he has
been honoured many times by various PRC government authorities
for his outstanding achievement in advancement of technology. He
has also been awarded the “Award for Achievement in Development
of the World Patented Technologies” for his outstanding contribution
to the area of patented technologies. In addition, he won a gold
medal from Hong Kong Organising Committee of the International
Patent Technology Expo for his project of condenser type
bicomponent nozzle in 2001, and was named “The World’s
Qutstanding Chinese Entrepreneur” by the World Chinese
Entrepreneur Association in 2004. Moreover, he was appointed as a
member of Zhengzhou Overseas Exchange Association, and was
elected as a joint-committee member as well as the member
representative of Zhengzhou Enterprises Association in 2003. In
2004, he was appointed as a representative of the Zhengzhou’s
Twelfth National People’s Congress. Mr. Dong was awarded one of
the Hundred Outstanding People of the Year in Industrial Economics
by the People of the Year in China’s Industrial Economics Award’s
Organising Committee in April 2005. Mr. Dong also published two
books, {FTAE M & 12 — F5 &% )%2 17K ) (What's behind the
New Economy — The Emergence of Spiritual Economy) in 2001 and
OB B E A B 48 & A ) (Spiritual Value and the Transformation
of the Chinese Economy) in 2002.
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Mr. Dong is the father of Mr. Dong Chengzhe, an Executive Director
of the Company. He is also the sole shareholder and sole director of
Easyman Assets Management Limited (“Easyman”), and the
substantial and controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Wang Ping, aged 60, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 10 October 2014. Mr. Wang joined the Company as
deputy chief executive officer of the Company on 1 September 2014.
Mr. Wang graduated from the University of Science and Technology
Beijing with a doctor degree in 1991 and possessed certain
technology patents related to metallurgy of iron and steel. Mr. Wang
possesses over 23 years of experience in metallurgy of iron and steel.

Mr. Wang has held positions in various organisations, including being
associate professor and professor of Ministry of Metallurgical Industry
and commissioner of scientific research of University of Science and
Technology Beijing from 1992 to 2000. From 2000 to 2004, Mr Wang
was the general manager of Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. From
2004 to 2006, Mr. Wang was the general manager of Shenyang Toyo
Steel Company Limited and from 2007 to 2014, as the chief engineer
and deputy chief executive officer of the metallurgy division under
Hanking Industrial Group Co., Ltd. From 2013 to 2014, Mr. Wang
acted as the executive director and chief executive officer of PT.
Karyatama Kona Utara, PT. Konutara Prima and PT. Konutara Sejati,
companies incorporated in Indonesia and are the subsidiaries of
China Hanking Holdings Limited (stock code: 03788) whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange, and was responsible for their
overall management and daily operation.

From 2009 to 2013, Mr. Wang was also an non-executive director of
Shandong Molong Petroleum Machinery Company Limited (stock
code: 002490), which shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Dong Chengzhe, aged 37, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 12 March 2007 and was also appointed
as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He graduated from
Wuhan University of Science and Technology with a Diploma in
International Trade. He also obtained a Bachelor Degree in
Accountancy from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology and a
Master Degree of International Finance from Deakin University in
Australia. He joined the Group in 2007 and was responsible the
finance and international trading activities of Yongtong Special Steel,
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He was the
general manager of Yongtong Special Steel, and also the director and
general manager of CNR Group Holdings Pte. Ltd., an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Prior to joining the Group,
he was an owner of an international trading company in Australia. He
is the son of Mr. Dong Shutong, Executive Director, Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and the substantial and controlling shareholder of
the Company.
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Mr. Song Wenzhou, aged 47, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005 and is responsible for the
Group’s administrative, marketing and staff development matters.
Prior to joining the Group in July 1995, he had been a teacher at the
Zhengzhou Institute of Technology. He graduated from Beijing Open
University in 1987 with a Bachelor Degree in Linguistics and
Phonetics. He also received his Bachelor Degree in Chinese
Language and Literature from Henan Normal University in 1992 and
Bachelor Degree in Legal Studies from Central Broadcast and
Television University in 2003. Since joining the Group in 1995 until
February 2004, Mr. Song was also responsible for the administrative
matters at the refractory materials factory.

Mr. Yang Fei, aged 38, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 30 August 2010 and was also appointed as
Authorised Representative of the Company on 1 August 2011. He
has joined the Company as the assistant to the Chairman of the
Company since 2006 and was also appointed as the Company
Secretary and Authorised Representative of the wholly owned
subsidiary, Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel Co., Ltd. Mr. Yang
was the manager of the Information Technology Department (October
2002 to August 2003) and the general manager of the Market
Development Department (August 2003 to August 2006) of China Life
— CMG Life Assurance Company Limited. Prior to joining China Life
— CMG Life Assurance Company Limited, Mr. Yang was the
assistant manager of the International Business Department of
Guangdong Branch, China Life Insurance Company Limited from
August 1998 to June 2001. Mr. Yang graduated with a Bachelor
Degree in Economics from Beijing University in June 1998 and a
Master of Science Degree in Economics from London School of
Economics and Political Science in June 2002.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Tianjun, aged 72, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He joined the Group in
2005. Mr. Yang worked in Ministry of Metallurgy Forty Company (/&
4 #F/ = A 7)) and then in Angang Steelwork (£ 5 5 8 i) for a
total of 14 years as a technician and then an engineer. He was the
Principal of University of Beijing Science and Technology for the
period from 1993 to July 2004, and has been a professor and mentor
of doctorate students of the Metallurgy Department of University of
Beijing Science and Technology until retirement in February 2015.
Since 1989, he was honoured with nine first-grade, second-grade or
third-grade State Scientific and Technological Progress Awards in
both national and provincial levels for his outstanding contributions to
the State by conducting scientific researches in metallurgical projects.
He was the Chairman of Sino-German Co-operative Research Project
studying the multi-purpose uses of niobium. He was invited by the
Research Institute of Industrial Science and Technology of Korea to
lead the research in air-refined coal spray in blast furnace, and
participated in a research with the Metallurgical Research Institute in
coal spray in blast furnace and the mathematical model. He published
over 70 academic papers locally or overseas and 6 books specialised
in metallurgy. He was appointed as the vice chairman of Chinese
Society of Metals in 2001 and a member of the Fifth Graduate
Committee of the State Council (BT £ % B€) in 20083.

Mr. Yang graduated in 1965 from the Metallurgical Department of
Beijing Iron and Steel College. He completed his postgraduate study
in 1981 and obtained a Master Degree in Metallurgy from the Beijing
Iron and Steel Institute. In 1985, he was granted scholarship from
Humboldt-University zu Berlin and conducted a joint research with
the RWTH-Aachen University in Germany, and was awarded a
Doctorate Degree in 1986.

Mr. Yang was the independent directors of Xinyu Iron & Steel Group
Co., Ltd. (Fr&rii i 5 B R 2 7)), Gansu Jiu Steel Group Hongxing
Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. (H 788 £ B 7= B i & i (5 B R 2 71) and
BGRIMM Magnetic Materials and Technology Co., Ltd. (1b#&#EH Ft
R AR A a]). Al of these companies are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. Mr. Yang resigned from the position of independent
directors of all these companies in December 2015.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Bai Baohua, aged 74, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. He has almost 46 years’
experience in the metallurgy. He worked as an engineer, a manager
and then the general manager of China Metallurgical Products’ Import
& Export Company (B )& & # ! 0 A 7)), a company primarily
involved in the trading of metals. He was also appointed as the
general manager of China International Steel Investment Company (#
B BB S $5 3% & A &]), a company primarily involved in promotion of
foreign investment in the steel industry in the PRC. In addition, he was
the general manager, the vice chairman and the legal representative
of China Iron and Steel Industry and Trade Group Corporation, a
company primarily involved in production and trade of steel. He
graduated from the Metal Pressure Processing Department at Beijing
Iron and Steel College in 1965.

Mr. Huang Changhuai, aged 80, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He worked
for a printing and dyeing mill as production supervisor, a political
director and then deputy director. He was appointed the deputy
director of the Municipal Economic System Reform Committee of
Zhengzhou Municipal Government, and as the director of the
Municipal Industrial and Communication Development Committee at
the Third Session of the Eighth People’s Congress of Zhengzhou City
in 1985. He was then appointed at the Twelfth Session of the Eighth
People’s Congress of Zhengzhou City as the director of the city’s
Economic Committee in 1986. He was also appointed the deputy
director of the Standing Committee of the People’s Congress of
Zhengzhou City. He graduated in September 1958 from Zhengzhou
Textile School.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung, FCCA, FCPA, ACMA, ACIS, aged 61, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
on 2 May 2005. He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. He joined the Company in May 2005. Mr. Wong
holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from University of
Adelaide in Australia. He is a Fellow Member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and CPA Australia. He is also an Associate
Member of both the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators and the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. Mr. Wong was an executive director, the deputy general
manager, group financial controller and company secretary of
Guangzhou Investment Company Limited (now known as Yuexiu
Property Company Limited) for over ten years. Mr. Wong has over 38
years of experience in finance, accounting and management.
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Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director and a
member of the audit committee of Asia Orient Holdings Limited, Asia
Standard International Group Limited, Century City International
Holdings Limited, China Shanshui Cement Group Limited, China Ting
Group Holdings Limited, ENM Holdings Limited, Fortunet
E-commerce Group Limited (formerly known as Changfeng Axle
(China) Company Limited), Golden Eagle Retail Group Limited,
Paliburg Holdings Limited, Regal Hotels International Holdings
Limited, TPV Technology Limited, Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Ngai Lik Industrial Holdings Limited) and
Zhuguang Holdings Group Company Limited, all of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange. He was formerly an independent non-
executive director of Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited
(formerly known as First Natural Foods Holdings Limited) (up to 21
November 2013) and PacMOS Technologies Holdings Limited (up to
30 June 2014).

Mr. Fahmi Idris, aged 72, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 24 August 2010. Mr. Idris
graduated with a Degree in Law from University of Padjadjaran in
2010 and a Degree in Economics from University of Indonesia in
1969. He is currently the Commissioner of Maskapai Asuransi
Parolamas (an insurance company), PT. Parama Bina Tani (an
agrochemical company), PT. Kodel Invesindo Nusa (a trading and
investment company), PT. Krama Yudha (an automotive company)
and the President Commissioner of PT. Permadani Khatulistiwa
Nusantara (a hotel and tourism company), PT. Permadani Propertindo
Development (a property company), PT. Tamarindo Nusa Hotel, PT.
Permadani Khatulistiwa Dewata (a hotel and tourism company) and
PT. Kodel (a trade and investment company). From 1981 to 1987, he
was the President Commissioner of PT. Encontrade Pratama
Indonesia (an engineering and construction of electrical and
mechanical installation company). From 1984 to 1987, he was the
Vice President Commissioner of PT. Wahana Muda Indonesia (a
construction and engineering firm). From 1986 to 1992, he was the
Commissioner of Bank Susila Bhakti. From 1987 to 1990, he was the
President of PT. Permadani Teleconsult Pratama. From 1987 to
2004, he was the President Director of PT. Niigata Santana (a diesel
engine and injection and moulding machine manufacturing company).
From 1991 to 2003, he was the President Commissioner of PT.
Bintara Tani Nusantara (a company engages in the plantation of palm
oil and cocoa). From 1991 to 1994, he was the Commissioner of PT.
Java Indonusa Motors and from 2000 to 2003, he was the President
Commissioner of PT. Kodel Margahayu Telindo.
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Mr. Idris is currently a member of the Board of Fund Supporters of
Andalas University, Padang, West Sumatera. From 1967 to 1968, he
was Member of People’s Consultative Assembly of the Republic of
Indonesia. From 1987 to 2004, he was a member of Parliament of the
Republic of Indonesia. From 1967 to 1968, he was the Treasurer of
the Indonesian Chambers of Commerce and Industry. From 1994 to
1998, he was the Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Council
Indonesian Chamber of Commerce and Industry. Mr. Idris was the
Minister of Manpower of the Republic of Indonesia from 1998 to 1999
and from 2004 to 2005, he was also the Ministry of Industry of the
Republic of Indonesia from 2005 to 2009.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Kwok Keung Sanvic, was appointed as the financial
controller and the company secretary of the Company with effect
from 3 June 2014. Mr. Choi, aged 48, is a qualified accountant and a
fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He has extensive experience in financial and auditing field, and has
experience in the position of the financial controller and the company
secretary in Hong Kong listed company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The primary duties of the audit
committee are to review the financial reporting process and internal
control procedures of the Group. The audit committee consists of
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi
Keung, Mr. Bai Baohua and Mr. Huang Changhuai. Mr. Wong Chi
Keung was elected chairman of the audit committee.

The audit committee’s specific terms of reference were posted on the
Company’s website.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and
trading of ore. The Group is principally engaged in the trading of ore
and the manufacture and sale of special steel products in the PRC.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion of the Group’s future business development are set out in
the Chairman’s Statement on pages 9 to 10 of this annual report.
Description of the possible risks and uncertainties facing by the
Group, the Group’s performance during the year and the key financial
ratios are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 12 to 27 of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue and loss for the year ended 31 December 2015
were primarily derived from manufacture and sale of special steel
products to customers. Accordingly, no segmental analysis by
business is presented for the year ended 31 December 2015.
Geographical information analysis is set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 72.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is
disclosed on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and of the Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share options
and convertible bonds during the year are set out in Notes 28, 30 and
27 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the latest practicable date
prior to the printing of this annual report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Convertible bonds

Save as disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Share options granted to directors and employees

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2015.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements and consolidated statement of changes in equity
set out on pages 76 to 77, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2015, the Company’s reserves, including the
share premium account, available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of Companies Law (2007 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$nil.

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account
and contributed surplus are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business. The share premium account may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHRES

The reserves of the Group available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purpose, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally be distributed by way of a dividend is determined by
reference to their profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC. These profits differ from
those that are reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
and to the largest customer accounted for 42% and 14% of the total
sales for the year respectively. Purchases from the Group’s five
largest suppliers and from the largest supplier accounted for 37%
and 22% of the total purchases for the year respectively.

Apart from the information as disclosed in the paragraphs headed
“CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” and “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS” in the Report
of the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their associates or
any shareholders of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and as at the date of the report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wang Ping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yin Sheping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 15 September 2015)

Mr. Dong Chengzhe (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Song Wenzhou

Mr. Yang Fei

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Tianjun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Bai Baohua

Mr. Huang Changhuai

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Fahmi Idris

Mr. Yin Sheping was resigned as executive Director and Deputy Chief

Executive Officer on 15 September 2016 in pursuit of his own career
development.
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Pursuant to article 87 of the Company’s article of association,
Mr. Dong Shutong, Mr. Wang Ping, Mr. Song Wenzhou and Mr.
Fahmi Idris will retire as Directors by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. All retiring Directors, being
eligible for re-election, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Company has received
annual confirmation of independence from Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr.
Huang Changhuai, Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr. Fahmi Idris and
considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management are set
out on pages 28 to 34 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has entered into a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

On 5 March 2007, SEAM, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the EOA with Yiwan, a limited company
incorporated in Indonesia and substantially owned by Mr. Soen Bin
Kuan, who at 31 December 2015 and the date of this report holds
more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company. Pursuant
to the EOA, Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell and SEAM agreed to buy
the iron ores produced by Yiwan at a fixed price of US$16 per dry
tonne, for a minimum 40 million dry tonnes of iron ores throughout a
period of approximately 14 years expiring on 24 January 2021, which
has subsequently been extended by a supplemental agreement to 24
January 2036. Pursuant to the recommendation letter issued by the
Minister of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of
Commerce which granted the export approval to Yiwan, the export
price of iron ore was changed to US$23.5 commencing from 1 July
2012. By virtue of the convertible bonds issued by Yiwan to S.E.A.
Mining Limited and S.E.A. Mining Resources Limited which are
indirectly substantially owned by Mr. Dong Shutong, Executive
Director and Chairman of the Board, Mr. Dong has an indirect interest
in the EOA. Further details of the transaction undertaken in
connection therewith are included in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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EFEHRES

Save for contracts amongst group companies and the
aforementioned transaction and in the paragraph headed
“CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” as set out on page 44 of this
annual report, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares (in respect of positions held
pursuant to equity derivatives) and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)) which (a) were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”), to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the shares of the Company as at
31 December 2015:

BREEQREAN N L3R5 MAFRSE 44 B
HIMERS] —BIN REEIFAEMEH
BEARREEN AR A KA MM B AR PET
VYREMEMEARS - RERAHTEENKME
EREEEAER -

EERKRG - HEAROREER ZEDS

TN
&/&E’.

REZZE—AF+-A=+—H EFNARAK
HRg AR (ExRLEFRBERN((EHREE
&1 ) XV EB) 2 B fn ~ B (BLREAREST
AETERBRNEAME) RERET  HEHE@R
BEASRBAEHEIEXVEETRESDEBENS
KRR MR 2 S RAR (BIERIEES R
ERA 2 BB SWEFS R IERE 2 Ex
KORB) + 8 (0) IR IR 75 5 R BRI 1615 58 352 1§48
BINAGZAGDI Pt & e it 2 S AR - 8 (0 1R
B ETARRMES10TE 2 E BT AESEITE
HFRGIEESTR([ZESFR D BHNE AR R
BTz RS AR ¢

() R=Z—HFE+=-A=+—8BRAEALT
BHRzFE -

Approximate
percentage to
the issued

Capacity in which interest Number of voting shares

Name of Directors are held shares of the Company

ERDTBRTH

ERERRHZ

EEpR HEERZEH kil =4 BABES

Dong Shutong Held by controlled corporations (note) 1,465,898,410 52.99%
=£8 B EERE ()

Dong Chengzhe Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05%

B EnlEAA
Note: As at 31 December 2015, 1,441,042,410 shares and 24,856,000 shares

were held by Easyman and Sino Regent Worldwide Limited (“Sino
Regent”), respectively. As the entire issued share capital of each of
Easyman and Sino Regent is held by Mr. Dong, Mr. Dong is deemed to
be beneficially interested in such Shares by virtue of the SFO.
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(i)

40

Long positions in the underlying shares (in respect
of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) of

(1)

REZZB-HF+ZA=1T—HRELF
HERG (RRERETETIABAEN

the Company as at 31 December 2015: BEMS)ZHR
Approximate
percentage to
Number of the issued
Capacity in which interest share options voting shares
Name of Directors are held (note) of the Company
HARARDEITH
BRERE EREERAZ
EEHR BEREEZ50 (B=E) BRNED
Dong Shutong Held by spouse 1,700,000 0.06%
EE£8 HEERE
Dong Chengzhe Beneficial owner 2,775,000 0.10%
E EmEEA
Song Wenzhou Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05%
RN EmEAA
Yang Fei Beneficial owner 2,775,000 0.10%
B EmAA
Note:  The share options are unlisted equity-settled options granted pursuant Miar : ZEEREABBAATINR_ZEZERFRA_-R

to the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 2 May 2005 and
expired on 2 May 2015. Upon exercise of the share options in
accordance with such share option scheme. Shares are issuable to the

option holder(s) who exercise(s) the rights.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (IN RESPECT OF
POSITIONS HELD PURSUANT TO EQUITY
DERIVATIVES) OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2015, shareholders (other than the interest
disclosed above in respect of the Director who is also a substantial
shareholder of the Company) who had interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares (in respect of positions held
pursuant to equity derivatives) of the Company which have been
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares (in
respect of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives)
of the Company as at 31 December 2015:

FERRRARQARD REBRS (FAR
ﬁﬂi%;ilﬂhﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ mE)F2E
SN

RIZ-AF+-A=t—8 BR(EELX
?ﬁﬁéﬂﬁqﬁ$ ATERRZEZMSELR) RA
NAE D KRR (AR BB EITAE T AR AR
REMS )T BAREEZ LB ERAIFEXVES
Fo2RFIDHZREEMARAWE - kLR
ARBREZESZ MR EEIIFEIBHEREAFE
ZERMAZERRRINT

R-B-HAF+ZA=+—-BREAQXTRH
EEERG (RRERETEIAKFENG
AEME)ZHAR:

Number of shares/

underlying shares
(in respect of
positions held

Approximate
percentage to
the issued

Capacity in which

Name of Shareholders interest are held

pursuant to equity
derivatives)

voting shares
of the Company

B3 EE R
(RIBEBRE AEXLATDETH
TETAEFEW EREERHZ
REHEE BEREZZS7 BREm=)&A BMOBE DL
Easyman Benefioial owner 1,441,042,410 52.09%
Soen Bin Kuan Beneficial owner 182,734,104 6.61%
TR Em#EA A
Sun Qiaodian (note 1) Beneficial owner 1,700,000 (note 2) 0.06%
S A IEERD) EnEEA (FF&E2)
Held by spouse 1,465,898,410 52.99%
R ERE
Notes: B 5E
1. Ms. Sun Qiaodian is the spouse of Mr. Dong Shutong, whose interest was 1. BROBLZETHEESBEEZERG  EXEmER —
disclosed in previous section. B o
2. The share option are unlisted equity-settled options granted pursuant to the 2. ZEEREABRBEARAN-_STRAFAA-_BRAL

Company’s share option scheme adopted on 2 May 2005 and expired on 2 May
2015. Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with such share option
scheme. Shares are issuable to the option holder(s) who exercise(s) the rights.
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Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, there
was no other person who, as at 31 December 2015, had an interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares (in respect of
positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) and debentures which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or
indirectly, beneficially interested in 5% or more of the issued voting
shares of the Company; or were, directly or indirectly, interested in
10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 2 May 2005, the
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of enabling the Company to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are valuable
to the Group and to provide the Company with a means of giving
incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing
benefits to such persons who contribute or may bring benefit to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme remained in force for a period of
10 years from adoption of such scheme and expired on 2 May 2015.
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The options granted under the Share Option Scheme have an
exercise period of 10 years from the date of acceptance of the
options, which is in compliance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme, subject to a vesting schedule of 5 years whereby only 20%
of the options is exercisable 12 months after the date of acceptance
of the options and an additional 20% of the options shall be
exercisable by the grantee in each subsequent year until the last day
of the 5-year period after the date of acceptance of the options when
100% of the options become exercisable. Details of movements in
the Company’s share options during the year are as follows:

RIFEBER 8 2165 RIEBEESTEIR 2
BRREZITERHZERBERES B e R+ F
WX AFRBEERMAR - BEI - £20% 2K
A RENEREE B 12@ABITE - MARA
AREREZ —FITRBEN0%ERE BEEH
BREEEMEMRAFH RE R AITES
FRREAIE - FARAIBIRE Z ZBFFIFMT

No. of share options

BREHE
Price of
Outstanding Outstanding Company’s
asat Granted Exercised Lapsed asat Exercise shares at
1 January during the during the during the 31 December price of  exercise date
2015 period period period 2015  share options of options
(note 1) (note 2)
R=B-1% R=2-1f FARARG
-fA-H t-A=1-H BREZ RERE
HARTR RERR RERTHR REREH R AT ik HEENRE
(k1) (MzE2)
HK$ HK$
Directors Bz
Mr. Dong Shutong EERLE 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) - 1.07 NATER
Mr. Dong Chengzhe BHSEE 1,275,000 - - - 1,275,000 1.91 N/ATER
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 0.63 NATER
Mr. Song Wenzhou RN A 1,020,000 - - (1,020,000) - 1.07 NATER
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 0.63 NATER
Mr. Yang Fei BREE 1,275,000 - - - 1,275,000 1.91 NATER
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 0.63 NATER
Sub-total for number of BYES ERE
share options to Directors HH /Nt 13,070,000 - - (6,020,000) 7,050,000 - -
Other employees AftES 11,900,000 - - (11900,000) - 1.07 NANER
7,545,000 - - (350,000) 7,195,000 245 NARER
26,300,000 - - - 26,300,000 0.63 NARER
Sub-total for number of share BYEMEEZ
options to other employees BIREZE it 45,745,000 - - (12,250,000) 33,495,000
Total @5t 58,815,000 - - (18,270,000) 40,545,000
Notes: Bt 5
1. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of 1. BBRRE 2 T E A e A AR S AT AR B A T A R AR AR 2

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.
2. The price of the shares of the Company as at the date of exercise of the share

options is the Stock Exchange’s closing price on the trading date immediately
prior to the date on which the share options were exercised.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the Share Option Scheme as set out in Note 30
to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2015 was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meetings of the Company held
on 28 January 2010 and 22 June 2012, the Company’s independent
shareholders approved the continuing connected transactions in
relation to the exclusive ores purchase from Yiwan. According to the
EOA and supplemental agreements entered into between Yiwan and
SEAM in connection with the purchasing of ore, Yiwan agreed to
supply ore to the Group until 24 January 2036. According to the EOA
and supplemental agreements, the prices for these continuing
connected transactions would be US$16 per dry tonne and
subsequently adjusted to the new export price (“New Export Price”)
pursuant to the recommendation letter issued by the Minister of
Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of Commerce of
Indonesia. Pursuant to the terms of the EOA, SEAM and Yiwan may
agree to alter the purchase price if being directed by the relevant
governmental authorities. Since the New Export Price is a price
directed by the relevant governmental authorities of Indonesia, SEAM
and Yiwan have agreed to adopt the New Export Price as the ore
purchase price commencing from 1 July 2012 under the EOA. These
transactions will be entered into in usual and ordinary course of
business of the Group and the annual cap for these transactions for
the years ended 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 will not exceed
HK$998.4 million, HK$1,248 million and HK$1,248 million,
respectively. After the Export Ban, the Group did not purchase any
ore from Yiwan during the year ended 31 December 2015.

During the year, certain related party transactions as set out in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements also constituted
continuing connected transactions or connected transactions under
the Listing Rules, and are required to be disclosed in this annual
report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, none of the related party transactions
constitutes a continuing connected transactions or connected
transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had any interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and officers arising from corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors and
officers throughout the year and remained in force up to the date of
this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the Group
are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit
committee are to review the financial reporting process and internal
control procedures of the Group.

The audit committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai
Baohua and Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company and Mr. Wong Chi Keung is the Chairman
of the audit committee.

The audit committee has reviewed with management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters including the
review of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2015.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 10 April 2006 in compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing rules (“CG Code”).

The remuneration committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr.
Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company and Mr. Dong Shutong — Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Huang Changhuai is the chairman of
the remuneration committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 30 December 2011 in
compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai
Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company and Mr. Dong Shutong — Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Dong Shutong is the chairman of the
nomination committee.

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had approximately 800
employees, of whom 30 were management personnel. The
remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees and
Executive Directors is based on their performance, qualifications,
competence displayed, market comparable and the performance of
the Group. Remuneration packages typically comprise salary, housing
allowances, discretionary bonus, other fringe benefits and the
Group’s contribution to retirement benefits schemes. The
remuneration of Executive Directors/senior management are
determined by the Remuneration Committee which will review them
regularly.
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EFEHREE

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retires and being eligible, offers
themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dong Shutong
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

30 March 2016
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The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving high
corporate governance standards to enhance corporate performance,
transparency and accountability, earning the confidence of
shareholders and the public. The Board strives to adhere to the
principles of corporate governance and adopt sound corporate
governance practices to meet the legal and commercial standards by
focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and
accountability to all shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December
2015 except for code provisions A.1.1, A.2.1 and A.4.1, details of
which are disclosed below. Save for deviation from code provisions
A.1.1, A.2.1 and A.4.1, in the opinion of the Board, the Company has
been in compliance with the CG Code in all material respects.

(A) THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is vested
in the Board. The Board takes responsibility to oversee all major
matters of the Company, including the formulation and approval
of all policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk
management systems, and monitoring of the performance of
the senior management. The Directors make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company. Currently, the Board
comprises 10 Directors, including 5 Executive Directors, 1 Non-
executive Director and 4 Independent Non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wang Ping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yin ShePing (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
(Resigned on 15 September 2015)

Mr. Dong Chengzhe (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Song Wenzhou

Mr. Yang Fei

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Tianjun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Bai Baohua

Mr. Huang Changhuai

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Fahmi Idris
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Their biographical details and relationships (some of the
Directors are related to each other) are set out in the section
entitled “Directors, Senior Management and Audit Committee”
in the annual report.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies and
management of the Group’s businesses to the Executive
Directors, senior management and certain specific
responsibilities to the Board committees.

Composition and Appointment

As at 31 December 2015, the Board comprises 10 Directors,
including five Executive Directors, 1 Non-executive Director and
4 Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the
Listing Rules of having three Independent Non-executive
Directors and one of the Independent Non-executive Directors
possesses the requisite appropriate professional qualifications.
The Board confirmed that the independence and eligibility of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are in compliance with
the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

Save that Mr. Dong Shutong and Mr. Dong Chengzhe are
father and son, the Directors confirmed that there was no
connection amongst the Directors that should be disclosed
relating to finance, business, relation or other significant events
or relevant matters.

The Board has effectively overseen and monitored the activities
of the Company and the decisions were made in the best
interests of the Company. During the year, the Board convened
a total of 6 meetings, performing its duties in considering, inter
alia, discloseable transactions and financial and other matters
under the provisions of the articles of association of the
Company. If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a
transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board, the
individual is required to declare such interest and to abstain
from voting. The matter is considered at a Board meeting
attended by Directors who have no material interest in the
transaction.
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During the year, 6 Board meetings, 2 of which were regular
meetings, were held and the attendance of each Director is set

out as follows:

Corporate Governance Report
TRERESE

Times of attendance/
No. of meetings held during

FR-EFQARNREE  HPMARAH
g BREFLFEERZBRHEIIMT :

Name of Directors the tenure of directorship Title

HERE, TRESHH™
B SEXE B
Dong Shutong 6/6 Chairman, Executive Director, Chief Executive
E 3] Officer

FEBITES - B

Wang Ping 1/6 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
¥ WMITES - BlAER
Yin Sheping* 1/6 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
FrL BITEE - BIEH
Dong Chengzhe 5/6 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
=W WITEE - BIEHR
Song Wenzhou 3/6 Executive Director
RS BITES
Yang Fei 6/6 Executive Director
EFi HITES
Yang Tianjun 5/6 Non-executive Director
BRE FHITES
Bai Baohua 4/6 Independent Non-executive Director
BRE BYIEMITES
Huang Changhuai 0/6 Independent Non-executive Director
=EE B IEMITES
Wong Chi Keung 6/6 Independent Non-executive Director
| BYIENTES
Fahmi Idris 0/6 Independent Non-executive Director
VEAK BUERITES

# Resigned on 15 September 2015
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Only 2 regular Board meetings were held as the Company does
not announce its quarterly results and hence not consider the
holding of quarterly meetings as necessary. This constitutes a
deviation from Code Provision A.1.1.

Under Code Provision A.4.1, Non-executive Directors should be
appointed for a specific term. Except for Mr. Fahmi Idris,
Independent Non-executive Director, who were appointed for a
term of three years, Mr. Yang Tianjun, Non-executive Director,
and the remaining Independent Non-executive Directors
including Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Wong
Chi Keung were not appointed for a specific term. This
constitutes a deviation from Code Provision A.4.1. However,
according to the articles of association of the Company, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting and the Directors to
retire by rotation shall be those who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment. As such, the
Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken
to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practice in
this respect is in line with that provided in the Code.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Executive Director, Mr. Dong Shutong, served as the
chairman and chief executive of the Company. The chairman is
responsible for overseeing the Company’s operations in respect
of compliance with both internal rules and statutory
requirements, and promoting the corporate governance of the
Company. The Company did not appoint another individual to
act as the chief executive for the year ended 31 December
2015 and up to the date of this report. This constitutes a
deviation from code provision A.2.1. The Board believes that it
is in the best interests of the Company and the shareholders as
a whole since Mr. Dong Shutong is knowledgeable in the
business of the Group and possesses the essential leadership
skills to guide discussions of the Board.

Important decision-making and the day-to-day management of
the Company are carried out by all of the Executive Directors.
Although the roles of the chairman and the chief executive of
the Company are not segregated, the functions of the chief
executive were carried out by all of the Executive Directors
collectively.

The Board considered that the Group’s prevailing structures
and systems met the code provisions in the CG Code. The
current practices will be reviewed and updated regularly to
follow the latest practices in corporate governance.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role in
the Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their
views carry significant weight in the Board’s decision. In
particular, they bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the
Company’s strategy, performance and control. All Independent
Non-executive Directors possess extensive academic,
professional and industry expertise and management
experience and have provided their professional advices to the
Board. The Board also considers that Independent Non-
executive Directors can provide independent advice on the
Company’s business strategy, results and management so that
all interests of shareholders can be taken into account, and the
interests of the Company and its shareholders can be
protected.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from each of the existing Independent Non-
executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

Training and Support for Directors

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
Each newly appointed Director would receive an induction
package covering the Group’s businesses and the statutory
and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The
Group also provides briefings and other training to develop and
refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills. The Group
continuously updates Directors on the latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices. Circulars
or guidance notes are issued to Directors and senior
management where appropriate, to ensure awareness of best
corporate governance practices.

During the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015,
the Directors have attended seminars and/or conferences and/
or forums relating to directors’ duties and/ or read newspapers,
journals and updates relating to the economy, general business
or directors’ duties etc.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers.
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Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors. Having made specific
enquiries, the Company has confirmed that all Directors have
compiled with the requirements set out in the Model Code.

Board Committees

The Board has established audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee (collectively “Board
Committees”) with defined terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Board Committees are posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors, and Mr. Wong Chi Keung serves as the
chairman of the audit committee. During the year, the audit
committee held 2 meetings on 31 August 2015. Mr. Huang
Changhuai was unable to attend the meetings due to other
business commitment. All other committee members attended
the meeting.

During the year, the audit committee had performed the
following work:

(1)  reviewed the financial reports for the year ended 31
December 2014 and for the six months ended 30 June
2015;

(2)  reviewed the effectiveness of internal control system;

(8) reviewed the external auditor’s statutory audit plan and
engagement letter;

(4)  reviewed the management letter from the external auditor
in relation to the audit of the Group for the year ended 31

December 2014;

(5) reviewed and recommended for approval by the Board
the 2015 audit scope and fees; and

(6) discussed the reappointment of external auditor.
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Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) reviewing the financial reporting process, internal control
system and the completeness of financial reports of the
Company;

(2) to be in charge of the appointment of external auditor,
auditing expenses and any matters regarding the
resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

(8) to review the independence of the external auditor;

(4)  to discuss with the external auditor on the nature and
scope of audit prior to the commencement of the auditing
procedures;

(5) to review the interim and annual financial statements. The
audit committee has reviewed the auditing performance,
the internal controls and the audited financial statements
of the Company; and

(6) to discuss the reappointment of external auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
on 10 April 2006 and comprises 1 Executive Director and 3
Independent Non-executive Directors. The members of the
remuneration committee are: Mr. Dong Shutong, Mr. Bai
Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Wong Chi Keung. Mr.
Huang Changhuai serves as the chairman of the remuneration
committee. During the year, the remuneration committee held 1
meeting on 31 August 2015. Mr. Huang Changhuai was unable
to attend the meeting due to other business commitment. All
other committee members attended the meeting to review the
performance and incentives of Executive Directors and terms of
employment of the management staff within the Group in 2015.

Responsibilities of the remuneration committee include:

(1) to make recommendation to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;
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(2) to have the delegated responsibility to determine the
specific remuneration packages of all Executive Directors
and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, and make recommendations to the
Board of the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.
The remuneration committee should consider factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration;

(8) to review and approve performance-based remuneration
by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved
by the Board from time to time;

(4) to review and approve the compensation payable to
Executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(5) to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct; and

(6)  to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee was established on 30 December
2011 and is chaired by Mr. Dong Shutong, an Executive
Director. Other members of the Committee are Mr. Bai Baohua,
Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Wong Chi Keung, who are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The nomination committee is responsible for formulating policy
and making recommendations to the Board on nominations,
appointment of Directors and Board succession. The committee
develops selection procedures for candidates, and will consider
different criteria including appropriate professional knowledge
and industry experience, as well as consult external recruitment
professionals when required. The committee also reviews the
size, structure and composition of the Board and assesses the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year, the remuneration committee held 1 meeting on
31 August 2015. Mr. Huang Changhuai was unable to attend
the meeting due to other business commitment. All other
committee members attended the meeting to review the
structure and composition of the Board and independence of
the Independent Non-executive Directors.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Choi Kwok Keung Sanvic, the Company Secretary of the
Company, is a full time employee of the Company and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. During the financial
year, the Company Secretary has duly complied with the
relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of Mr. Choi are set out on in the section
entitles “Directors, Senior Management and Audit Committee”
in this annual report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the Company’s system of internal
controls and its effectiveness. Such a system is designed to
manage the Company’s risks within an acceptable risk profile,
rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the policies
and business objectives of the Company. Accordingly, it can
only provide reasonable assurance but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement of management and financial
information and records or against financial losses or fraud. The
Board has established an on-going process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
Company and this process includes updating the system of
internal controls when there are changes to business
environment. During the year, the Board has conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control of
the Company and its principal subsidiaries with no material
issues noted. The Board is of the view that the system of
internal controls in place for the year under review and up to the
date of issuance of this annual report and the consolidated
financial statements is sufficient to safeguard the interests of
shareholders, creditors and employees, and the Company’s
assets. The management assists the Board in the
implementation of the Board’s policies and procedures on risk
and control by identifying and assessing the risks faced, and
involving in the design, operation and monitoring of suitable
internal controls to mitigate and control these risks.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that the key
areas of the Group’s internal control systems are reasonably
implemented and the Group has substantially complied with the
code provisions of the Former Code and the New Code (where
applicable) regarding internal control systems.
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Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities For the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements which give a
true and fair view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently. The statement of
the external auditor about the reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 66 to 71 of this annual report.

(i) Going Concern and Mitigation Measures

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
incurred a loss of approximately HK$1,224.4 million and
had a net operating cash outflow of approximately
HK$650.2 million due to the market downturn and
significant change in operating and regulatory
environment of the Group’s subsidiaries. As at 31
December 2015, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by HK$2,936.2 million. The Group’s
total borrowings amounted to HK$2,435.5 million, which
comprised bank and other borrowings, convertible bonds
and notes payables of HK$2,083.4 million (2014:
HK$2,273.5 million), HK$117.5 million (2014: HK$143.9
million) and HK$234.6 million (2014: HK$797.5 million),
respectively as at 31 December 2015. Cash and cash
equivalents increased to HK$14.3 million as at 31
December 2015 from HK$11.5 million as at 31 December
2014. In addition, the Company and a subsidiary are
parties to various legal claims as detailed in Note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.

These conditions together with others described in Note
2.1(a) to the consolidated financial statements, have
indicated the existence of material uncertainties which
might cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and therefore it might not be
able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.
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The Board has given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available
sources of financing in assessing whether the Group
would have sufficient financial resources to continue as a
going concern. Certain measures have been taken to
mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its financial
position which include, but not limited to, the following:

(1) In January 2016, the Group has successfully
obtained a 3-year syndicated loan of approximately
RMB498 million (equivalent to HK$594,840,000)
from a syndicate of banks in the PRC (i) to replace
certain outstanding bank loans and notes payable
of the Group as at 31 December 2015 to the extent
of HK$320,625,000 and HK$95,175,000,
respectively with the syndicated loan of the same
amount; and (i) to provide additional loan facilities to
the Group as working capital for an amount of
approximately RMB150 million (the “New Facilities”)
for a 3-year term. The syndicated loan is interest-
bearing at 5.225% per annum and is secured by
certain property, plant and equipment and prepaid
land lease payments of certain subsidiaries of the
Group. The Group is required to fulfill certain
undertakings and restrictive covenant requirements
under these syndicated loan facilities. Up to the
date of this report, approximately RMB30 million of
the New Facilities have been drawn down.

(2)  On 5 March 2016, the Company and a potential
investor (the “Potential Investor” or “Subscriber”)
entered into a share subscription agreement that
the Subscriber agreed to subscribe for a total of
1,465,898,410 new ordinary shares of the Company
at a subscription price of approximately HK$0.1876
per share (the “Subscription Shares”), with
proposed gross proceeds totalling approximately
HK$275 million (the “Subscription”), subject to
certain conditions precedent which, among others,
include the following:

o approval from the Company’s shareholders,
or independent shareholders when
appropriate, for (i) allotment and issuance of
the Subscription Shares; (ii) a Whitewash
Waiver; and (iii) a Special Deal (as defined
hereunder), at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company (“EGM”);
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a Whitewash Waiver being granted by The
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong (“SFC”) in respect of any obligation of
the Subscriber and parties acting in concert
with it to make a mandatory general offer in
cash for all the issued shares and other
relevant securities of the Company not already
owned (or agreed to be acquired) by the
Subscriber and parties acting in concert with
it which might otherwise arise as a result of
the Subscription;

the consent from the SFC for repayment to
any creditor who is a shareholder of the
Company using the proceeds from the
Subscription under a proposed debt
restructuring as mentioned below (the “Special
Deal”);

approval of resumption of trading of the
Company’s shares, and listing of the
Subscription Shares from the Stock
Exchange; and

completion of a debt restructuring by the
Company in accordance with Section
673 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Debt
Restructuring Proposal”). The debt
restructuring refers to a plan for restructuring
of the indebtedness of the Company which
involves, among other things: (i) the reduction
and cancellation of the outstanding principal
amount of the Bonds by at least 80%; (i) the
reduction and cancellation of all the
outstanding accrued interests of the Bonds;
(iii) the release and discharge of all security
collateral provided in relation to the 12%
Coupon Senior Bonds and the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds; and (iv) the reduction of
and cancellation of all other indebtedness and
contingent liabilities of the Company as
referred to in the Debt Restructuring Proposal,
by at least 80%.
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Financial advisor and debt restructuring scheme
advisor have been appointed by the Company to
facilitate the Subscription and Debt Restructuring
Proposal. The Subscription is not yet completed as
at the date of this report.

The Group has been actively negotiating with the
holders of the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds, the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds and Modified 10%
Coupon Bonds with carrying amounts of
HK$390,990,000, HK$117,525,000 and
HK$28,400,000, respectively at 31 December 2015
for the execution of the Debt Restructuring Proposal
as stated above. The Company is also actively
negotiating with other creditors of the Company for
the execution of the Debt Restructuring Proposal.

In relation to the bank loans and notes payables to
the extent of HK$157,853,000 and
HK$139,449,000, respectively not covered by the
syndicated loan as stated above, the following
measures have been taken by the Group:

° the USD secured bank loans of
HK$39,530,000 that became due as at 31
December 2015 when the Group failed to
make interest payment and notes payable of
HK$78,222,000 that were overdue as at and
after 31 December 2015 had been settled
mainly by utilising the Group’s pledged time
deposits of HK$39,270,000 and
HK$78,222,000, respectively during February
to March 2016;

° other unsecured bank loan of HK$52,675,000
was settled by the Group in February 2016,
which was financed by borrowings from a
related party of the Potential Investor of
RMB50 million obtained in January 2016;

° actively negotiating with a bank for the
extension of its RMB secured bank loans and
notes payable to the extent of HK$65,648,000
and HK$34,615,000, respectively for a term
of 3 years; and
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° actively negotiating with other relevant banks
for the remaining notes payables to the extent
of HK$26,612,000 on any possible refinancing
arrangements.

On 21 January 2013, the Group entered into a non-
binding framework agreement with Beijing
Wincapital Management Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Wincapital”) in relation to the disposal of a 30%
equity interest in S.E.A. Mineral Limited (“SEAM”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The
aggregate disposal consideration is expected to be
approximately US$150 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,170 million). The proposed
transaction is yet to complete and no formal sales
and purchase agreement has been entered into up
to the date of this report. Longer than expected
time was spent on negotiation of the detailed terms
and conditions because of the rapid change in
operating and regulatory environment of SEAM
since the framework agreement was signed.

In connection with the proposed disposal, Beijing
Wincapital arranged certain loan finance to the
Group in the aggregate amount of RMB700 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$836 million) as at
31 December 2015. Such borrowings can be
settled by offsetting against the disposal
consideration should the proposed disposal be
completed.

As at 31 December 2015, all of these loans were
overdue for repayments. Up to the date of this
report, the Group has not received any letter from
these lenders demanding for repayment of these
loans. Management is currently negotiating with the
relevant parties to formally extend the repayments
of these loans to facilitate the completion of the
proposed disposal. Management believes that with
bona fide intention for both parties, the proposed
disposal will be completed and the Group will be
able to offset all these borrowings against the
disposal consideration.
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Apart from the borrowings mentioned in (1) to (5)
above, the Group had other borrowings from certain
related parties of the Group, related parties of the
Potential Investor and other third parties of
HK$90,262,000, HK$189,676,000 and
HK$70,105,000, respectively that were overdue as
at 31 December 2015. The Group has been actively
negotiating with the lenders for the renewal and
extension of the repayment dates of these
borrowings, of which an extension of the
repayments of the borrowings from related parties
of the Potential Investor (including the additional
borrowing from a related party of the Potential
Investor of RMB50 million obtained by the Group in
January 2016 as stated in (4) above) for a term of 2
years is currently under discussion.

The Group is also negotiating with various financial
institutions and identifying various options for
financing the Group’s working capital and
commitments in the foreseeable future, including
identification of potential investors to invest in
various projects undertaken by the Group.

The Group is also maximising its sales effort,
including speeding up sales of its existing
inventories and seeking new orders from overseas
markets or new customers on developed new
products, and implementing more stringent cost
control measures with a view to improving operating
cash flows. Subsequent to the year end, the Group
received certain new orders of its stainless steel and
special steel products from an independent third
party and advance deposit payments of
approximately RMB50 million were received in
March 2016.

The Group has engaged legal advisors to handle all
claims and disputes. The directors have also
obtained advice from legal advisors on these
matters and, based upon which, are of the view that
the Group will be able to resolve those outstanding
claims and disputes with no significant cash
outflows in the next twelve months.
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Remuneration of Directors and senior management
Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5. of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
than the Directors) whose particulars are contained in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the total fees paid/
payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers, auditor of the Company,
in respect of audit and non-audit services are set out below:
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For the year ended
31 December 2015
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HK$’000
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Audit services B
Audit and audit related services ENZ L EZ B RTS 3,950
Non-audit services FEZRE
Tax compliance services MBS R 40
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND REREFRERR ZER
COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The management believes that it is essential to maintain effective EIEEBHEEBS 1.?%5“&7KL?@&§%%ET%&

communication with the investment community in a timely manner
through various media and channels. The Company holds regular
briefings, attends investor conferences and participates in one-on-
one meetings and conversations with institutional investors and
analysts in Hong Kong, PRC and overseas countries to keep them
abreast of the Company’s business and development.

Communications with Shareholders

As the key principle of corporate governance, the Company has a set
of values and behaviors to ensure transparency and fair dealing and
to protect and facilitate the exercise of shareholder’s rights.
Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company, such
as telephone hotline, fax number and postal address, which enable
them to engage actively with the Company and make any query with
respect to the Company.
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To promote open, efficient and transparent communications with
shareholders, investors and analysts, the Investor Relations
Department commits to promptly responding to their enquiries and
also providing them with the necessary information in a timely manner
so as to facilitate the investment community to better understand the
Company’s strategy and latest developments. Shareholders,
investors and analysts can also send enquires and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations Department of
the Company by letter, telephone or fax. In addition, if shareholders
have any enquiries about their shares and dividends, they can contact
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong
branch share registrar of the Company. The contact details of the
Company are stated in the section entitled “Corporate Information”
on pages 2 to 3 in this annual report.

The Board endeavors to provide timely and accurate information
equally to shareholders and investors. The Company’s website
(http://ir.nickelholdings.com) facilitates effective communications with
shareholders, investors and other stakeholders of the Company by
providing up-to-date information relating to the Company’s latest
development, corporate events, press releases, financial reports and
other information on a timely basis. Annual reports, interim reports
and other relevant information, including announcements in
accordance with the Company’s continuous disclosure obligations
are available and also posted on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company for the public’s review.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The Company regards the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) as an
important event as it provides invaluable opportunity for the Directors
to meet and communicate with the shareholders. The Company
ensures that shareholders’ views are extended to the Board.
Chairman of the AGM proposes separate resolutions for each issue
to be considered. Members of the audit, remuneration and
nomination committees and the external auditor also attend the AGM
to answer questions from shareholders.

AGM proceedings are reviewed from time to time to ensure that the
Company follows best corporate governance practices. The notice of
AGM is distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear business days
prior to the AGM, and the accompanying circular also sets out details
of each proposed resolution and other relevant information as
required under the Listing Rules. Chairman of the AGM exercises his
power under the articles of association of the Company to put each
proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. The procedures for
demanding and conducting a poll are explained at the beginning of
the meeting. Voting results are posted on the respective websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company in a timely manner.
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The 2015 AGM was held on 11 November 2015. Except for Mr. Dong
Shutong, Mr. Wang Ping, Mr. Dong Chengzhe, Mr. Song Wenzhou,
Mr. Yin Sheping, Mr. Yang Tianjun, Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang
Changhuai and Mr. Fahmi Idris, all other members of the Board has
attended the 2015 AGM.

Under the code provision A.6.7 of CG Code, Independent Non-
executive Directors and other Non-executive Directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Mr. Yang Tianjun, a Non-executive Director and Mr.
Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Fahmi Idris, the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company were unable to
attend the 2015 AGM due to other business commitment.

Under code provision E.1.2 of CG Code, the Chairman of the Board
should invite the Chairman of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee to attend and answer
questions at the AGM. Mr. Huang Changhuai, the Chairman of the
remuneration committee, was unable to attend the 2015 AGM due to
the other business commitment. Mr. Dong Shutong, the Chairman of
the nomination committee, was unable to attend the 2015 AGM due
to other Company’s business commitment.

Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s articles of association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must be
signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the head office
of the Company, which is presently situated at Room 3501, China
Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Center, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company’s articles of association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal of
a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

During the financial year, there were no changes in any of the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NICKEL RESOURCES
INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

(formerly known as China Nickel Resources Holdings Company
Limited)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on
pages 72 to 200, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

QOur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on conducting the audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, however,
it is not possible to form an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence and due to the potential interaction of the multiple
uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated
financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Impairment of intangible asset

As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of the Group’s
intangible asset amounted to HK$2,384,543,000. As detailed in Note
15 to the consolidated financial statements, such intangible asset
represents an exclusive offtake right secured from PT. Yiwan Mining
(“Yiwan”), a limited company incorporated in Indonesia, whereby
Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell the limonitic ores produced by Yiwan
to the Group at pre-determined prices within a specific period of time.

During the year 2012, certain Indonesian governmental authorities
promulgated several new rules and regulations regarding ores export
approval and export tax. During the year 2013, the relevant
Indonesian governmental authorities further promulgated that
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders in
Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) will be banned from 12 January 2014
onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out processing and
refining domestically according to the relevant regulations regarding
implementation of activities of business of minerals and coal mining
and have conducted refining and smelting in accordance with those
relevant laws. Consequently, the export of unprocessed iron ores
from Yiwan to the Group ceased with effect from 12 January 2014.

As further explained in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset as at 31 December 2015, the directors of the Company,
amongst other considerations, made reference to the disposal
consideration as stipulated in a non-binding framework agreement
entered into between the Group and Beijing Wincapital Management
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Wincapital”), an independent third party, on 21
January 2013, pursuant to which the Group proposed to dispose of a
30% equity interest in S.E.A. Mineral Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, together with its subsidiaries (collectively,
“SEAM Group”), which are engaged in the trading of ores and holding
of the intangible asset of the Group, to Beijing Wincapital. As the
proposed disposal consideration substantially exceeds the
attributable carrying amount of the aforesaid intangible asset, the
directors are of the opinion that there was no impairment of the
intangible asset as at 31 December 2015.
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However, as there are no formal sales and purchase agreement
entered into for the proposed disposal up to the date of this audit
report and the proposed disposal is yet to complete, we were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence we consider necessary
to assess the recoverable amount of the intangible asset. There were
no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves as to the recoverable amount of the intangible asset and
whether any impairment charge should be made. Any adjustment to
the carrying amount of the intangible asset found to be necessary
would affect the Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2015, the
Group’s loss for the year then ended and the related note disclosures
to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land lease payments

As detailed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements, an
impairment assessment was carried out by the directors of the
Company on the Group’s property, plant and equipment and prepaid
land lease payments in respect of the cash generating unit for the
manufacturing and sales of iron and steel products in Zhengzhou (the
“Zhengzhou Plants”). As a result of the assessment, the directors
considered that no further provision for impairment of the property,
plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments of Zhengzhou
plants is required for the year ended 31 December 2015. The
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been determined
by the directors based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations included applying certain assumptions in preparing cash
flows projections for the cash generating unit. In preparing these
projections, the directors assumed that, amongst other factors,
business performance of the Zhengzhou Plants can be gradually
improved noticeably during the projection period as a result of
improving operating environment and by launching new products and
seeking new orders from new customers with improved gross
margins.

However, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence we consider necessary as to the basis upon which the
directors have formed in determining the recoverable amounts of
these property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease
payments and thus to assess the valuation of these assets. There
were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves as to the recoverable amounts of these assets totalling
HK$462,764,000 as at 31 December 2015 and whether any
impairment charge should be made for the year ended 31 December
2015. Any adjustment to the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid land lease payments of the Zhengzhou Plants
found to be necessary would affect the Group’s net assets as at 31
December 2015, the Group’s loss for the year then ended and the
related notes disclosures to the consolidated financial statements.
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Impairment of the Company’s interests in subsidiaries

In addition, as the intangible asset, property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land lease payments as stated above were held by
various subsidiaries of the Company, any adjustment on the carrying
amounts of these assets found to be necessary would also affect the
carrying amount of the Company’s interests in subsidiaries and its
accumulated losses which amounted to HK$1,047,905,000 and
HK$3,565,100,000 respectively as at 31 December 2015 and the
related notes disclosures in the Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of HK$1,224,353,000 and had a net
operating cash outflow of HK$650,220,000 during the year ended 31
December 2015. As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$2,936,156,000 and its
total borrowings amounted to HK$2,435,580,000 while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$14,337,000 only. In addition, as at
31 December 2015, the Group’s borrowings to the extent of
HK$2,276,050,000 were either overdue or due for immediate
repayment; out of the remaining borrowings of HK$159,530,000,
HK$98,776,000 also became overdue after year end date and before
the date of this report. The Company and a subsidiary of the Group
are also parties to various legal claims as detailed in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements. These conditions, along with other
matters as described in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position,
which are set out in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, and to resolve the outstanding claims and disputes
detailed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of these
measures and litigation matters, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties, including (i) whether the Group is able to successfully
complete the issuance of certain new ordinary shares after fulfilling all
conditions precedent as detailed in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements; (ii) whether the Group is able to successfully
negotiate with the holders of its 12% Coupon Senior Bonds, the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds and Modified 10% Coupon Bonds,
together with other creditors of the Company for agreement on the
execution and completion of the debt restructuring proposal as
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detailed in Notes 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial statements; (iii)
whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate for an extension
of certain secured bank loans, and extension or refinancing of the
certain notes payables; (iv) whether the Group is able to successfully
negotiate for an extension of the repayment dates of certain loans
until completion of the proposed disposal of the 30% interest in
SEAM Group at the prescribed consideration and be able to collect
the disposal consideration in full immediately upon completion of the
transaction after properly offsetting the relevant borrowings; (v)
whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate with certain
related parties of the Group and other lenders as detailed in Notes
26(f) to (h) to the consolidated financial statements for extension of
their relevant borrowings, by maintaining relationship with them such
that no action will be taken by these lenders to demand immediate
repayment of the overdue borrowings under negotiation; (vi) whether
the Group is able to obtain additional new financing and other
sources of funding as and when required; (vi) whether the Group is
able to implement its operation plans to control costs and to generate
adequate cash flows from operations; and (viii) whether the Group is
able to resolve the outstanding claims and disputes without significant
cash outflows in the next twelve months.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Because we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence and due to the potential interaction of the multiple
uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated
financial statements as described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion paragraphs, we do not express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion,
the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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OTHER MATTERS

This report has been prepared for and only for you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards, or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 & & —

F-HF+=AS+—ALFE

2015 2014
—E—RF —ZE—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
BaE F#&xT T
Revenue Wz 6 38,697 336,403
Cost of sales SHE KA 7 (123,840) (501,897)
Gross loss Ei8 (85,143) (165,494)
Other gains, net HEaZAF - FEE 6 50,272 18,855
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHRAX 7 (2,579) (10,036)
Administrative expenses THRX 7 (191,315) (176,980)
Finance income &I A 8 8,064 145,079
Finance costs BE A 8 (451,264) (559,261)
Other expenses Hibfx 7 (110,891) (36,740)
Impairment losses on property, Y - BE KR ERERE
plant and equipment 7,183 (440,356) (697,392)
Provision for impairment of loan to an B3 ¥ —EEl2 A 5] 2 BE R E
associate 7,17 - (56,975)
Share of loss of an associate FE(E — & A Al ES 1R - (26,474)
Loss before income tax BRETS BRI A B 7 (1,223,212) (1,465,418)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTis®i (FAX) % 10 (1,141) 11,205
Loss for the year FNEE (1,224,353) (1,454,213)
Attributable to: B :
Equity holders of the Company RAEERFEEA (1,222,916) (1,453,133)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R = (1,437) (1,080)
(1,224,353) (1,454,213)
Loss per share attributable to equity ARaEREE AEHERESR
holders of the Company
— Basic (HK dollar) — EXRGET) 12 (0.44) (0.57)
— Diluted (HK dollar) —#E(ET) 12 (0.44) (0.57)

The notes on pages 81 to 200 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —E—RAE+ - A=+—H L FE

2015 2014
—E-AF —E—mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&xT T4
Loss for the year FEEE (1,224,353) (1,454,213
Other comprehensive income/(loss) H 2wz (5iE)
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to AJRERAZEF D2 B HE
profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BIMNE S RRITEE H =58
operations 25,059 (9,022)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FERBEHEMEEZEKE (BE)
for the year, net of tax 25,059 (9,022)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEZHEEBBE (1,199,294) (1,463,235)
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the Company RNRATERFEE A (1,197,511) (1,462,250)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR M 2 (1,783) (985)
(1,199,294) (1,463,235)

The notes on pages 81 to 200 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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e MBERRAR

As at 31 December 2015 R=—ZE—HE+-_A=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H
2015 2014
—E-hfF —E—OF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 TExT TFETT
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - HWE KK 13 619,540 1,178,003
Prepaid land lease payments FEf LR ERIA 14 178,753 196,418
Intangible asset M EE 15 2,384,543 2,384,543
Interest in an associate R—EBE AR 2R 17 - =
Deferred tax assets FEIERIAE B 18 - 1,115
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 1,324 3,846
3,184,160 3,763,925
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 228,370 307,035
Trade and notes receivables FEURBE T K FEUR E 45 20 7,213 23,248
Prepayments, deposits and AR - ke REMEKERIA
other receivables 21 215,305 254,565
Restricted cash SR HI3R & 22 12,294 =
Pledged time deposits BRI E BER 22 117,738 1,007,304
Cash and cash equivalents BEMIBESEEY 22 14,337 11,520
_____________________ 595257 1,608,672
Total assets BEE 3,779,417 5,367,597
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BHEREE
Equity attributable to equity holders Z 71 T EHE ABIGHER
of the Company
Share capital RE A 28 276,654 267,854
Reserves (G 29 (45,690) 1,118,058
230,964 1,385,912
Non-controlling interests JEEERAER 6,682 8,465
Total equity e 237,646 1,394,377
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As at 31 December 2015 R=—ZE—HE+-_A=+—H

As at 31 December

B+=—HA=+—H
2015 2014
—F-I% —F—nmE
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
B 5T THET FHIT
LIABILITIES =V
Non-current liabilities kRBES
Other long term payables Hith REAFEFRIA 23 9,073 9,886
Deferred tax liabilities BELEFIBEE 18 1,285 1,365
10,358 11,251
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade payables FETBR R 24 118,009 124,286
Notes payables NS 24 234,624 797,528
Other payables and accruals EEMFOEREREE 25 902,154 500,477
Bank and other borrowings RITEFREMES 26 2,083,431 2,273,465
Convertible bonds AR (E S 27 117,525 143,925
Derivative financial instruments TESRT A 27 41,769 84,373
Tax payable FEf TR 33,901 37,915
3,531,413 3,961,969
Total liabilities FoR=Ri 3,541,771 3,973,220
Total equity and liabilities EEkEEEE 3,779,417 5,367,597
Net current liabilities REEEFE (2,936,156) (2,358,297)

The notes on pages 81 to 200 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 72 to 200 were approved by the
Board of Directors on 30 March 2016 and were signed on its behalf.

Dong Shutong
=R
Director

EF

Annual Report 2015

FE81E200 8 2T AN GRE M ISRERN—35 °

FRE00EMNPHEHRREETEN _T—NF

—A=TBE#ERBERRRE -

Yang Fei
Bk
Director

EF

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 75



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —ZE—AFE+_-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RATREEEAEE
Share Non-
Share Share Contributed Capital ~ Statutory option  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve  reserves reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
Kx  RGEE EHES EARE  tERG BRERE EXRR  ZiER Nt FERER @t
Notes HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
i3 AT i T T T T TiEr i FhT FhT i
Note28)  (Note29)  (Note29)  (Note29)  (Note29)
(Witos)  (Mitoo)  (Witoo)  (Wsko0)  (Mioo)
For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ-2-N%&
TZRZT-ALEE
At1 January 2014 W-E-MmE-A-H 265,304 3,124,945 47514 115,807 89,774 36,651 482,777 (1,314,245) 2,808,527 9450 2817977
Loss forthe year EEBR - - - - - - - (1453133 (1463139 (1080) (1454213
Other comprehensive (loss)/income EEAMRE(ER) /I
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation o~ SE5MIEFRE
foreign operations ERER - - - - - - (9,117) - (9,117) % (9,022)
Total comprehensive loss for the year  FE2EFELE - - - - - - (Q117) (1463133  (1,462,250) (985)  (1,463,235)
Equity-setled share-based compensaion  IAIRIEEE 2 kIR BRI
expense 30 - - - - - (180) - - (180) - (180)
Conversion of convertible bonds ZRBRER 27,28 12,550 27,265 - - - - - - 39815 - 39815
Total transaction with equity holders ~ EHREAZRHAHE 12550 27,265 - - - (180) - - 39,635 - 39635
At31 December 2014 R=Z-IF
+=F=1-R 267,854 3,152,210 47514 115,807 89,774 36,471 443660  (2,767,378) 1,385,912 8465  1,304317

7% RERERERERAR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

2 A, JiE 2§
MeERERHR
For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —ZE—AFE+_-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RATREEEAEE
Share Non-
Share Share Contributed Capital ~ Statutory option  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve  reserves reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total

BA RMEE EEEG EARE  AERE BRERE ERRE  ZHER Nt FERER gt
Notes HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$O000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
i3 TRt T TEr TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEn
Note28)  (Note29)  (Note29)  (Note29)  (Note29)
(Witos) (Mitoe) (Wit2o)  (Mio0) (W20

For the year ended 31 December 2015 EHZ=F-Ti%

TZRZT-ALEE

At1 January 2015 W-2-1£-f-H 267,854 3,152,210 47514 115,807 89,774 36,471 443,660 (2,767,378) 1,385,912 8465 1,304,377
L FEER - - - - - - (22010 (12016 (1431 (1224359)
Other comprehensive income/(oss) EEEHRELE/(FE) :

for the year:

Exchange differences on translation o~ SE5MIEFRE

foreign operations ERZE - - - - - - B8 - 545 (346) 25089
Total comprehensive loss for the year  £E 2 Ef B4R - - - - - - 265405 (1,222916) (1,197,511) (1,783)  (1,199,294)

Eouity-settled share-based compensation  MARIEEE 2 RIVEER S

expense 30 - - - - - 687 - - 687 - 687
Conversion of convertible bonds ERIRRES 27,28 8,800 33,076 - - - - - - 41,876 - 41,876
Total transaction with equity holders ~ EEHEAAZRF4E 8,800 33,076 - - - 687 - - 42,563 - 42,563
At31 December 2015 R=%-1%

+=F=1-R 276,654 3,185,286 47514 115,807 89,774 37,158 469,065 (3,990,204) 230,964 6,662 237,646

The notes on pages 81 to 200 are an integral part of these 281 ZE 2008 2 T ARG AMEHREN—Z5 ©
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ﬁéiﬂﬁlmii

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B2 —ZE—AFE+_-_A=+—HILFE

78 SBEREBRERERADA

2015 2014
—E—FEF — 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B =E FE&T T
Cash flows from operating activities K& TEHEHERE
Loss before income tax BRETIST RIS R (1,223,212) (1,465,418)
Adjustments for: KLRT| ST
Finance costs 3PN 8 451,264 559,261
Finance income BE WA 8 (8,064) (145,079)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME  WERZEZ
plant and equipment, net (Wzs),/ EiE%%m 6 (10,872) 702
Changes in fair value of derivative MEESRIEAAEEEE
financial instruments 6 (27,128) (19,832)
Depreciation e 7,13 90,378 116,454
Amortisation of prepaid land lease A+ 1o E FRE
payments 7,14 5,014 5,078
Amortisation of intangible asset BB EE 7,15 - 3,243
Provision for impairment of trade JE W BR OB (B 4
receivables 7,20 - 16,405
Provision for impairment of Ta A 5RI8 & E Ath FE IR R (B
prepayments and B
other receivables 7 25,570 7,306
Provision for impairment of property, I - RE KR ERERE
plant and equipment 7,13 440,356 597,392
Provision for impairment losses of GFERESERE
inventories 7,19 79,683 19,481
Provision for impairment of loan to an RT— e QR ZRE
associate Tﬁéﬁ 7,17 - 56,975
Share of loss of an associate FE(E — B2 N B E 18 17 - 26,474
Provision for claims and disputes HREFZEE 7 85,321 13,029
Equity-settled share-based PARRIE#E S 2 I fE R 2
compensation expense 9 687 (180)
Operating loss before working capital LIBESEHR 2K EEE
changes (91,003) (208,709)

“E-hFFERE



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ﬁéiﬁ.ﬁlm;i

For the year ended 31 December 2015 & & —

—HAF+T-A=+T—HLEFE

2015 2014
—E—FEF — 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B =E F#&xT T4
Changes in working capital: LEEGE
Decrease in inventories FERD 13,245 146,737
Decrease in trade and notes receivables & U iR 3 1% e i Z= 385 4> 3,721 68,582
Increase in prepayments, deposits TEMFOE -~ e R EMER
and other receivables SRIEIE AN (2,641) (619)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and e R AR B &
notes payables G4,/ (557,846) 170,585
Decrease in other payables and H R R ERT B ER D
accruals (14,226) (88,211)
(Decrease)/increase in other long term i &= B fE (< 3038 Ol 4)
payables 0 (236) 1,165
Cash (used in)/generated from operations & %E&) (FrA) EE 2 ES (648,986) 139,530
Income tax (paid)/refunded (B, BREFEH (1,234) 10,830
Net cash (used in)/generated KeEEE (FTA) EEZRS
from operating activities REE (650,220) 150,360
Cash flows from investing activities REZHZRERE
Interest received B U F 8 14,847 5,008
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEDME « BENREFIERE
plant and equipment 34,369 =
Purchase of property, plant and BEYE - BE &&E
equipment (5,925) (26,773)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged time BRI EBRFERORD (3G 0)
deposits 887,397 (149,199)
Increase in restricted cash PR 35 5 12 0 (12,294) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) wEEHESE/ (FTR)2RE
investing activities g} 918,394 (170,964)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ﬁéiﬁ.ﬁlm;i

For the year ended 31 December 2015 & & —

—HAF+T-A=+T—HLEFE

2015 2014
—E—HEF — 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B=E F#&xT T4
Cash flows from financing activities F&ETEHHERE
Proceeds from bank and other RIT R E AL B E R TS IE
borrowings 412,198 1,067,774
Repayment of bank and other borrowings & R17 M EMEE (556,208) (859,080)
Interest paid BAFE (120,744) (230,508)
Net cash used in financing activities BB EEN T IR S FEE (264,754) (21,814)
Net increase/(decrease) incashand B4 RBRSZEY 2
cash equivalents i ORd) FEE 3,420 (42,418)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F# 7R & RIS EEY
of year 11,520 54,065
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, JE X & &) 2 %58
net (603) (127)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of FRZRERBELZEY
year 14,337 11,520
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRESEENEHRIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances e M7 22 14,337 11,520
The notes on pages 81 to 200 are an integral part of these 581 E200& 2 Wit A4 A M SRR —2BH

consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
(formerly known as China Nickel Resources Holdings Company
Limited) (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 11
March 2004 under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) is located at No. 7, Block F, Runhua Business Garden,
No. 24, Jinshui Road, Jinshui District, Zhengzhou City, Henan
Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), 450012.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at
Room 3501, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-
200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

Effective on 18 January 2016, the Company’s English name
was changed from China Nickel Resources Holdings Company
Limited to Nickel Resources International Holdings Company
Limited following a special resolution passed by the Company’s
shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting (‘EGM”) and
a Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name of the
Company was issued by the Registrar of Companies in the
Cayman Islands on 18 January 2016.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holdings
and the trading of ore. The Group is principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of iron and steel products in the PRC and
the trading of ore. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Easyman Assets
Management Limited (“Easyman”), a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and wholly owned by Mr. Dong
Shutong (“Mr. Dong”), is the ultimate holding company of the
Group. Mr. Dong is regarded as ultimate controlling party.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated, and have been
approved for issue by the board of Directors on 30 March 2016.

Annual Report 2015
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At+—BERERASHEESRRIEFRE
(—NAR—FE=FE - KEEERIEFT)E
FEMETMALAEREERDGE - XA
7] 5 9% % B2 52 7 Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands ° "2 Al R E B A
AR ARE]) T 2L EMBU NP E
ARFFME ([ E ) m & BN T e KE S
K BR245% B % L BFETH( B &
450012) « ARB T ELEMEUNEET
%8 P168-200k E P LB RAANE
3501 % ©

BEE AR R AR R NIRRT RIAE ([ AR
Agl) FRBN —EEIRER B-F
—RNE—HT/\Bi  KARIMEEHEA
[ China Nickel Resources Holdings Company
Limited] ¥ 2% 7 [Nickel Resources
International Holdings Company Limited |

BRSESAREFMEERZE—RF—H
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TS ((RBREZES ) MK ITHES
BAEE(ELRE]) 2E ¥ H ZEasyman
Assets Management Limited ([ Easyman ) £
REEZ RREBRAF - EEREWEBHEK
PERRTT ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

82

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention except that certain
financial assets and liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) are measured at fair value, as appropriate.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(@) Going concern

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$1,224,353,000 and had a net operating cash
outflow of approximately HK$650,220,000 due to
the market downturn and significant change in
operating and regulatory environment of the
Group’s subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2015, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by HK$2,936,156,000. The Group’s total
borrowings amounted to HK$2,435,580,000, which
comprised bank and other borrowings, convertible
bonds and notes payables of HK$2,083,431,000
(2014: HK$2,273,465,000), HK$117,525,000
(2014: HK$143,925,000) and HK$234,624,000
(2014: HK$797,528,000), respectively as at 31
December 2015. Cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$14,337,000 as at 31 December
2015.

BRERERERBR AR

2

TEETBRME

w5

RAEMBRRMRANERZSTERE

ST - (R A BRI - ZFBRERHAA
ERFEERKRA -

2.1

BB
ARBRE M BRRIIRENA B R
F B R B 75 R 5 2R R (T B R B 75 3R
BADHRE - -BETEREERAE
(BETESR TR BAREBEMNE
(ER) 5 - BRRE SRR &K
FREESL R AL AR B

EIERIRR I H R & E RIAR L 5 Sk -
FEEBETEANEF A © RE -
EAEEERSTBRRNBERET  F
EEEERABSAE - PRERAE
HAE ) HIE 2 B - FOF KRR
Bt BRHEAMBHRR]ABEX
FE - RHFE4E -

(a) FHEgE
HE_Z—RAF+-_A=+—H
IEFE - ERTHERARASE
BB A RMEEMEEIRE N
MERES  AEEHRBEERF
FA#91,224,353,00078 7T M 4210
& R EE4Y650,220,0008 7T °
R-—E—RAF+-_A=+—H"
AEBEHRBBEBEALREDE
£ 2,936,156,000/8 7 ° A& B
—E-AF+-A=+—Hz#%
B & A&2,435,580,000/8 7 * BIE
RITERREMEE « AlRKE
>R ESEE 58 A&
2,083,431,000/8 L (=& — O 4F :
2,273,465,000%8 JT ) -
117,625,000/ ;L ( = — I 4 -
143,925,000 7T ) & 234,624,000
Bt (ZF — 4 : 797,528,000
BrL)c RZE—RAF+= A
=+—H ReKkRSEEDE
14,337,000/ ¢ °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

TEETBERME (&)

21 REEE(E)
RS ()

(@) Going concern (Continued) (a)

Annual Report 2015

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s borrowings
to the extent of HK$2,276,050,000 were either
overdue or due for immediate repayment despite
the original contractual repayment dates of some of
these borrowings are beyond twelve months after
31 December 2015. This is mainly because:

U)

(i)

on 19 December 2014, the Group failed to
make interest payment totaling
HK$16,108,000 under the relevant terms and
conditions of its Modified 10% Coupon
Bonds, 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds (together the
“Bonds”), details of which are disclosed in
Notes 26 and 27. This constituted an event of
default under the respective terms of the
Bonds. During the year ended 31 December
2015, the Group also failed to pay further
interest payment of the Bonds of
HK$64,344,000. As a result, the outstanding
principal amounts of the Bonds totaling
HK$536,915,000 became immediately due
and payable, out of which the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds and 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds of HK$390,990,000 (2014:
HK$390,990,000) and HK$117,525,000
(2014: HK$143,925,000), respectively with
original contractual repayment date in 2018
have been reclassified as current liabilities as
at 31 December 2015;

as at 31 December 2015, certain bank loans,
other loans, other borrowings and notes
payables to the extent of HK$125,328,000,
HK$835,520,000, HK$259,781,000 and
HK$192,807,000, respectively (totaling
HK$1,413,436,000) had become overdue;

RZE—RAF+=-A=+—H "
K& Bz &5 2,276,050,000 7%
TLO Ak B AN EE - BN E
REETEEZREANEEZBEE
ARR-_ZE—RF+-_A=+—H
ZEBBT—EA  TBHER

() RZE—EOFE+=—A+N1
B AEBERGEREEL
BETH10% 2 B E 5
12% ZE BB EESHK8%
ZHmEURBRESR (KB
[ZE5EH ) 2 BBt R
BHxRZIHHEBE A& K
16,108,00078 7T © A B &F
IS ER 5E26 .27 - 1R
BzEEHF 2 HBIET
EERENSEH - HEZ
E—HFE+_A=+—8H
IEFE NEBIKRAE#E
— I NZEEHFFE
64,344,000/ 7T o A Ut -
ZEBHFAEBEEZAGH
4 $£536,915,000 78 7T BB
RAERBEMS ERRE
HWEFEBHAE-_ZT—N
Fm e B A
390,990,000/ w( = &
— [ 4 : 390,990,000
JC) % 117,525,000/& 7T (=
T — P 4F : 143,925,000
T0) 2 12% ZHE BB L ES
K 8% ZEHE B AR EHFR
—E—AF+_R=+—
HEEMHBEARDER

i R=ZZT—RAF+=A
=t+t—H &85 A
125,328,000 7T
835,520,000 # T -
259,781,000 7T K
192,807,000/ w( & %
1,413,436,0007% 7T ) M) #&
FRITER EMER -
HEERENZEES
H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2

84

(a)

Going concern (Continued)

(i)  the above events constituted events of cross-
default for certain USD secured bank loans,
RMB secured bank loans and unsecured
bank loans to the extent of HK$39,530,000,
HK$59,680,000 and HK$83,552,000,
respectively (totaling HK$182,762,000).
Consequently, these borrowings became
immediately due and payable. As these
borrowings were all due for repayment within
one year, the event of cross-default has not
resulted in their reclassification; and

(v) an unsecured bank loan of HK$52,675,000
and amounts due to related parties of
HK$90,262,000 were on repayable on
demand terms.

Together with the relevant accrued interest of the
abovementioned borrowings to the extent of
HK$404,350,000 as at 31 December 2015 included
in other payables and accruals (Note 25), the
aggregate borrowings and interest thereon that
were either overdue or due for immediate
repayment amounted to HK$2,680,400,000 as at
31 December 2015.

Furthermore, subsequent to 31 December 2015
and up to the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements, the Group failed to (i) make
further interest payment on the Bonds totalling
HK$14,042,000; and (i) repay the principal amount
of unsecured bank loans and notes payable to the
extent of HK$58,033,000 and HK$40,743,000,
respectively when the amounts became due.

In addition, the Company and a subsidiary are
parties to various legal claims as detailed in Note 31
to the consolidated financial statements.

The aforementioned conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern such that it may not be able to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

BRERERERBR AR

2

TEETBERME (&)

21 REEE(E)
(@) HELSE ()

(i) EaEHHBETFETHEE
HRTER AREFIK
HRITER R ERFIRIT
B % 5 5l £39,530,000/%5
7T~ 59,680,000 T K&
83,552,000/ t( &
182,762,000 7T ) 18 Ak 2
NEHEHF - Bt %F
S ERNE Ak & B ERFE A o
A BRZEBEESS
AR —FEREIHESE W
RINENEHIEEHE
ok &k

vy & & # R 17 B K
52,675,000 7T & FE 15 8
## 75 7/ 7890,262,000 7% JT
BREBNREE -

BR MR -_ZE—RAF+ A
=t+—HEst AEMENRER
FERTRIEH 8 B R FEREF B 2
404,350,000/ JT (M 5E25) © KA
—E-hF+ZA=+—H B
A AR EENEEEE K
H F| 8 & # &2,680,400,000 7%
Tl

o R=ZZE=—HF+ A
= t+t—HZBEEEGE TR
FULEBE - REBERE : ()&
— I NZEBEFNFEA H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

Annual Report 2015

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity and performance of the Group and
its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern. Certain
measures have been taken to mitigate the liquidity
pressure and to improve its financial position which
include, but not limited to, the following:

(1)

In January 2016, the Group has successfully
obtained a 3-year syndicated loan of
approximately RMB498 million (equivalent to
HK$594,840,000) from a syndicate of banks
in the PRC (i) to replace certain outstanding
bank loans and notes payable of the Group as
at 31 December 2015 to the extent of
HK$320,625,000 and HK$95,175,000,
respectively with the syndicated loan of the
same amount; and (i) to provide additional
loan facilities to the Group as working capital
for an amount of approximately RMB150
million (the “New Facilities”) for a 3-year term.
The syndicated loan is interest-bearing at
5.225% per annum and is secured by certain
property, plant and equipment and prepaid
land lease payments of certain subsidiaries of
the Group. The Group is required to fulfill
certain undertakings and restrictive covenant
requirements under these syndicated loan
facilities. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements,
approximately RMB30 million of the New
Facilities have been drawn down.

2

TEETBERME (&)

21 REEE(E)

(a) BHELE(H)
ERZEMRN - NARESBET
ZARERLERETHIBER
D BECEE  BEEEEEAE
ERRREDE S RRFARER
BZRmENRR - NEBERIRE
FHELURETRENE & MR 71
WEEMBMR - BIEETRR
PATR&IE -

1) RZE—XRF—H &&E
B Bk B B — iR E E
S—EAP=FMIEEE
R ANR 498 B 8 7t (17
7 594,840,000787T) - (i)
1M LA 558 A0 2R B B 3 AR
KRAEER TR F
+—A=+—HHKEE
HETRITERREMNE
B & B o 5 A
320,625,000 T K
95,175,0007% 7T K (i) &
REBREEIINESHBRE
EREEES BAA
AR50 B ¥E
MmE]) BE=F--FH
B IR F F £5.225% 5"
B BAAEEETHEBEA
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2

86

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

2) On 5 March 2016, the Company and a
potential investor (the “Potential Investor” or
“Subscriber”) entered into a share subscription
agreement to subscribe for a total of
1,465,898,410 new ordinary shares of the
Company at a subscription price of
HK$0.1876 per share (the “Subscription
Shares”), with proposed gross proceeds
totalling approximately HK$275 million (the
“Subscription”), subject to certain conditions
precedent which, among others, include the

following:

o approval from the Company’s
shareholders, or independent
shareholders when appropriate, for (i)
allotment and issuance of the
Subscription Shares; (i) a Whitewash
Waiver; and (iii) a Special Deal (as
defined hereunder), at the EGM;

° a Whitewash Waiver being granted by
The Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong (“SFC”) in respect of any
obligation of the Subscriber and parties
acting in concert with it to make a
mandatory general offer in cash for all
the issued shares and other relevant
securities of the Company not already
owned (or agreed to be acquired) by the
Subscriber and parties acting in concert
with it which might otherwise arise as a
result of the Subscription;

° the consent from the SFC for repayment
to any creditor who is a shareholder of
the Company using the proceeds from
the Subscription under a proposed debt
restructuring as mentioned below (the

“Special Deal”);
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e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

(a)

Annual Report 2015

@

(Continued)

approval of resumption of trading of the
Company’s shares, and listing of the
Subscription Shares from the Stock
Exchange; and

completion of a debt restructuring by
the Company in accordance with
Section 673 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “Debt Restructuring
Proposal”). The debt restructuring refers
to a plan for restructuring of the
indebtedness of the Company which
involves, among other things: (i) the
reduction and cancellation of the
outstanding principal amount of the
Bonds by at least 80%; (i) the reduction
and cancellation of all the outstanding
accrued interests of the Bonds; (iii) the
release and discharge of all security
collateral provided in relation to the 12%
Coupon Senior Bonds and the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds; and (iv) the
reduction and cancellation of all other
indebtedness and contingent liabilities
of the Company as referred to in the
Debt Restructuring Proposal, by at least
80%.

Financial advisor and debt restructuring
scheme advisor have been appointed by the
Company to facilitate the Subscription and
Debt Restructuring Proposal. The
Subscription is not yet completed as at the
date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@) Going concern (Continued)

88

©)

The Group has been actively negotiating with
the holders of the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds,
the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds and
Modified 10% Coupon Bonds with carrying
amounts of HK$390,990,000,
HK$117,525,000 and HK$28,400,000,
respectively at 31 December 2015 for the
execution of the Debt Restructuring Proposal,
as stated above. The Company is also actively
negotiating with other creditors of the
Company for the execution of the Debt
Restructuring Proposal.

In relation to the bank loans and notes
payables to the extent of HK$157,853,000
and HK$139,449,000, respectively not
covered by the syndicated loan as stated
above, the following measures have been
taken by the Group:

° the USD secured bank loans of
HK$39,530,000 (Note 26(c)) that
became due as at 31 December 2015
when the Group failed to make interest
payment, and notes payable of
HK$78,222,000 (Note 24) that were
overdue as at and after 31 December
2015 had been settled mainly by utilising
the Group’s pledged time deposits of
HK$39,270,000 and HK$78,222,000,
respectively during February to March
2016;

° other unsecured bank loan of
HK$52,675,000 (Note 26(b)) was settled
by the Group in February 2016, which
was financed by borrowings from a
related party of the Potential Investor of
RMB50 million obtained in January
2016;
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2
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

(4)

(Continued)

° actively negotiating with a bank for the
extension of its RMB secured bank
loans and notes payable to the extent of
HK$65,648,000 and HK$34,615,000,
respectively for a term of 3 years; and

° actively negotiating with other relevant
banks for the remaining notes payables
to the extent of HK$26,612,000 on any
possible refinancing arrangements.

On 21 January 2013, the Group entered into
a non-binding framework agreement with
Beijing Wincapital Management Co., Ltd.
(“Beijing Wincapital”) in relation to the disposal
of a 30% equity interest in S.E.A. Mineral
Limited (“SEAM”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group. The aggregate disposal
consideration is expected to be approximately
US$150 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,170 million). The proposed transaction
is yet to complete and no formal sales and
purchase agreement has been entered into
up to the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements. Longer than expected
time was spent on negotiation of the detailed
terms and conditions because of the rapid
change in operating and regulatory
environment of SEAM since the framework
agreement was signed.

In connection with the proposed disposal,
Beijing Wincapital arranged certain loan
finance to the Group in the aggregate amount
of RMB700 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$836 million) as at 31
December 2015, details of which are
disclosed in Note 26(g). Such borrowings can
be settled by offsetting against the disposal
consideration should the proposed disposal
be completed.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

©)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2015, all of these loans
were overdue for repayments. Up to the date
of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has not received any
letter from these lenders demanding for
repayment of these loans. Management is
currently negotiating with the relevant parties
to formally extend the repayments of these
loans to facilitate the completion of the
proposed disposal. Management believes that
with bona fide intention for both parties, the
proposed disposal will be completed and the
Group will be able to offset all these
borrowings against the disposal
consideration.

Apart from the borrowings mentioned in (1) to
(5) above, the Group had other borrowings
from certain related parties of the Group,
related parties of the Potential Investor and
other third parties of HK$90,262,000,
HK$189,676,000 and HK$70,105,000,
respectively that were overdue as at 31
December 2015. The Group has been actively
negotiating with the lenders for the renewal
and extension of the repayment dates of
these borrowings, of which an extension of
the repayments of the borrowings from related
parties of the Potential Investor (including the
additional borrowing from a related party of
the Potential Investor of RMB50 million
obtained by the Group in January 2016 as
stated in (4) above) for a term of 2 years is
currently under discussion.

The Group is also negotiating with various
financial institutions and identifying various
options for financing the Group’s working
capital and commitments in the foreseeable
future, including identification of potential
investors to invest in various projects
undertaken by the Group.
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e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Annual Report 2015

Going concern (Continued)

(8) The Group is also maximising its sales effort,
including speeding up of sales of its existing
inventories and seeking new orders from
overseas markets or new customers on
developed new products, and implementing
more stringent cost control measures with a
view to improving operating cash flows.
Subsequent to the year end, the Group
received certain new orders of its stainless
steel and special steel products from an
independent third party and advance deposit
payments of approximately RMB50 million
were received in March 2016.

(99 The Group has engaged legal advisors to
handle all claims and disputes as detailed in
Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. In preparing these consolidated
financial statements, the directors have also
obtained advice from legal advisors on these
matters and, based upon which, are of the
view that the Group will be able to resolve
those outstanding claims and disputes with
no significant cash outflows in the next twelve
months.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by management that covered
a period of not less than twelve months from 31
December 2015. They are of the opinion that, taking
into account the above-mentioned plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due within
the next twelve months from 31 December 2015.
Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant multiple
uncertainties exist as to whether management of
the Company will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the Group’s ability to manage its
indebtedness, and generate adequate financing and
operating cash flows through:

(1)

successful completion of the issuance of the
Subscription Shares after fulfilling all
conditions precedent as detailed, but not
limited to, above and in particular by the
successful completion of the Debt
Restructuring Proposal.

successful negotiation with the holders of its
12% Coupon Senior Bonds, the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds and Modified 10% Coupon
Bonds, together with other creditors of the
Company, for agreeing on the execution and
completion of the Debt Restructuring
Proposal;

successful negotiation with the banks for the
extension of the existing RMB secured bank
loans and extension/refinancing of the
remaining notes payables;

successful negotiation with the financiers to
extend the repayment dates of their loans to
the Group until completion of the proposed
disposal of the 30% interest in SEAM, at a
disposal consideration of US$150 million, and
be able to collect the remaining disposal
consideration of approximately US$43 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$335 million)
in full immediately upon completion of the
transaction after properly offsetting the
disposal consideration against the above-
mentioned borrowings of RMB700 million;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

Annual Report 2015

©)

successful negotiation with the related parties
of the Group, related parties of the Potential
Investor and other third party lenders for
extension of their relevant borrowings, by
maintaining relationship with them such that
no action will be taken by these lenders to
demand immediate repayment of the overdue
borrowings under negotiation;

successful negotiation with the lenders for
obtaining additional new financing and other
sources of funding as and when required;

successful implementation of its operation
plans described above to control costs and
generate adequate operating cash flows; and

successful resolution of the outstanding
claims and disputes without significant cash
outflows in the next twelve months.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able
to continue to operate as a going concern, and
adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected
in these consolidated financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(b)

()

(i)

Effect of adopting amendments to existing
standards

The following amendments to existing
standards are mandatory for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
The adoption of these amendments to existing
standards does not have any significant
impact to the results and financial position of
the Group.

IAS 19 (amendment) Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions

IFRSs (amendment)  Annual Improvements 2010-2012

cycle and 2011-2013 cycle

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap.622)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9
“Accounts and Audit” of the new Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into
operation during the financial year, as a result,
there are changes to presentation and
disclosures of certain information in the
consolidated financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEBE(E)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

Annual Report 2015

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (b) EBHBEEREEZEE

(Continued)

(i) New standards and amendments to existing (i) BB ER Ea FAT 2E
standards that have been issued but are not Bl J2 38 B 2E RIS 5T
effective
IAS 1 (amendment)  Disclosure Initiative!” il -Fpdi] HEE

Z1%.(8578)
IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable HREeE S0 R HUERHAE
(amendment) Methods of Depreciation and ] % gy
Amortisation'” $38% (B4) Eig
IAS16and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants BRerEAR165RE B £EN
(amendment) e b
ETOEHHEY
IAS 27 (amendment)  Equity Method in Separate Ameire ERIHKREL

Financial Statements!”
IAS 28 and IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
(amendment) Between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

IAS 28, IFRS 10 and  Investment Entities: Applying the

IFRS 12 Consolidation Exception
(amendment)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments®
IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
(amendment) Interests in Joint Operations”
IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts'!
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?
IFRS 16 Leases @
IFRSs (amendment)  Annual Improvements 2012-2014
cycle”

M Effective for the accounting period beginning on 1

January 2016

@ Effective for the accounting period beginning on 1
January 2018

® Effective for the accounting period beginning on 1
January 2019

@ Effective date to be determined

The Directors are in the process of assessing
the impact of the adoption of these new
standards and amendments to standards on
the results and financial position of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from is involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

@)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of
a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
value at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in
the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership
interests’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

221 Consolidation (Continued)

(@)

Annual Report 2015

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquire is re-measured to fair value at the
acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
the income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the
fair value of the contingent consideration that
is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either
in the income statement or as a change to
other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the
income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

221 Consolidation (Continued)

2

98

(®)

(©)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions — that
is, as transactions with the owners of the
subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is lost,
with the change in carrying amount
recognised in the income statement. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the
income statement.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwiill.

2.3 Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the voting rights. Investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The Group’s investment in an associate includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference
between the cost of the associate and the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwiill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share
of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to the income
statement where appropriate.

Annual Report 2015

2 FESHERHEE)

22 KWEBAT (&)
222 BYBIERR
KB R B 2 B ThIR A AR
BAR - KABIEREEEEN
KA o (WB AR 2 EETIHRAR
AZRBEREEWERE ZEER
fgo

e B/ B Hh B IR S B A TR A B B
NEZ2EREAR - B
BRI R EREEBLGS
M MRIRRIE AR EEF
E(BERE) 2EmE AR
WERBZERE 2B R EZ
FMB AR ZREETRER

Al ©

all

=l

S

2.3 HfE/
BERNREASBHEFTEATEN
MEEHEEE  BEWE20% =
50% FRORHE 2 IRHE - NEE R R 2%
BEAER2EAR BEEsS
A IWE VISR A TER - WA
SR A BREE AR R IS B Bi1E iR
BERGIEEHRE RN EE -
SEREERR 2IRE BB IERH
B2 EE - RIIBHEE AR 2B #E
B B AR 2 ANE AR EE R
hzEE AR EZNEEREEZ
SFAREBEZENEMNEBEARY A
SRS

fief 3 Bt 5 X B ) R RO B R BB
EARTE QLA E M2 mias i
ROTHEED  ERLOFENDE
BN BERSERGUERBRME)

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 99



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2

100

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Associate (Continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the income statement, and its share of
post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive income with
a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to
‘share of loss of an associate’ in the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group’s financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of the associate have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in an associate

are recognised in the income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operations
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company who
make strategic decisions.

2.5
(a)

(b)

Annual Report 2015

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HKS, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement,
except when deferred in equity as qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the income statement within “finance
income’ or “finance cost’. All other foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the income
statement within ‘other gains/(losses), net’.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(c)

(i

(i)

assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the end of the reporting
period;

income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the Company
are reclassified to the income statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in the income
statement. For all other partial disposals (that is,
reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in an
associate that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence) the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified to
the income statement.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land classified as finance lease and all other
property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest
becomes available for its intended use. Amortisation on
leasehold land classified as finance lease and depreciation
on other assets is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimate useful lives, as follows:

— Freehold land Not depreciated

— Buildings 15-25 years
— Plant and machinery 8-15 years
— Office equipment 3-5 years
— Motor vehicles and other 5-25 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within ‘Other gains/(losses), net’ in the
income statement.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes the costs of construction of buildings, the
costs of plant and machinery and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies. No provision for depreciation
is made on construction-in-progress until such time as
the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended
use. When the assets concerned are brought to use, the
costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment
and depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated
above.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2

2.7

2.8

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Cost represents consideration paid for the rights
to use the land on which various plants and buildings are
situated for a period of 20 to 50 years. Amortisation of
prepaid land lease payments is calculated on a straight-
line basis over the period of leases.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial reporting
date.

Exclusive offtake right

The exclusive offtake right represents the exclusive right
to purchase iron ore by the Group from an iron ore
supplier for a period of 28 years ending 24 January 2036.
The exclusive offtake right is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
The exclusive offtake right is amortised based on the unit
of purchase method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or not ready to
use are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting

date.

2.10 Financial assets
2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale.
The classification depends on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at

initial recognition.

(@  Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are financial assets held for trading. A
financial asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term. Derivate are also
categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. Assets in this category
are classified as current assets if expected to
be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they

are classified as non-current.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
2.10.1 Classification (Continued)

Annual Report 2015

(®)

()

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade
and notes receivables, deposits and other
receivables, pledged time deposits and cash
and cash equivalents.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within 12
months of the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2014 and 2015, the Group did
not have any financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

2.10.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair
value plus transaction costs for all financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are initially recognised at fair value, and
transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair
value. Loans and receivables are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss category are presented in the income
statement within ‘Other gains, net’ in the period in
which they arise. Dividend income from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the income statement as part of other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available for sale are
sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the
income statement as gains and losses from
investment securities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
2.10.2 Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in
the income statement as part of other income.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments
are recognised in the income statement as part of
other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

2.10.3 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.

2.10.4 Impairment of financial assets

Annual Report 2015

(@)  Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’)
and that loss event (or events) has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated.
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e MBRRME
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

2.10.4 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

@)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

Evidence of impairment may include
indications that the debtors or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data
indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the
amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the asset is reduced and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement. If
a loan or held- to-maturity investment has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the
contract. As a practical expedient, the Group
may measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable
market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously
recognised impairment loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

2.10.4 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(®)

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. For debt
securities, the Group uses the criteria referred
to in (a) above. In the case of equity
investments classified as available-for-sale, a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the security below its cost is also
evidence that the assets are impaired. If any
such evidence exists for available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in the income statement
— is removed from equity and recognised in
the income statement. Impairment losses
recognised in the income statement on equity
instruments are not reversed through the
income statement. If, in a subsequent period,
the fair value of a debt instrument classified as
available-for-sale increases and the increase
can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in the income statement, the
impairment loss is reversed through the
income statement.

2.11 Financial liabilities
2.11.1 Recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, financial liabilities carried at amortised
cost, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
The Group determines the classification of its
financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of financial liabilities carried at
amortised cost, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.
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e MBRRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Financial liabilities (Continued)

2.11.1 Recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade, notes
and other payables, derivative financial instruments,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and
convertible bonds.

2

112

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

@

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling in the near term. This category includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by
the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined
by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held
for trading are recognised in the income
statement. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the income statement does not
include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss
are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Financial liabilities (Continued)

2.11.1 Recognition and measurement (Continued)

(®)

(©)

Annual Report 2015

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing
financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs
of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down.
In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-
down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of
the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group are those contracts that require a
payment to be made to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because the specified
debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at
the higher of: (i) the amount of the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period; and (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Financial liabilities (Continued)

2.11.2 Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the income statement.

2.11.3 Convertible bonds

If the conversion option of convertible bonds is an
equity instrument, the host of convertible bonds is
recognised as a financial liability in the statement of
financial position, net of transaction costs. On
issuance of convertible bonds, the fair value of the
host liability component is determined using a
market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond;
and this amount is carried as a financial liability on
the amortised cost basis until extinguished on
conversion or redemption. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that
is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity,
net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the
conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between
the liability and equity components of the convertible
bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the
liability and equity components when the
instruments are initially recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Financial liabilities (Continued)
2.11.3 Convertible bonds (Continued)

Annual Report 2015

If the conversion option of convertible bonds is not
an equity component, it is bifurcated from the host
liability component and separately accounted for as
a derivative. Redemption rights are also embedded
derivatives and accounted for together with
conversion option as a single derivative. On initial
recognition, the derivative component of the
convertible bonds is measured at fair value and
presented as part of derivative financial instruments.
Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially
recognised as the derivative component is
recognised as the host liability component.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the
host liability and derivative components of the
convertible bonds based on the allocation of
proceeds to the host liability and derivative
components when the instruments are initially
recognised. The portion of the transaction costs
relating to the host liability component is recognised
initially as part of the liability. The portion relating to
the derivative component is recognised immediately
in the income statement.

When the convertible bonds with an equity
component are extinguished before maturity
through an early redemption or repurchase by the
issuer in which the original conversion privileges are
unchanged, the consideration and transaction costs
paid for the redemption or repurchase is allocated
to the liability and equity components of the
instrument at the date of the transaction. The
method used in allocating the consideration paid
and transaction costs to the separate components
is consistent with that used in the original allocation
to the separate components of the proceeds
received when the convertible instrument was
issued. The difference between the carrying amount
of the liability component and the liability component
from the allocation of consideration and transaction
costs paid for the redemption or repurchase is
recognised in the income statement, whereas the
difference between the carrying amount of the
equity component and the equity component from
the allocation of consideration and transaction costs
paid for the redemption or repurchase is recognised
in equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
re-measured at their fair value.

(a)

(b)

Initial recognition and subsequent
measurement

The derivative financial instruments of the Group
represent the conversion option and redemption
option bifurcated from the host contract of
convertible bonds. These derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on
the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of derivatives are taken directly to the income
statement.

Classification

Derivative financial instruments that are not
designated as effective hedging instruments are
classified as current or non-current or separated
into current and non-current portions based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the
underlying contracted cash flows).

Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to
the host contract are classified consistently with the
cash flows of the host contract.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises direct materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)
2.14 Trade and other receivables

TEETBERME (&)

2.14 FEW R & H fth FE U F 1B

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand,
demand deposits and short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, and are not restricted as to use.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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e MBRRME

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

2

118

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the lax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
places where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associate operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

(c)
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Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and an associate except
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Generally the Group is unable to control the reversal
of the temporary difference for associates. Only
where there is an agreement in place that gives the
Group the ability to control the reversal of the
temporary difference in the foreseeable future,
deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary
differences arising from the associate’s
undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and an associate only to
the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis.

2 FESHERHEE)

2.18 N RIEAE Fr 1§81 (&)

(b) EFEFEH ()
EREPISHAERNIE AR &
BE R B 2 A FTEL Z FERR
EREZRELERE  BRIEMRE
BB ERRIN - a7 & B A] DA FE
EREZR2BORME MBKE
RERERKRAAAEREE -
—RME - AEETREIEHIH
NEEREENER - REESR
B T ARE AL N ERIN A
T8 R R E i = R - B
LRAZ RPN FTEL 2
RMEREREMELHRER
B T THER

IR B AR LB E QR ZRE
EE R A HIR S B = RIERE T
ISHEE  BERRRERER
RATBEEAS K E D - WH TR A
ERBUE AN EH A BV E i =
Ho

(c) KK

8 B RRITREF BRI IBE
ERHANBHIEAEE  UREE
S MEEMEBES AR —
ISR EER BRI E SN
FREAEEE SR 2 TRIERE
ERBWEE  BEFREHE
EHRAEFRE K -

119

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2

120

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits

2.19.1 Retirement benefit schemes

Obligatory retirement benefits in the form of
contributions under defined contribution retirement
schemes administered by local government
agencies are charged to the income statement as
incurred.

The PRC subsidiaries of the Company participate in
defined contribution retirement plans. All employees
of these companies are entitled to an annual
pension equal to a fixed proportion of the average
basic salary amount within the geographical area.
The subsidiaries are required to make contributions
to the local social security bureau at rates ranging
from 20% to 21% of the previous year’s average
basic salaries within the geographical area where
the employees are under employment. The Group
has no obligations for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions as set out
above. The contributions are charged to the income
statement as they become payable.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
employees of the companies in Hong Kong who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
the income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed to the MPF Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)
2.19.1 Retirement benefit schemes (Continued)

As stipulated by the Indonesia State regulations, the
Indonesian subsidiaries of the Company participate
in a defined contribution retirement plan namely the
Day Old Assurance Program (the “DOA Program”)
for all employees in Indonesia who are eligible to
participate in the DOA Program. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the DOA Program.

As stipulated by the Singapore State regulations,
the Singaporean subsidiaries of the Company
participate in a defined contribution retirement plan
namely the Central Provident Fund (the “CPF
Scheme”) for all employees in Singapore who are
eligible to participate in the CPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
the income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the CPF Scheme.

2.19.2 Termination benefits

Annual Report 2015

Termination benefits are payable when employment
is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37
and involves the payment of termination benefits. In
the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

2.19.3 Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of reporting period.

2

122

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

2.19.4 Share-based payments

@

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

The Company operates an equity-settled,
share-based compensation plan, under which
the entity receives services from employees
as consideration for equity instruments
(options) of the Company. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for
the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of
the options granted:

° including any market performance
conditions (for example, an entity’s
share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified
time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement
for employees to save).

Non-market performance and service
conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to
vest. The total expense is recognised over the
vesting period, which is the period over which
all of the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)
2.19.4 Share-based payments (Continued)
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@)

(®)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

In addition, in some circumstances employees
may provide services in advance of the grant
date and therefore the grant date fair value is
estimated for the purposes of recognising the
expense during the period between service
commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-
marketing performance and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the
income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and share premium.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of
subsidiary undertakings in the Group is
treated as a capital contribution. The fair value
of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is
recognised over the vesting period as an
increase to investments in subsidiaries
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the Company’s financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Borrowing costs

2
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2.21

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income
statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor), are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.22 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to “Other long-term payables” and is released to
the income statement over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
income statement by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHBERBEGE)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Provisions 2.23 B
Provision for environmental restoration, restructuring WAEEEE#E s EHMELERS
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Group FESHETET MBAAEEEER
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result MEAENEE MEeFEE LR SH
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources i AJEMERIRREG  EAKES
will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount FERRERE EAKABREHEER
has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions SHFLEEREBNK  AERTE
comprise lease termination penalties and employee AR &L BIEMEREE

termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the HMEIRZBEEUSE AEEHERE
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is EZEEEZHERILOREEEMNER
determined by considering the class of obligations as a BIRE AT L1 o B FE R — R AEHE R
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of Fie & ER—EIEE AN ERR
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the AT BEME AR, - (7B RERRIE A -

same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the BEIRTEETEEER Y 2RE -
expenditures expected to be required to settle the UM EEEEEELRE EEER
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market M 2 IR MG E 2B ATt Rt & -
assessments of the time value of money and the risks R B R i B A 2 B3 N tE R A 7
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision BHX -

due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.24 Contingent liabilities 224 FREME

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise HRBEERERDBA Z2FHMmAlsES]
from past events and whose existence will only be BZET HEAETRE —FRHZR
confirmed by the occurrence of one or more future events RREHESEHETERER  MAE
not wholly within the control of the Group. Where it is not EI e T 2Tl EERREHEE
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be B o WA KRAJREERESEER - sk
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the EESEAEIEGSE - AZEER
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability. EANAEE-
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.25 Revenue and income recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and
value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it
is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
entity; and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities, as described below. The Group
bases its estimates of return on historical results, taking
into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(@) Sales of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the
risk and reward of the goods has been transferred
to the customer, which is usually at the date when a
group entity has delivered products to the
customer, the customer has accepted the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligations that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

(b) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis, using the effective interest method.

2.26 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders or board of
directors, as appropriate.

2.27 Exceptional items

Exceptional items are disclosed and described separately
in the financial statements where it is necessary to do so
to provide further understanding of the financial
performance of the Group. They are material items of
income or expense that have been shown separately due
to the significance of their nature or amount.

BRERERERBR AR

2

TEETBERME (&)

2.25 W R ATER

Wi B Wk B EN R EER
B RS R EIKIE - Mk
i RENMIEEDN - EWRESHREE
MR SERTE ¢ RIRIE M & AT BE IR
AEER  RAKESHEEHHATEE
RIRERH (M IXAHL)  AKRERS
et - AEEGRBESR UE
BEPEI XZEHREBEARHZ
FREL R -

(a) HEER

EEYHNEREEREERER
FREASEERBRATELXN
EmER) BFEMNER N
REr 2R FPEMNEmIIRT
PCE R - AR EHE BRI

< o

D

U]]

E\I

(b) FEWA
B AME B B F AL E
EE I ZEAERERR o

2.26 RE 5K

A AN 2 BB R 0 Ik 2 BB A B B AR
REABRRKEZTE(RAFEERME)
HERS 2 HEARASERARTR
ZHBHRENERSAE

2.27 %% IE B

RERE—FTRAEE 2 MBERR -
APHENEHFRIAB (FHEBH
B - 2FHB REAWAKF
XER RESEUHEXBEAHEM
BEBIR -

—E-REEERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks including foreign exchange risk, price risk, cash flow
and fair value interest-rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group’s overall risk management policy focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. The directors review and agree policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

(a)

Annual Report 2015

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly engaged in the international trade
of ores, sale of iron and special steel products with
its operating entities mainly located in Hong Kong,
PRC and Singapore with most of the transactions
settled in HK$, Renminbi (“RMB”), and US dollars
(“US$”).

Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised financial
assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity’s functional currency. The
Group is exposed foreign exchange risk from
various currencies, primarily with respect to RMB.

At 31 December 2015 and 2014, if Hong Kong
dollar/US$ had weakened/strengthened by 2%
against RMB, with all other variables held constant,
there would be no significant impact on the results
of the Group.

Given the exchange rate peg between HK$ and
USS$, it is not foreseen that the Group will be
exposed to significant exchange rate risk for the
transactions conducted in US$.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk in
relation to its products which is largely dependent
on market price of the relevant commodity. The
Group closely monitors the price of its products in
order to determine its pricing strategies.

The Group is also exposed to price risk in fair value
of conversion rights of its 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds. A movement of the stock price of the
Company will be accompanied by a change in the
fair value of the conversion rights which will affect
the liabilities of the Group.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
from borrowings. Borrowings obtained at floating
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk while borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2015, if interest rates had been
100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have
been approximately HK$330,000 (2014:
HK$1,659,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest expense on floating rate
borrowings. The Group has not used any interest
rate swaps for speculative purpose.
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e MBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)

(e)
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Credit risk

The carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables, deposits, pledged time deposits, and
bank balances represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

For trade and other receivables, the Group has put
in place policies to ensure that sales of products are
made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. The Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers and takes appropriate
follow-up actions to recover overdue debts.

The Group’s historical experience in collection of
trade and other receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible trade and other
receivables has been made in the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, substantially all
bank deposits and balances are placed with major
financial institutions located in Hong Kong and the
PRC which management believes are of high credit
quality. Management does not expect any losses
arising from non-performance by these
counterparties.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been
for the payments for purchases and operating
expenses. The Group finances its working capital
requirements mainly through funds generated from
operations, and external bank and other
borrowings. As at 31 December 2015, the Group
had net current liabilities of HK$2,936,156,000. The
directors of the Company have taken certain
measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure as
detailed in Note 2.1(a). Management will also closely
monitor the situation to ensure that appropriate
alternative actions are taken.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 L2REREE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 £EEREZE (E)
(e) Liquidity risk (Continued) (e) HREBELER (HE)

TRAOMARE RS B REHR
EANIHANFSBFRD HE
PR HARIEITE SR AE -
AUBANEERENSHENE

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the end of the
financial reporting period to the contractual maturity

date. The amounts disclosed below are the AR o
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
On Less than
demand 1 year Total
EEZREE D1 E o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET FHET
As at 31 December 2015 RZZE—HF
+=A=+—H
Convertible bonds AT ES 117,525 - 117,525
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 2,376,722 118,530 2,495,252
Trade payables FEATBR 5K 118,009 - 118,009
Notes payables B EE 192,807 41,817 234,624
Financial liabilities included in 5T AFL A 5008 K e
other payables and accruals SENSREE 193,128 79,017 272,145
2,998,191 239,364 3,237,555
As at 31 December 2014 R-ZZE—MF
+=-A=+—H
Convertible bonds A]mRES 143,925 = 143,925
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMER 1,518,087 896,930 2,415,017
Trade payables FEATBR 5K 124,286 - 124,286
Notes payables ENER - 797,528 797,528
Financial liabilities included in -~ 5T AZ- At 8 5 5008 K e
other payables and accruals BENEHAE 149,995 103,646 253,641
1,936,293 1,798,104 3,734,397
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3 THREAREEE

3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXREE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AEBEREAZTEREZARER
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going EBfEELSE  NESAIRFREM
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and B - WAHMERREA AR -
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal RIEEZSEERNEBEUREESK
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 7K o
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the B AREANGER  NEFgE
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to HAELINTFREARE SR - RARR
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new ROEAN - BTG HEBE
shares or sell assets to reduce debt. LUBAMERS ©
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors MEMBEIZE -5 XEBENEAREE
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is thRIEABEEIRERNELE - EXRAE
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is bk RIZEBFREGINERBETETE o
calculated as total borrowings (including current and non- BIEFARIRBEE (BIEESMBEIR
current “bank and other borrowings”, “notes payables” KTz mE RIERE [ER1T R E A fE
and “convertible bonds” as shown in the consolidated Bl [EAZE] & [AIBRRES]) R’
statement of financial position) less cash and cash ZREEReEEMREEREREF
equivalents and pledged time deposits. Total capital is FETE - EARBREIRGE MBI K
calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated Frekz [#E25] hn - EEFETE
statement of financial position plus net debt.
2015 2014
—E—fHEF — T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMEE 2,083,431 2,273,465
Notes payables AR 234,624 797,528
Convertible bonds, the liability AR ESNEEI S
component 117,525 143,925
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and & : 3£ RIS ZEW AR
pledged time deposits BT BT (132,075) (1,018,824)
Net debt (BEIEEZE 2,303,505 2,196,094
Total equity s BEE 237,646 1,394,377
Total capital B 2,541,151 3,590,471
Gearing ratio BB EL R 91% 61%

The increase in gearing ratio for the year ended 31
December 2015 is mainly a result of the decrease in total
equity for the year.
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132

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31 December 2015
by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three
levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group and the
Company did not have any financial instruments that are
carried at fair value except for the derivative financial
instruments.

At 31 December 2015 and 2014, the conversion rights of
the Company’s and the Group’s 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds, together with redemption rights (considered as a
single derivative), classified as derivative financial
instruments of HK$41,769,000 (2014: HK$84,373,000)
was measured under level 3 of fair value hierarchy. The
fair value was valued by estimating the value of the whole
bond with and without the embedded derivatives.
Changes in level 3 financial instruments for the years
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are detailed in Note
27.

The most significant inputs in determination of the fair
value of conversion rights of the 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds are market price of the Company’s ordinary
shares, discount rate, and volatility rate of market price of
the Company’s ordinary share.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, apart from those involving estimations,
management has prepared the consolidated financial
statements on the assumption that the Group will be able
to operate as a going concern in the coming year, which
is a critical judgement that has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making a judgement by the directors, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
directors consider that the Group has the capability to
continue as a going concern and the major events or
conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that
individually or collectively may cast significant doubt upon
the going concern assumption are set out in Note 2.1(a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Impairment of an exclusive offtake right

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for its exclusive offtake right at the end of
each reporting period. When an impairment test is
undertaken, management judgement and estimates are
required in determining suitable valuation factors in the
impairment test. The recoverable amount could change
significantly as a result of changes in the key assumptions
adopted in assessing the recoverable amount including
discount rate, estimation of market prices of nickel and
iron, expected export volume from the supplier and
domestic sales volume, and other risk factors related to
the exclusive offtake right.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of an exclusive offtake right
(Continued)

In determining the recoverable amount of the exclusive
offtake right, the directors also made reference to
proposed transaction price of the relevant asset. Outcome
of any proposed transaction and the final consideration
may differ from the amount originally estimated.
Completion or non-completion of proposed transaction
may also result in significant change in recoverable
amount of the exclusive offtake right and therefore
impairment charge for the period when such judgment
and estimate have been changed.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill and an exclusive offtake right)

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations or fair value less costs to sell. These
calculations require the use of judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related asset
values may not be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in
the business; and (i) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group’s financial condition and results of operations.
If there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and resulting future cash flow projections, it
may be necessary to take further impairment charge to
the income statement.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)
(d) Contingent liabilities

4

(e)

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be
confirmed by future events outside the Group’s control, or
when it is not possible to calculate the amount.
Realisation of any contingent liabilities not currently
recognised or disclosed could have a material impact on
the Group’s financial position.

The Group reviews significant outstanding litigations in
order to assess the need for provisions. Among the
factors considered are the nature of the litigation, legal
processes and potential level of damages, the opinions
and views of the legal counsels and advisors, and the
management’s intentions to respond to the litigations. To
the extent the estimates and judgements do not reflect
the actual outcome, this could materially affect the results
for the period and the financial position.

Amortisation of an exclusive offtake right
Amortisation of the exclusive offtake right is made based
on the actual limonitic ore purchased during the period
over the total planned purchase volume during the
contractual period. The estimation of the total planned
purchase volume requires management judgement and
estimates. It could change significantly as a result of
market demand for nickel-based products, technical
innovations, reserve of the mine, the ability of the miner in
meeting the demand and other relevant factors.
Management reviews the total planned purchase volume
at least annually, and adjusts the amortisation calculation
accordingly.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

4

136

(f)

(9)

(h)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives and actual residual values may
differ from estimated residual values. Periodic review
could result in a change in depreciable lives and residual
values and therefore depreciation expense in the future
periods.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal. These
estimates are based on the current market condition and
the historical experience of selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer requirements or competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of prepayments, deposits and
receivables

Impairment of prepayments, deposits and receivables is
made based on assessment of the recoverability. The
identification of impairment of prepayments, deposits and
receivables requires management judgement and
estimates. Provision is made when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the
debts or cannot utilise the prepayments either because of
the Group’s change of plan or the counterparties were
not able to fulfill their obligations. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, the differences will impact the carrying
values of these assets and impairment is recognised in
the period in which such estimate has been changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

4

(i)

@)

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

As described in Note 27, the convertible bonds contain a
number of derivative financial instruments that are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. The
Company engaged an independent appraiser to assist it
in determining the fair values of these derivative financial
instruments. The determination was based on generally
accepted valuation procedures and practices that rely
extensively on the input of numerous assumptions taking
into consideration of many uncertainties, including risk
free interest rate, discount rate, dividend yield and volatility
of the Company’s share price, some of which cannot be
easily quantified or ascertained. Changes in subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value
estimate.

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the
provision for income taxes in each of these jurisdictions.
There are transactions and calculations during the
ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. When the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred income
tax assets and taxation charges in the period in which
such estimate is changed.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group has one reportable
operating segment: the trading of ore and the manufacturing
and sale of iron and special steel products. Management
monitors the operating results of its business units as a whole
for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation
and performance assessment.

Geographical information
(@) Revenue from external customers

2 EBE R

REEER  AEEES —ER2FKLED
B BEAE SR EMEEE MR
i e BEEHRERLE REMEFZIRE
B HEZEBETZRERRIER—E
EERETER -

S E Y
(@) ZREIBESzWsH

2015 2014

—E—-RF —EF-EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FETT

Mainland China PR (B K e 26,174 288,203
Singapore TN 7,507 32,413
Taiwan =y 5,016 15,787
38,697 336,403

The revenue information above is based on the locations
of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

A EZWAERTDERE P 2 2
B e

(b) FRBEE

2015 2014

—E-hfF —EF-mF

HK$’000 HK$’000

T FHT

Mainland China e N 797,533 1,375,396
Indonesia ENfE 2,384,896 2,385,048
Others Hitb 1,731 2,366
3,184,160 3,762,810

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately HK$12,113,000 (2014:
HK$189,666,000) and HK$5,272,000 (2014: HK$154,305,000)
was derived from sales to the Group’s three largest customers
and the Group’s largest customer, respectively.
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6 REVENUE AND OTHER GAINS, NET 6 WHERkHEHMEBR  FHE
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZT—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&T F&T
Revenue &
Sale of goods: HE :
Limonitic ores B - 52,111
Stainless steel products AN 8l 2 o 10,543 171,913
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot 123K & S HifE 9,057 50,335
Ferro-nickel alloys and others RiEG S REM 19,097 62,044
38,697 336,403
Other gains, net HithZF - F5E
Changes in fair value of derivative financial ~ $T4 4@ T A AR BEZH
instruments 27,128 19,832
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, LEME - HERSZEZ
plant and equipment, net Wik (B18) 55 10,872 (702)
Foreign exchange gains/(losses), net ERAEF (EE) R 11,751 (2,357)
Others HAith 521 2,082
50,272 18,855
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LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

The Group’s loss before income tax is stated at after charging

BRETSHATE R

AREERRAEH AR MR TSR

the following:
2015 2014
—E-RfF —ET—OF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B aE F&T T
Costs of inventories sold BEEFEKA 44,157 480,485
Employee benefits expense EERAAX 9 64,378 69,603
Research expenses e 800 2,801
Auditors’ remuneration 2 EET BN
— Current year — REE 3,963 3,950
— Under-provision in prior year — BEFERELR - 1,113
Depreciation e 13 90,378 116,454
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TE T FE S RIS
payments 14 5,014 5,078
Amortisation of intangible asset B 15 - 3,243
Minimum lease payments under EREFEREZKEREY
operating leases in respect of SERBEN K
buildings and equipment 8,314 7,969
Provision for impairment losses of FEREBERE
inventories 19 79,683 19,481
Provision for impairment of properly, ¥1% - /= N &R EREE
plant and equipment 13 440,356 597,392
Provision for impairment of loan to an &3k ¥ — & A 7 25 E
associate P 17 - 56,975
Provision for impairment of trade FE W BR BB (B B4
receivables* 20 - 16,405
Provision for impairment of TE AR 3% T8 0 LA B U R IR
prepayments and other receivables*  JRi{E & & * 25,570 7,306
Provision for claims and disputes* AR NFZEE (M)
(note) 85,321 13,029
Included in other expenses ST AE A
IRERBEBRIERBRAR T —RFFERSE
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7 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (Continued) 7 BRETEFHAIER (&)
Note: Provision for claims and disputes MizE BREFHREH

As detailed in Note 31(b) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group has been involved in arbitration proceedings with a marine vessel
owner since 2014 in relation to certain contracts of affreightment. The
Group has been actively negotiating with the vessel owner since then and
base on the latest circumstances, the directors consider that most likely
the Group will be able to settle the claims at a consideration of
approximately US$5 million (equivalent to HK$38,782,000), and therefore
a provision for claims of the same amount was made for the year ended
31 December 2015.

In addition, during the year, the Group also commenced negotiation with
another vessel owner on compensation for unfulfilled obligations under
certain contracts of affreightment. Based on the latest communication with
the vessel owner, the directors consider that most likely the Group will be
able to settle the obligations at a consideration of approximately US$6
million (equivalent to HK$46,539,000), and therefore a provision for claims

AR B B IS IRR M RES1(0) Frstil - AEBEEH =
—NFRE—BESRRERETEESNE—EM
FRMPEERRT - At AEBE—EHEXEHEZ
MERH  ERBEFBER  EFRAAEEGRHE
Akt M IEREBELNSEEEL(HER
38,782,000 T) R R WHANRKREZE =T
— A+ A=+ ALFEAEHERPRESHE
S o

BN RER - AEETRE TEESNETH
ABHNEARERES —ZMERRHKH - ARE
MERNTIBEN  EFRANEEIRE AT
#IRREX 6B BT (155 1 46,539,000 7T )
BEEME TARREBEE-_ZT—-—HE+=A
=+—AIFERER B RS ENEE -

of the same amount was made for the year ended 31 December 2015.

8 FINANCE COSTS, NET

8 BERANFE

2015 2014
—E-HF —T-F
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
T T
Finance income mMEWA
Interest income on time deposits TE BRTERCR B U A 8,064 21,193
Gain on restructure of convertible B ES R ELES
bonds and senior bonds SR W - 123,886
8,064 145,079
Finance costs mE KA
Interest on bank and other RITERREMEEF S
borrowings (440,722) (811,962)
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESF B (10,542) (36,628)
Acceleration of unwinding interest INEREE B AT R AE 5 K
on convertible bonds and BEESHFE
senior bonds - (210,671)
(451,264) (559,261)
Finance costs, net A& AN F R (443,200) (414,182)
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 9 EEEFNRXX(BIEZEEEHH)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
2015 2014
—E-hF —ET—OF
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHIT
Salaries e 53,007 62,620
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRAE T 5T 24 O B Ath AR 2R
and other costs 10,684 7,163
Equity-settled share-based compensation A& #E4EE 7 B 1D+ (5 B 2
expense (Note 30) (Ff¥%E30) 687 (180)
64,378 69,603
(@) Five highest paid employees (@) EBERSFEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2014: two directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note (b) below. Details of the
remuneration paid and payable to the remaining two
(2014: three) highest paid employees who are neither a

EN KBNS THRE

AEERLERSFEERE=RES
(ZE-—F: MBEF)
ZEN 2 BTN T XM D) °

SEEF

(ZZ—WEF: =

B)RFARRES IR ARG R

director nor chief executive of the Company are as TENSES IS EEFMOEENT -
follows:
2015 2014
—E-—FF —ZE—JUF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#&xT FH&TT
Fees biakaa - =
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind # % « 285 R EWEF] 2,694 4,003
Equity-settled share option expense VAR 2 A+ 2 B AR il S 33 -
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & k@ F| 51214t 2% 18 34
2,745 4,037
The emoluments of the aforementioned individuals fell it A EHEENE Y EE -
within the following bands:
2015 2014
—E—RF —=Z— O
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 8 7T £ 1,500,000 77T 2 3

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,000 # 7T -

142 & REBERERAR
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 9 EEEMNREX(BIEEEEHE) (&)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)
(a) Five highest paid employees (Continued) (@ ERESHEES(E)
No emoluments have been paid to the five highest paid BLaE/EBIBE AR IIANEH 3
individuals (including Directors and other employees) as EABEBEEMYXNEREZESEH A
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as T(BHREELREMER) 2MEe (==
compensation for loss of office (2014: Nil). —PO4E : M) o
(b) Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures (b) EEREANEFZE (FEDIEH(E
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong 622F)5E383fF - REI(IKEES
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies MBEER)EBEH(E22GE) R E
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of BLEMRAREMEZEE)
Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules)
() Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments () EESLEEITEZHM
The remuneration of each of the directors of the HE—_ZT—hF+=-_A=+—H
Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 is LEFE - RARSEFTNH
set out below: AT -
Retirement
Equity-settled benefit
Salaries and Housing  share option scheme
Fees bonus allowance expense contributions Total
NREXfZ BAER
He  FeR%e fEEE  BREMX sTEIE @it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR Thx T T#n TiEn ThR
Execttive Directors: #i7gs:
Mr. Dong Shutong (Chief executive) EEBE4 (BEHITE) - 2,849 612 - 18 3479
Mr. Dong Chengzhe iy - 929 187 34 16 1,116
Mr. Song Wenzhou RIMEE - 416 - 3 - 449
Mr. Yang Fei BREsE - 650 214 K] 18 915
Mr. Wang Ping (Note (i) TS (B ) - 1,386 200 - - 1,586
Mr. Yin Sheping (Note (i) FALT A (B i) - - - - - -
Non-executive Director: FHTES
Mr. Yang Tianjun BAHLE 200 - - - - 200
Independent Non-execttive BuFinEs:
Directors:
Mr. Bai Bachua BRERS 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Huang Changhuai EBHLE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BLREE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Fahmi ldis EREE 200 - - - - 200
1,000 6,230 1,163 100 52 8,545
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(b)

U]

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 9 EEEMNREX(BIEEEEHE) (&)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)
Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures (b) EFEEMNRFZ(FEBQAEG(ZE
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong 622F)E383fF - REI(IKEES
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies MBEER)EBEH(E22GE)RE
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of B LEMRAEEMEZHRE) (&)
Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)
Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments () EELEEIHTEZHFM(E)
(Continued)
The remuneration of each of the directors of the HE—_ZEZ-—NmE+=-A=+—H
Company for the year ended 31 December 2014 is IFEE  RATIZREENEHE
set out below: FgAR :
Equity-settied Retirement
Salaries and Housing  share option  benefit scheme
Fees bonus allowance expense  contributions Tota
RS2 AT
e EeREe Rzl ERERX FE [ @t
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR T Thr Thr ThR
Executive Directors: #H7ES:
Mr. Dong Shutong (Chief executive) EZ@%H (BRHTE) - 2910 603 - 17 3,530
Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi (Note (j) BLEEE () - 1,167 = = = 1,167
Mr. Dong Chengzhe Eifiyid - 978 148 - 9 11%
Mr. Song Wenzhou RN EE - 408 - - - 408
Mr. Yang Fei BRASE - 650 202 - 17 869
Mr. Wang Ping (Note (i) i m A () = 433 67 - - 500
Mr. Yin Sheping (Note (i) Fi oA (k) - 300 50 - - 350
Non-executive Director FaEE:
Mr. Yang Tianjun Ny 200 - - - _ 200
Independent Non-executive Directors B 3£ 4117% % :
Mr. Bai Baohua ARERLE 200 - - - _ 200
Mr. Huang Changhua BEREYE 200 - - _ _ 200
Mr. Wong Chi Keung VA 200 - - - _ 20
Mr. Fahmi Idris ERE 200 = = = = 200
1,000 6,846 1,070 - 43 8,959
Notes: Bt sE
0] Mr. Chiang Shyh-yi resigned from 1 June 2014 (i) BrEA4EE=T—WNF~A—H
HEBHE
(ii) Mr. Wang Ping was appointed on 10 October 2014 (ii) FraEg T —NE+A+HE
BRE

(iii) Mr. Yin Sheping was appointed on 10 October 2014 and
resigned on 15 September 2015

(iv) Ms. Ng See Wai, Rowena resigned from 1 January 2014

BRERERERBR AR

(i) FHIErEa =T —WFE+A+H
BEREEN-_Z—AFAA+TH
ABHT

(iv) REEx+E =T —WFE—A—H
BT

“E-hFFERE
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)
Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(b)

U]

)

()

(v)

(v

Annual Report 2015

Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no
Director or chief executive waived or agreed to
waive any emolument; and no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the Directors or chief executive
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office (2014: Nil).

Directors’ retirement benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2014: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2014: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Company did not pay consideration to any third
parties for making available directors’ services
(2014: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2015, there is
no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors (2014 Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

9 EERANFAX(BREESHFH) &)

(b) ESTEANRAZ(FBDQTRMG(FE
622F) 3831k * ARI(PHEESE
FlzmEHR) RHl(F626E) R E
BLETRABREREZIRE) (&)

) ESRERITEZHHE

BE_ZT—AFt-A=1+—H
HFE  MESSFAEFENTE
BEXRBREETAME - TE
ERBEMAIR IMAREEK
EREERMEMHBARE M4
EENERATEZHE(=F
—E ) -

) E=ERAKEN
FABEE S B WEEGHREUE
R EN (ZF— M4 - &) -

(i =E=EBEEN
F R EE =B U BT
AIBERE R R (2 — 4 « ) o

(V) BE=FZFREEERKEZR
B
REBEE-—T—RAF+-_A=+—
BIEFE » ARBLRAEMAE
THINREEEREZARE
(ZZ—DY4F : £&) o

(V) FELNESE  AESZHNZEE

FRESFHENERRZZA
MEXR EERREMRZ2E
#
RBE-_Z-—HF+-A=+—
ALEEE BB ELAES A
ESEFNZEREESEHE
MERARBANER  BER
REMRZ(ZFT—MOF : &) o

(V) EERXS ZHEISHZEKX
R
RERIFREMRRE 8T
BARTMERFTNT BARRE
ERETREREAER(THE
BEREE)WEAKEXHA M
MEARS » ZHHAH »
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INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which the Group’s
entities are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company, and
its subsidiaries, which operate in Hong Kong, is 16.5% (2014
16.5%).

The applicable income tax rate of the Group’s Singaporean
subsidiary, CNR Group Holding Pte Ltd (“CNR Singapore”), is
17% (2014:17%). Effective 1 July 2013, CNR Singapore has
been granted to a tax concessionary rate of 10% as it was
awarded Global Trader Programme (“GTP”) status by
International Enterprise Singapore for a period of five and a half
years from 1 July 2013 to 31 December 2018. In February
2015, CNR Singapore withdrew its GTP status to minimise its
compliance costs.

The subsidiaries of the Company incorporated in Indonesia are
subject to a single income tax rate of 25% (2014: 25%)).

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, the
applicable income tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is
25% for the year (2014: 25%).

10 FrE8t

AEEARBEREERELSIRNAREE
RE R Mo A8 & P 7E A RE IR B0 st A U PR 15
i o

RERSHENEBELES ([REELE
S1ERRRN - AEERFEHE LEB
RZ B S HABMIFAMEH -

KRB RERBEBLCEZHEBRARBEAES
ST EA16.5%( —F—PUE : 16.5%) ©

75 [ 37 AN 4 i /8 2 5] CNR Group Holding
Pte Ltd ([CNR#T N3 |) &9 A AT S B Rl &
B1T%(ZE—WF 17%) c BE=ZT—=F
+ A—B# - CNRETIIREF N ERR 2
BREETHIRKE 5 ([GTP)) B a]
REEBEA0%HH - HRE T —=Ft
A—BRE-ZT—N\F+A=+—HI1H
EFEZTANEA - R—ZT—HFE=HF ' CNRF
IR E GTP B R A A B AR E &
1K -

ARRRRENEFETIE st M AL 2 F B A RIZAR
1R 25% (Z T —PU4 : 256%) L E—FR{SHift
KGRI

BIEFRECEMERE  NEERHEHE
REIREFEE ZERBHRME 525%(=F
—PO4F : 25%) °

2015 2014
—E-AfF —ZT—mF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5E F#Bx T

Current income tax: BNEAFTIS TR -
— Mainland China — B KR 26 (13,872)
— Singapore — N - 1,856
Deferred income tax BT PSR 18 1,115 811
Income tax expense/(credit) FrisfimY (ER) 1,141 (11,205)

BRERERERBR AR
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10 INCOME TAX (Continued) 10 FriB%: (4E)
The tax charge on the Group’s loss before income tax differs NEBE KRB ERNBRER S A RIRIR
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted BANEE QA REENMEFLYRERAES
average tax rate applicable to results of the group companies DR EEE - ST
as follows:
2015 2014
—E—0F —T M
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Loss before income tax MRFT1SEL R &8 (1,223,212) (1,465,418)
Tax calculated at the applicable statutory — 1Z& A RlEAAE R X
tax rates of respective companies HE IR (292,024) (334,411)
Tax effect of: THEBE 2 REE
Effect attributable to an associate EBR—RBEA TZE‘§ - 4,368
Income not subject to tax BARTUA (14,695) (25,242)
Expenses not deductible for tax IR 167,573 238,586
Over-provision in prior years BAEFEHBRERE - (12,016)
Tax losses not recognised RERTIBEE 140,287 117,510
Income tax expense/(credit) FrisRifs (%) 1,141 (11,205)
The weighted average applicable income tax rate of the Group HE_Z—RAE+-_A=+—HIEE &
was 23.9% for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: & HF .E’jL}fﬁ IHEEEH TSR X A23.9% (=
22.8%). The change is caused by a change in the relative T —[PO4FE :22.8%) c B IR ANEE
results of the Group’s subsidiaries in the respective countries. REEBRZR M B A TR S A e
11 DIVIDENDS 11 RE
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final EETEZE REE_E—HRE+_HA
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil). =t HIEFEZRERE(ZZE—W4E:

)
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LOSS PER SHARE

Basic

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss
for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
2,751,501,842 (2014: 2,568,086,775) in issue during the year.

Diluted

The calculation of the diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2015 is based on the loss for the year attributable
to equity holders of the Company, adjusted to reflect the
interest on and change in fair value of the derivative component
of the convertible bonds and share options. The weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
weighted average number of the ordinary shares in issue during
the year, as used in the basic loss per share calculation, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to
have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise
or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for
the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 because the
impact of dilution of the convertible bonds and share options is
anti-dilutive.

BRERERERBR AR

12 SREE

E= N
EREABEDNIREAQRAERZFA A
FEIEFEEEERFANDETE B 2 INEF
¥ B% #r BN 2,751,501,842% ( — & — PO 4 -
2,568,086,775 1% ) 5t & o

e

BE_ T AT _-_A=1T—"BLFEZSE
R#EBEIRBEARRRERA ARIGSF
EEEE - WIFHRHEARBR AR ES
TETAS RBREAAEEZS ZF
B rEAZ ERRNEFARIRFA
ERTEBR NEFHRB (LA ESR
EXRBEMERE)  ARBRRABE

BELBRESTERER ST BRIRE
B BT 2 BB IR -

HE-_T—AFK-_ZT-—NF+-_A=+—
HIEFE @ AR ARRES RERE 2 #E
VEBREE HNEREEERSENTRE
AEE o
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 Y%  BERRE

Motor
Freehold land Plant and Office  vehiclesand  Construction
and buildings ~ machinery  equipment others in progress Total
XA%HE
THRET  BEREE  BAERE  REREM HEIE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL AL Thn Thn BT TAL
Cost: HAR:
At 1 January 2014 RZE-MmE-A-H 494,283 1,625,580 29,434 86,114 1,536,711 3,771,122
Additions AE 3118 2,178 176 - 21,301 26,773
Transfers i - 9,842 - - (9,842) -
Disposals RE (24,691) - (8,002) (25,930) (13,299) (11922)
Exchange realignment ERZE (1,574) (5,450) (59 (187) (5,205) (12475)
At 1 January 2015 RZE-hE-fA-H 471,136 1,632,150 21,549 58,997 1,529,666 3,713,498
Addtions NE - 214 6 959 19,0 20,310
Transfers v 5,052 2,898 - - (7,950) -
Disposals RE - - - (2,268) (8,940) (11,208)
Exchange realignment EAEE (26,753) (95,396) (1,040) (3,148) (89,375) (215,7112)
At 31 December 2015 RZE-HF+-A=1-H 449,435 1,539,926 20,515 54,540 1,442,472 3,506,888
Accumulated depreciation: ZEHTE
At 1 January 2014 R=Z-m%-A-H 121,192 770,320 17,617 48512 - 967,701
Depreciation & 16,739 91,372 3,014 5329 - 116,454
Disposdls EE 2,390 - (2.667) (14997) - (20,054)
Exchange realignment EiEE (309) (112 (39) (99 - (559)
At 1 January 2015 R=ZE-1%-A-H 135,232 861,580 17,925 38,805 - 1,053,542
Depreciation b 3,185 81,218 1,609 4,366 - 90,378
Disposals RE - - - (1,804) - (1,804)
Exchange realignment ERZS (1,276) (53,419) (925) (2,218 - (63,898)
At 31 December 2015 RZE-RETZA=T-H 131,141 889,379 18,609 39,089 - 1078218
Accumulated impairment losses: FitRERE
At 1 January 2014 R=Z-mE-f-H 105,006 15,646 205 343 764,100 885,299
Charge for the year REERH 171,365 57928 6 54 368,039 597,392
Fxchange realignment EHEE (%) (66) (1) @ (577) (r38)
At 1 January 2015 RZE-hE-f-H 216,278 73,508 210 395 1,131,562 1,481,953
Charge for the year AEETH 45,258 13,291 - - 381,807 440,356
Disposal RE - - - - (8,940) (8,940)
Exchange realignment EAEE (16,210) (5,985) (14 (65) (81,965) (104,239)
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-RFT-A=T-H 305,326 80,814 196 30 1422464 1,809,130
Net carrying amount; REFE
At 31 December 2015 RZE-1f+-A=1-A 12,968 569,733 1,710 15,121 20,008 619,540
At 31 December 2014 RZE-RETZA=1-A 59,626 697,062 3414 19,797 398,104 1,178,003
Annual Report 2015 Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 149



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
At 31 December 2015 and 2014, certain of the Group’s
buildings and plant and machinery were pledged to secure a
bank loan granted to the Group (Note 26).

As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments
by major cash generating units, are analysed as follows:

13 ¥% - BFE K& (E)

RZEBE—RAER_ZE—NFF+_A=+—
B AEEARETEFHEEE MR EEKIFE
AREFERIBITER (MFE26) WEHY) -

RZE-—RAF+TA=+—HB x&EYD
¥ BELRBALANTHEERRRE
ERCELBEMI D ZBREESFTAOT

Zhengzhou Lianyungang

Plants Plant Others Total
BMERE EBEEBRE Hith et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TET THT FETT
Property, plant and VI - BB &R
equipment 459,623 140,805 19,112 619,540
Prepaid land lease payments & + #h 50 & 18 3,141 179,774 - 182,915
Total At 462,764 320,579 19,112 802,455
Impairment assessment — Zhengzhou Plants REF S — BMNEE
As a result of the continuous unfavourable operating AR E AN K LIRIBIRE N E  AEFH

environment experienced in the steel industry, the Group’s
manufacturing and sales of iron and special steel products
operations in Zhengzhou (the “Zhengzhou Plants”) were
temporarily suspended since March 2013 and had only been
operating intermittently throughout the year 2015. The directors
of the Company considered it as an impairment indicator and
carried out an impairment review on property, plant and
equipment and the related prepaid land lease payments of
Zhengzhou Plants (Note 14).

Based on the results of the assessment, the recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment and the related
prepaid land lease payments of Zhengzhou Plants approximate
their respective carrying amounts, and therefore no further
impairment loss has been made for the year ended 31
December 2015.

150 SREREBERERAA

R-_T—=F=ZARSEEPIBMNOER
R m e E RHE XL ((EIMNmE ) - 7
“E-hFERKEE ARAEETR/E
BRESR - S ENERE 2% - BE KR
RiEARAEEREN LB ERIE(HME14)
EITREER -

HERHEER - BNBE2WE - BE IR
WIARBEEN B EFIRZ AT E £ 5
HEZANEREERS  RUBREE_F
—hAFt A=t HUEFERE—TH
E IR o
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 Y% BERRE(E)

(Continued)

Impairment assessment — Zhengzhou Plants
(Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment
and the related prepaid land lease payments have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations included applying certain assumptions in preparing
cash flows projections for the cash generating unit. In preparing
these projections, the directors assumed that, amongst other
factors, business performance of the Zhengzhou Plants can be
gradually improved during the projection period as a result of
improving operating environment and by launching new
products and seeking new orders from new customers with
improved gross margins. The discount rate used in measuring
value-in-use was 21.1% (2014: 21.1%), which is pre-tax and
reflects the specific risks relating to the business.

As at 31 December 2015, if the gross margin had been 1%
lower, an impairment charge of approximately HK$49 million
would be resulted; there would be no impairment charge if the
discount rate used had been 1% higher.

Impairment assessment — Lianyungang Plant
During the year ended 31 December 2015, due to the
continuous decrease in nickel price and the unfavourable
market condition of nickel related products, which is the main
business engaged by the Group’s manufacturing plant in
Lianyungang (the “Lianyungang Plant”), management upheld its
decision to postpone the commencement of Lianyungang
Plant’s operation until year 2018. The directors of the Company
considered it as an impairment indicator and carried out an
impairment review on the property, plant and equipment and
the related prepaid land lease payments of Lianyungang Plant
(Note 14).

Based on the results of the assessment, the recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment and the related
prepaid land lease payments of Lianyungang Plant were
determined to be HK$140,805,000 and HK$179,774,000
respectively, and therefore an impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment of Lianyungang Plant of HK$435,042,000
has been recognised in the consolidated income statement for
the year ended 31 December 2015.
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ERHE — BMEE (&)

WE - BE MEELREEBEMN LA ER
BzA W ESRERFERBEEEENE - %5
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Impairment assessment — Lianyungang Plant
(Continued)

The recoverable amounts have been determined based on the
value-in-use calculations. The discount rate used in measuring
value-in-use was 20.1% (2014: 19.7%), which is pre-tax and
reflects the specific risks relating to the business.

As at 31 December 2015, if the projected sales volume applied
to the cash flow projection had been 5% higher/lower, the
discount rate used had been 1% lower/higher, or the
commencement of Lianyungang Plant’s operation had been
further postponed to year 2019, impairment charge for the year
would have been approximately HK$31 million lower/HK$33
million higher, HK$38 million lower/HK$34 million higher and
HK$30 million higher, respectively.

Others

The Group also recognised impairment loss of HK$5,314,000
(2014: HK$34,800,000) in respect of certain equipment which
has been idle for the year pending repair and modification
before they can be put into for further use.

As at 31 December 2015, the recoverable amount of the
relevant equipment amounting to HK$19,112,000, which was
determined by the directors based on their fair value less costs
to sell with reference to the available market price as adjusted
for its existing condition.
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14 PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

14 FE{TLEEHE

2015 2014

—E-HF —TF

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000

B aE FE&T FATT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—RBZEKAE 200,868 206,558

Amortisation for the year F R 7 (5,014) (5,078)

Exchange realignment b =5 (12,939) (612)

Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—HZKAE 182,915 200,868
Less: Current portion included in W ETATBRHRIE - BER

prepayments, deposits and E bR GIE 2
other receivables BVEAES 55 21 (4,162) (4,450)
Non-current portion FEBNHAEL 5 178,753 196,418

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s leasehold land situated in
Mainland China on lease of between 10 and 50 years with a net
carrying amount of HK$182,915,000 (2014: HK$200,868,000)
were pledged for bank loans granted to the Group (Note 26).

Impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2015, management carried out a review of
the recoverable amount of its property, plant and equipment,
and prepaid land lease payments. Details of the impairment
assessment on the Group’s property, plant and equipment, and
prepaid land lease payments as at 31 December 2015 are
disclosed in Note 13.
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INTANGIBLE ASSET B EE
2015 2014
—E-HF —TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FATT

Exclusive offtake right BRI

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—RAZREE 2,384,543 2,387,786
Amortisation B - (3,243)
Carrying amount at 31 December W+—A=+—BZkRHEE 2,384,543 2,384,543

Amortisation of intangible asset has been included in cost of
sales.

In May 2007, the Group secured an exclusive offtake right from
PT. Yiwan Mining (“Yiwan”), a limited company incorporated in
Indonesia, whereby Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell the limonitic
ores produced by Yiwan to the Group at a fixed price of US$16
per dry tonne for a period of approximately 14 years. In
September 2008, the term of the exclusive offtake right was
extended to 29 years expiring on 24 January 2036.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, a number of
Indonesian governmental authorities promulgated several new
rules and regulations regarding ores export approval and export
tax. Yiwan obtained the ore exporter status (“the Status
Approval”) and the ore export approval (the “Export Approval”)
on 13 June 2012 and 27 June 2012, respectively. The Status
Approval is valid for two years while the Export Approval is valid
for a period of three months from the date of their respective
issuance, and Yiwan can re-apply for the Status Approval and
the Export Approval before their respective expiry dates.

Pursuant to the new export tax regulation promulgated by the
Ministry of Finance of Indonesia (the “MOF”) on 16 May 2012, a
20% export tax (the “Export Tax”) would be imposed on the
limonitic ores exported from Yiwan to the Company. The Export
Tax is calculated based on the base price published by the
MOF periodically. The Export Tax will be borne by the Group.

According to the recommendation letter issued by the Minister
of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of
Commerce which granted the Export Approval to Yiwan, the
export price of limonitic ores to be sold by Yiwan to the
Company shall be US$23.5 per dry tonne (excluding the Export
Tax) (the “New Export Price”) instead of US$16 per dry tonne.
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INTANGIBLE ASSET (Continued)

On 10 January 2013, Yiwan issued a letter of undertaking to the
Group. Without any prejudice to the terms of the exclusive
offtake right, Yiwan irrevocably and unconditionally undertakes
that, if at any time during the term of the exclusive offtake
agreement, the Group requests the iron ores to be delivered to
the Group’s subsidiaries located in South Kalimantan, Indonesia
for production, Yiwan will adjust the purchase price of such iron
ores under the exclusive offtake right to US$10 per tonne.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the relevant
Indonesian governmental authorities further promulgated that
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders in
Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) would be banned from 12 January
2014 onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out
processing and refining domestically according to the relevant
regulations regarding implementation of activities of business of
minerals and coal mining and have conducted refining and
smelting in accordance with those relevant laws. Consequently,
the export of unprocessed iron ores from Yiwan to the Group
ceased with effect from 12 January 2014.

All of the rights, interest, title and benefits of the exclusive
offtake agreement is pledged in favour of DB Trustees (Hong
Kong) Limited as security trustee for and on behalf of the
bondholders of the Senior Bonds and the Convertible Bonds
(Notes 26 and 27).

In determining the recoverable amount of the intangible asset
as at 31 December 2015, the Directors, amongst other
considerations, made reference to the disposal consideration
as stipulated in a non-binding framework agreement entered
into between the Group and Beijing Wincapital, an independent
third party, on 21 January 2013, pursuant to which the Group
proposed to dispose of 30% equity interest in SEAM to Beijing
Wincapital at a consideration of approximately US$150 million
as detailed in Note 2.1(a). SEAM, together with its subsidiaries,
are mainly engaged in the trading of ores and held the
aforementioned intangible asset of the Group. Although no
formal sales and purchases agreement has been entered into
up to date, as the disposal consideration in discussion
substantially exceeds the attributable carrying amount of the
intangible asset, the Directors are of the opinion that there is no
impairment of the intangible asset as at 31 December 2015.
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16 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
All of the subsidiaries of the Company were incorporated/
established as limited liability companies. Particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

16 MEATZFHE
AAFFAHBA R K AER
DE - ARFEEMBARZFENT ¢

Nominal value of Percentage of equity
Place of incorporation issued shares/ interest attributable to
Name of companies and place of operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
BRTRH/ KAREGRAEE
AAER SRR EEH BRREZEE BAt TEEH
Direct Indirect
EE i
Infonics International Limited (“Infonics”) British Virgin Islands/ US$10,001 100 - Investment holding
(Infonics ) Hong Kong 10,001 %7 REER
RERUHE/EA
China Special Steel Holdings Company Limited ~ Cayman Islands/Hong Kong US$1 - 100 Dormant
HEERERER AR REHS/ A% 1% BEX
SEAM British Virgin Islands/ US$100 = 100 Trading of ore
R Hong Kong 100% 7T BRES
RERUHE/BA
Fully Lead Global Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100 Investment holding
ERBREEER AT Hong Kong E REER
RBRIES/BE
CNR Group Holdings Pte. Ltd. Singapore US$400,000 - 100 Trading of mineral ores and
A 400,000% 7T steel products and
investment holding
BA HEREIR
REZR
Bilchart Maritime Pte. Ltd. Singapore US$2,000,000 - 51 Provision of shipping
%K 2,000,000% T services
RREHERY
PT. Mandan Steel Indonesia IDR131,264,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
gl ENE /& 131,264,000,000 RAER
PT. Batulicin Steel Indonesia US$50,000,000/Nil - 61 Investment holding
il 50,000,000%7,/% RERR
Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel Co., Ltd. PRC RMB674,680,000 = 100 Manufacture and sale of
(“Yongtong Special Steel’) H AR#674,680,0007T special steel products
KRR EERAR (KRR SERRERHER

BRERERERBR AR
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16 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

16 MEBLQE .z (&)

Nominal value of Percentage of equity
Place of incorporation issued shares/ interest attributable to
Name of companies and place of operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
BR1TRG/ KAREGRA RS
NCES: SRR EE BRREZEE AL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 5
Zhengzhou Yongtong Alloy Metals Co., Ltd. PRC RMB3,000,000 - 95 Trading of scrap steel
(Yongtong Alloy Metals”) H AR 3,000,0007T BEHES
MxEaeHBERAR(kEaE])
Zhengzhou Xiangtong Electricity Co., Ltd. PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100  Generation and sale of
(Xiangtong Electricity’) H AK¥10,000,000 7 electricity
IMNEREEERAR(HARE]) BERHEES
Zhengzhou Yongtong Fully Lead Trading Co., ~ PRC RMB66,600,000 = 100 Trading of mineral, steel and
Ltd. (*Yongtong Fully Lead”) H AR 66,600,000 70 electronic products
BN KBEREFERAR (KEER]) B #kETERES
Henan Yongtong Stainless Steel Products Co.,  PRC RMB266,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and trading of
Ltd. (formerly known as: Henan Yongtong H AR 266,000,000 70 special steel products
Nickel Co., Ltd.) (Yongtong Stainless Steel’) HEREERHER
AEXBETAHERERAF
(A1 - MEKBREERAR)
(BT
Lianyungang East Harvest Minerals Company ~ PRC US$127,000,000 - 100  Trading of mineral ores and
Limited (‘East Harvest Minerals’) H 127,000,000 T steel products and
EEBRKBEERERAR ([RXREER]) investment holding
EREAERE SR
REER
Lianyungang City East Harvest Mining Company  PRC RMB390,000,000 - 100  Trading of iron and steel
Limited (‘East Harvest Mining’) H AR 390,000,000 7 products
EEEMRXBEERAR ((RXEE]) HEERZS
Lianyungang Hongnie International Trading PRC US$12,860,000/ - 100  Trading of iron and steel
Company Limited (‘Hongnie Trading’) H US$4,019,422.5 products
BEBRBERESBRAR ([RERR]) 12,860,000 7,/ MEERES
4019422557t
Henan Jiakun New Materials Technology Co., ~ PRC RMB 50,100,000 - 100 Sale of metallic new
Ltd. (‘Henan Jiakun”) H ARH#50,100,0007C materials
ABERBHTHRRERA A (DTERE]) HE DB
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17 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 17 R—EEEQ T 2ER
2015 2014
—E-—hF — PO
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FETT
Share of net assets E(hEEFE - -
Loan to an associate BEXF—EH#E AR 56,975 56,975
Less: provision for impairment of loan to B BERT—HEBEARZ
an associate B (56,975) (66,975)
Loan to an associate is unsecured, interest free and is not EXT—REEE R AEEKE - 28 RTEH
expected to be settled within one year. TeE—FRHNEE -
Particulars of the associate are as follows: ZEE AR ZFEIBOT ¢
Percentage of
ownership
Particulars interest
of issued Place of attributable
Name shares held incorporation to the Group Principal activity
KEBES
#18 FEeRITROAFE S0 A L 3t B FEEZEIL FEXK
Full Harvest Development 15,500 Ordinary shares of  Republic of Seychelles 47.42%  Investment holding
Limited US$ 1 each EERELA TEER
BRERAR AT 15,500 & & IR EE
122 EBR
158 & FREERERERA —E-hEFEFERE
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18 DEFERRED TAX 18 EEHIE
The movements in the deferred tax assets and liabilities during FRNRLERBEBEERBEEEHWNT -
the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets EEBBEEE
2015 2014
—E-1% —T—mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Unrealised profit on inventories FE 2 REREF
At 1 January nN—H—H 1,115 1,932
Deferred tax charged to the income RERT AR 2 EEFIA
statement during the year (Note 10) (K$3E10) (1,115) 611)
Exchange realignment b H Z 5 - (6)
At 31 December Rt+—-—A=+—H - 1,115
Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry forward MAAENHESEEMEANELEHRIBEEEEZE
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit [RAE @2 TR 15 M 28 ] B35 1B 7R 2K E SR Ft
through future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December mABERMNAE Y  RZE—RFE+ A
2015, the Group had unrecognised tax losses to be carried =+—H  ANEBEBRERAAEAEKER
forward against future taxable income amounted to 2 8 R B M A | 75 75 1S #8 491,913,202,000
approximately HK$1,913,202,000 (2014: HK$1,349,616,000). #AIT (=T — P04 : 1,349,616,000 7T ) °
These tax losses have no expiry date except that approximately M FR TS B 1849 1,799,218,000 B 7t (= Z— 0
HK$1,799,218,000 (2014: HK$1,269,018,000) will expire in the F :1,269,018,0008TT) R ARK—ERF
next one to five years. WEIERSN - ZET S EIRY & BEIE o
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DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

18 ELEHIE ()

Deferred tax liabilities BLEHESE
2015 2014
—E-0F —T—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FETT
Accelerated depreciation nEmiTE
At 1 January n—H—H 1,365 1,369
Deferred tax credited to the income FARFTAWTER 2 BEFRTE
statement during the year (Note 10) (fFzE10) - -
Exchange realignment b 5 =5 (80) (4)
At 31 December R+=—_A=+—H 1,285 1,365

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings
generated after 31 December 2007 .

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, no deferred tax liabilities
have been provided for in these consolidated financial
statements as there was no temporary difference associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China.

BRERERERBR AR

BEHRBECERMEEE - R BEBEAKRIZAIN
FREEEAINEREET KRB EZ10%
BATENR - LR EBH —TZEN\F—A—H
RAEY  BAR_TTLF+_HA=1t—H
BEVAEF o W BEEINEREE R BAEER
AIABRGWE - AR EAEENTEIHRE -
AEBBEROHER10% - @Al - XEEE
BEERARPENZNZEMNBARN T
THET A=+ BEEENBNADIKE
P BB TER o

RZE—RAFER_T—NONF+_A=+—
B - BB ARENE QTR E I EE =
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19 INVENTORIES 19 #FE
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZT—mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Raw materials R 130,457 115,518
Work in progress ERS 1,984 3,301
Finished goods SIRK G 257,207 273,174
Spare parts and consumables % 5 #Fm 14,815 24,283
404,463 416,276
Less: provision for impairment losses B REE RS (176,093) (109,241)
228,370 307,035
The movement of provision for impairment losses is as follows: BEEERENEEOT
2015 2014
—E-AfF —ZT—ImF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHIT
At 1 January n—HA—H 109,241 90,050
Utilisation JERE (3,418) (65)
Impairment losses recognised for the year SR E MERREEE (FH:E7)
(Note 7) 79,683 19,481
Exchange realignment bE N =5 (9,413) (225)
At 31 December Nt+t—_B=+—H 176,093 109,241
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20 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES FEWERFREREZE
2015 2014
—E-AF —ZT—mF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B aE FHET FATT
Trade receivables JE U BR ZX (a) 33,833 59,697
Notes receivables JEAES (o) 334 3,245
34,167 62,942
Less: provision for impairment losses & : JGi{E & B & & (26,954) (39,694)
7,213 23,248

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers and customers of limonitic
ores, where payment in advance is normally required. The credit
period is generally one to two months. During the year, the
Group generated its revenue from sales of alloys and special
steel products to other steel producers, thereby exposing the
Group to concentration of credit risk in the steel industry. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances. Trade and notes
receivables are non-interest-bearing. The carrying amounts of
trade and notes receivables approximate their fair values.

(a) Trade receivables
An ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting period,

AEBREFPZRGTEUMEETAEE
HE—RERHEP RBEBEET P EMNRA -
EEH—RA—=MEA - FR - AEEZ
WSk B RE A HREREHE S S LA
Em - Bt AEERGRHTEZEES
R o AN SR B EE L % AR A (R
Ao EMEERE - BEERRERRE
PEFFE o FEUCR R K 8 W R 5 o B T 1B £
HAREERS -

(a) FEUBR TR
REREIR - BRFEABHE 2 ERERZ KRR

based on the invoice date, is as follows: DFMAT -
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—UF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Within 90 days 90 B A 1,966 6,038
91 to 180 days 91%E180H - 1,649
181 to 365 days 181 %365 H 4,913 12,208
Over 1 year BB —F 26,954 39,802
33,833 59,697
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20 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20 FEUWIRZREWEE ()

(a)  Trade receivables (Continued) (a) FEURBR X (48)

Annual Report 2015

The movements in the provision for impairment losses of trade receivables
are as follows:

FEMBRFORER IR R R E BT

2015 2014
—2-EHF —F-nmF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
At 1 January wn—A—A 39,694 23,314
Impairment losses recognised for the year (Note 7) €N B i E R 1B (KisE7) - 16,405
Utilisation JHFE (11,083) -
Exchange realignment R = (1,657) (25)
At 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—H 26,954 39,694

As at 31 December 2015, trade receivables of HK$26,954,000 (2014:
HK$39,694,000) were impaired in full. The amount of the individually
impaired trade receivables mainly relate to customers that were in financial
difficulties. A majority of these receivables has been past due for over 1
year.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are either not yet past due or
not considered to be impaired is as follows:

RZE-—RAF+-A=+—B BEEER
26,954,000 7T (= T — M4 : 39,694,000/ 7T )
BEORE - FRIRERKERSEEIES MR
BIERE TR - KD UL ERKHIAE L iiE
B1EF o

I B R TRRET R EZ BERRZ RS
raaT

2015 2014

—E—-EF —E—UF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Not yet past due i) A 380 £ 1,966 7,433
Past due but not impaired BB R E

Within 90 days 90HMA - 1,649

91 to 180 days 91 180H - 10,812

Over 180 days HHB3E180 H 4,913 109

6,879 20,003

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a number of
diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to those
independent customers that have good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the Directors are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable.
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20 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20 MEWRMREKERE (&)
(b)  Notes receivables b) ERRE
As at the end of the reporting period, the maturity period of the Group’s RIRERR - ANEFRKREE 2 EmHinT :
notes receivables is as follows:

2015 2014
—E-AHF —Z-MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fia5 FAT
Within 90 days 90 AR 215 2,841
91 to 180 days 91Z180H 119 404
181 to 365 days 181% 365 B - =
334 3,245
21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21 FEANFIE- - RENEMEWRTIE
RECEIVABLES
2015 2014
—E-RF —E—mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT T4
Prepayments to Yiwan T Yiwan 2 5078 137,251 108,349
Prepayments to other suppliers TERT B R 2 5B 5,983 5,394
Other prepayments H MBI FIE 2,393 2,240
Deposits and other receivables & K H A FE W IR 7,960 44,532
Receivable from disposal of freehold land & 7k A ¥4 £ 3 i 5 2 FEUS
and buildings I8 - 21,620
Value-added tax recoverable A Y [B] 3 (8 7 57,556 67,980
Current portion of prepaid land lease TR - M & 58 2 B EAER
payments (Note 14) (PfFzE14) 4,162 4,450
215,305 254,565
The carrying amounts of receivables and deposits approximate JEW B RiEeREEREE 2 AR EEE
their fair values. 2
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e MBRRME

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED 2 BEeRBEEEEY CEHEEHRE

TIME DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED CASH REZREEE
2015 2014
—E—HF —EF-F
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FHT FHT
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHEH 14,337 11,520
Pledged time deposits EEAEHTR 117,738 1,007,304
Restricted cash (note) SRR AR E (k) 12,294 =
144,369 1,018,824

Less: Pledged time deposits for bank loans & : &#E1TE 7~ 2T H

(Note 26(c)) 17 3% (i 5 26(c) (39,270) (535,297)
Pledged time deposits for issuing REUSIRITHA R BH 2 2 HE A
bank acceptance notes (Note 24(0)) TE BAF 2 (MI5E 24(0)) (78,455) (471,994)
Pledged time deposits for senior AEBLEE LA BKRES
bonds and convertible bonds Z B E BTF
(Note 26() and 27) (Pft 7% 26() K 27) (13) (13)
Restricted cash (note) PR HIER & (i sE) (12,294) -
Cash and cash equivalents ReMIReEEY 14,337 11,520
Note: As at 31 December 2015, bank balances of HK$12,294,000 have been Miex: R=ZT—HAFE+_A=+—H  RT&EH
placed in a bank in lieu of certain leasehold land of the Group being seized 12,294,000 T E 7N —FAR1T - KRR EE
by certain creditors in relation to claims for outstanding payables of the WETERARAEEREEERGRES L
Group to the extent of HK$12,125,000, which will be utilised as settlement 12,125,000 Tt Z HRMGAZE THE L -
proceeds if required. na U E G FREFARFTS5KIE ©
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily BFRIRITZE SRS ARITERAERTEZ
bank deposit rates. As at 31 December 2015, the weighted B -RZE—AF+TZA=1+—H' ' x&H
average effective interest rate of the Group’s time deposits was TEHGFERMEFL I EREFEE0.73% (=
0.73% (2014: 1.18%) per annum. T—P4F 1 1.18%) °
As at 31 December 2015, cash and bank balances, pledged R_B—AF+=-A=+—H ~EEHEL
time deposits and restricted cash of the Group are mainly EkReEEY  EBEREHFEREXREIR
denominated in RMB. The carrying amounts of these balances SEEUAREIE - ZS &M RME R
approximate their fair values. BERAEERS -
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED

23

24
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22

TIME DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED CASH

(Continued)

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct

foreign exchange business.

Subsequent to the financial reporting period, pledged time
deposits to the extent of HK$117,492,000 have been utilised to
settle certain bank loans and notes payable as disclosed in

Notes 26(c) and 24(b).

ReRBATEEY CEREHE
REZRHFRE (&)

ARBEBREMEE TR B BT - AMRE
REIAEINEE RG] - URSE  BER
MEEERTE  ARBEEAZBLERENS
SNVERBEBHRITEARE HIBKEME
W o

RETEREH%E BEEBEHEFHRAE S
117,492,000 7L E 2 Bl BIE& B T ER1T
B ES S (FBER MR 26(c) & 24(b) 1#

%) -

OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES 23 HhREIESKIE
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZlEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T T
Other long term payables H b = H e~ 50
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—RAZKREE 9,886 8,751
Additions NE - 2,429
Transfer to other short term payables s s H b 50 B RS FOE (321) (1,268)
Exchange realignment EH =5 (492) (26)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—HZEAE 9,073 9,886
TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES 24 ENFRARESEE
2015 2014
—E-1% —T—mEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B =E FHT F&7T
Trade payables JETER K @) 118,009 124,286
Notes payables AN EE (b) 234,624 797,528
352,633 921,814

BRERERERBR AR
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e MBRRME

24 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

24 ENERIFRENRE(E)

Trade payables (a) FEAERM
An ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of the RBERR  REZEMFAEZEN
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: IR BRERDITAAT ¢
2015 2014
—E—AF — PO
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Within 90 days 0 HA 8,646 7,377
91 to 180 days 91 180 H 1,836 15,584
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 6,134 18,530
1 to 2 years ks 24,654 29,628
2 to 3 years 2234 45,441 29,182
Over 3 years BB 3F 31,298 23,985
118,009 124,286
Trade payables are normally settled on terms of 60 to 180 FEfTBR R — M X T EARB60ZE 1801 -
days. The carrying amounts of trade payables E’\#ﬁiﬁﬂﬂi f_ﬁﬁE K2 B TH {8 ER H
approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting ANRBEERES
period.
Notes payables (b) ENEE

An ageing analysis of the notes payables of the Group at
31 December 2015 is as follows:

KR=B-AF+=A=+—A %%
BRI 2 R ST T

2015 2014

—E-EF —lF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Within 90 days 0HA 1,432 459,082
91 to 180 days 91 £180 H 40,385 338,446
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 47,385 -
1 to 2 years 1E2F 145,422 -
234,624 797,528

At 31 December 2015, notes payables of
HK$234,624,000 (2014: HK$797,528,000) were
denominated in RMB and secured by time deposits of
HK$78,455,000 (2014: HK$471,994,000) (Note 22). The
carrying amounts of notes payables approximate their fair
values at the end of the reporting period.
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= £ 034,624,000 T ( = ZF — PO £F
797,528,000/ 70) A A REEFHE @ I
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24 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (Continued) 24 EAERIRESEE(E)
(b) Notes payables (Continued) (b) FESEE(E)
As at 31 December 2015, notes payables to the extent of R-ZE—RAFE+-_A=+—8 " Ef
HK$192,807,000 were overdue. Subsequent to the = A 192,807,000 7T 2 8 H o A
financial reporting period, the remaining notes payables of BIfSiE Hi 12 - FIRRENER AR
RMB35,034,000 (equivalent to HK$41,817,000) also 35,034,0007T (1HE 741,817,000/ 7T )
became due for repayment. Subsequent to the financial ME K AEIHREE - RISk %
reporting period, notes payables of RMB65,534,000 B EE AR 65,534,000 7T (FHE R
(equivalent to HK$78,222,000) had been settled by 78,222,000 7)) EEBE A EATE
utilising the pledged time deposits of HK$78,222,000 BifF 378,222,000/ 7T (Fi7E22) 415
(Note 22); and RMB79,737,000 (equivalent to A R #79737,000t( #H & »
HK$95,175,000) had been refinanced by a syndicated 95,175,000/ L) EM—EAH=FN
loan with a term of 3 years (details of which have been IREERGETHERE (FFIBRMES7@)
disclosed in Note 37(a)). The Group is actively negotiating KEE) c RAEBIERB TENZEEAR
with the relevant banks on possible refinancing # 51,296,000 7T ( 48 & 7 61,227,000
arrangements for the remaining notes payables of BT A {TE R E T AR R IR
RMB51,296,000 (equivalent to HK$61,227,000). TTHEATRERS o
25 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25 HMENRERESER
2015 2014
—E—-0F —ZT—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Advances from customers BFE#R 127,281 115,559
Payables related to purchases of property, HEREEEWE  WENEEZ
plant and equipment FERT R 79,017 103,646
Accrued interest expense FERTFI B R X 406,438 97,230
Payroll payable e #r & 40,396 19,055
Amount due to a director (Note 34) B —REE 225 (MI5E34) 1,975 2,226
Others H{th 247,047 162,761
902,154 500,477
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As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amounts of other
payables and accruals approximate their fair values.
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e MBRRME

26 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 26 HBITREMEES
2015 2014
~%-1f “I-pF
Contractual Contractual
interest Original interest

Note rate (%) maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Original maturity HK$'000
iz REFE(%) REHA TEx  ARE%) R35A TATL

Current A
Current bank loan — unsecured ~ EVER {787 — £ () 6.6 2016 23,872 6.6 2015 25,352
“E-RE “E-1%
Non-current bank loan — unsecured JEENEASR{TE R — 58 () 12 2016 50,680 87 2016 63,379
“E-RE “T-NF
Other bank loan — unsecured ~~ EfbB17E — £ (o) 50  Ondemand 52,675 - - -
BREZRER
Current bank loans — secured ~ EVERRTE R — BEA
- USD =35 (© 25 2016 39,530 2.3-33 2015-2016 506,245
ZE-RE “Z-1%-
—T5F
— RMB - AR 0] 64-80  2015-2016 302,721 7.2-80 2015 196,476
“%-1f- —Z-n%
ZE-R”E
Other loans EHER o) 100-114  2014-2015 835520  10.0-114  2014-2015 887,311
“E-QE- T
“E-1% “Z-1f

Other borrowings — unsecured ~ EEE — EHA
— related parties - @ER NilE-  Ondemand 90,262 Nil S - On demand 93,809
432 FEREREE 232 EREIEE

9 10.0-30.0 On demand 189,676 - - -

=

— related parties of the Potential ~ — EEREENBER

Investor BREXEE

— other third parties - HEfpE=R ) 8.0-108.0 2014-2015 70,105 8.0-108.0 2014-2015 81,503
“E-QE- T
ZE-1f “Z-1%

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds ~ 12% ZE BB £ ES () 120 2018 390,990 120 2018 390,990
“E-N\% —3-)\F

The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds (53] 10% 2 & &% ) 10.0 2015 28,400 100 2015 28,400
“E-1% “E-1%

2,083,431 2,273,465
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26 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

170

(a)

(b)

(c)

Current and non-current unsecured bank loans
During the year, certain borrowings of the Group became
overdue which is an event of cross-default resulting in
these unsecured bank loans became immediately due for
repayment. As these unsecured bank loans were all due
for repayment within one year, the event of cross-default
has not resulted in their reclassification. These unsecured
bank loans have been subsequently refinanced by a
syndicated loan with a term of 3 years, details of which
have been disclosed in Note 37(a).

Other unsecured bank loan

During the year, notes payable of the Group amounting to
RMB44,131,000 (equivalent to HK$52,675,000) became
overdue and the relevant bank has redesigned them as
other unsecured bank loan as at 31 December 2015. This
unsecured bank loan was subsequently settled by the
Group in February 2016, which is mainly financed by
borrowings from a related party of the Potential Investor
of RMB50 million obtained in January 2016.

USD secured bank loans

As at 31 December 2015, the USD secured bank loans
from a bank (2014: 3 banks) of US$5,100,000 (equivalent
to HK$39,530,000) (2014: HK$506,245,000) were
secured by bank deposits of HK$39,270,000 (2014:
HK$535,297,000) (Note 22).

During the year, the Group failed to make interest
payment on certain of these secured bank loans which
resulted in an event of default and these loans became
immediately due for repayment.

These USD secured bank loans of HK$39,530,000 had
been subsequently settled mainly by utilising the Group’s
pledged time deposits of HK$39,270,000 in March 2016.

BRERERERBR AR

26

R1T

(a)

(b)

(c)

REMEER (&)

BVHA K JE BN EA Y SR 4 R R 1T E K
FARAKEETEESRSR IR
XENSEH  EXNEZFERERRITE
RILAK BB HER - ARZFEE
HBRTEREHN —FRHEE -
RXEBHNEHLEBEHEHDE - %
EEREMRITERERB -EAH=
FHREEFETHERE  ARHB
RT3 37(a) 58 -

HihB|IEARTER
FRAEENENZRAEARE
44,131,000t (}8E 152,675,000/ 7T)
A MAEBRTERZ-ZZE—hF
T A=t BBZERNEREER
HEAEMERKFIRTER - ZEK
BRTEREERAAEBR - — X
F_AEE BELEBRA-_ZT—KX
F-FRBEREEN —BBESR
BHARBS0EETER -

ENEEARTER

R—_FT—RE+=—_HA=+—H "  &£H
—MEEIT(ZE—WNF  =FEIT)H
XA HEIFERTTE FX5,100,0003% 7T (48
& 739,530,000/ L) (= ZF — M4 :
506,245,000 7T ) T3 WA iR 17 &7 K
39,270,0007% ;t( = & — M 4F:
535,297,000/ 7)) (K1 sk22) tE A -

FA AEEREXNETZEER
RRITEFONE  ERBLENF
- MEZEERLAKBEHEER -

ZEE LA EMARITE 139,530,000
BLTHEEIER T F=AEB
MAEAAESEEERBEHEX
39,270,0008 L& °
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26 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 26 $Hf{TRHEMES (&)
(d) RMB secured bank loans (d ARBEERMBITENR

At 31 December 2015, the RMB secured bank loans
comprised of: (i) a bank loan of RMB50,000,000
(equivalent to HK$59,680,000) (2014: HK$63,379,000)
secured by a number of leasehold land in Mainland China
with net carrying amounts of HK$143,183,000 (2014:
HK$156,561,000); (i) bank loans of RMB55,000,000
(equivalent to HK$65,648,000) (2014: HK$69,718,000)
secured by a number of leasehold land in Mainland China
with net carrying amounts of HK$40,599,000 (2014:
HK$44,307,000); and (i) bank loans of RMB148,620,000
(equivalent to HK$177,393,000) (2014: HK$63,379,000)
secured by a parcel of leasehold land in Mainland China
and buildings and plant and machinery with aggregate net
carrying amounts of Nil (2014: Nil) (Note 13), and
guaranteed by Mr. Dong.

As at 31 December 2015, RMB105,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$125,328,000) of these bank loans were overdue.
In addition, as certain other loans as detailed in note (e)
below became overdue during the year, which is an event
of cross-default to some of these bank loans,
RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$59,680,000) of these
bank loans also became due for immediate repayment as
at 31 December 2015.

Subsequent to the financial reporting period, all these
RMB secured bank loans have been refinanced by a
syndicated loan with a term of 3 years (details of which
have been disclosed in Note 37(a) except for loans from a
bank totalling RMB55,000,000 (equivalent of
HK$65,648,000). The Group is negotiating with the bank
to extend these loan together with certain notes payable
of the Group to the extent of approximately
RMB29,000,000 (equivalent to HK$34,614,000) for a
term of 3 years.
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KB RIFIRTTEREIE « () ABRBALR
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HE T HERIBPMONBEITERARE
50,000,0007T (18 759,680,000/ 7T )
(ZZ— /4 : 63,379,000 7T ) : (i)
IABIER AP B ARE  BREFES
40,599,000/ 7w( = & — I 4 :
44,307,000 7% 7T ) B FH & 1 b 1 A K 3
mIRTTE R AR 55,000,000 70 (F8E
765,648,000 ;L( = T — M F :
69,718,000%87T) : K (jii) A — 1B AL
BAFEMHEE LI - RREFEERE
AEAT(ZTE—NE : BT &
F R RS (M 13) (ERIRF A
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R-E—RE+_A=+—H %=
$R1TE AR A R #105,000,000 7t (48
& 7 125,328,0007% 7T ) B 2 o it
AN BTN XK () ARl & T &
HERNFERNBE - WO ZE
RITERBRRNENEMH  Z5E
1TERF M A RE 50,000,000 7T (FHE
759,680,000/ 7L) IME R = —HF
+-A=+—HEKEIHEE -

REF R EH%E - g —HRTAE
H A R #55,000,0005c( # & »
65,648,000 87T ) ME I + FTEZE
ARESERRTERA—BAH=
FRIRBEEFGETHRE (BEAFEBER
MiaE37(@# T ) - ANE B IEEEZETT
=R BAEEZSERRBENL
A E #29000,0007c( B & ®
34,614,000 70) & TN ZEEE
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26 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

172

(e)

Other loans

On 21 January 2013, the Group entered into a non-
binding framework agreement with Beijing Wincapital in
relation to the disposal of a 30% equity interest in SEAM,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The aggregate
disposal consideration is expected to be approximately
US$150 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,170
million). The proposed transaction is yet to complete and
no formal sales and purchase agreement has been
entered into up to the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements.

In connection with the proposed disposal, Beijing
Wincapital arranged certain loan finance (“Financing
Loans”) to the Group in the aggregate amounts of
RMB700,000,000 (equivalent to HK$835,520,000) as at
31 December 2015 (2014: HK$887,311,000). Such
borrowings can be settled by offsetting against the
disposal consideration should the proposed disposal be
completed.

As at 31 December 2015, the Financing Loans comprised
of:

(i) A loan of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$238,720,000) (2014: HK$253,517,000) under a
secured financing arranged by Beijing Wincapital for
a term of two years up to January 2015.

In consideration of the financing, (i) Yongtong
Special Steel, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, has assigned its rights and entitlements to
all the income generated or otherwise receivable, if
any, from the equity interest of its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Yongtong Stainless Steel and (ii) a
personal guarantee provided by Mr. Dong for such
period so long as the financing remains outstanding.

BRERERERBR AR

26

R1T

(e)

RHEMEE (&)

Hih&EXR
R-ZZBE—=%—A=-+—H8 x&H
Bt FERIIVERALEASEERE
B /B 2 7] )3 BB 3 30% PR AN 25 HY
HRNDIER D - BHEREBETH
B150EEXT(HERNII7T0E &
BIL) c BESATBHRERAM AR
BERXSIATHK ARG MEMRIE

AEBEH=

RERHEFTEMNS R_ZE—AF
+-A=1+—B tREmRALEHR
ZHETEFRE ((BREER]) 4
% A& A R # 700,000,000 7T (48 & %
835,520,000/ L ) ( = & — IO F :
887,311,000/ L) ° fWiZH N EEE
1SLASERK - BREE AT LA SE B &R
BHAEE -

R-ZE—RE+-_A=1+—H @&
BRI

() EFRARE 200,000,0007T (HEE
238,720,000 L) (ZZF—1W
£ : 253,517,000 7T ) A1t = [E
RELZHNAYRE (E-2—H
F—A)WEEAERE -

ERBENRE - () KB R
SENZENBAR)EBER
HE2EM B A RGR T3 a0
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26 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Other loans (Continued)

(i) Loans provided by Gongyi Jiahui Technology
Promotion Service Centre LLP (“Gongyi Jiahui”) in
the aggregate of RMB500,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$596,800,000) (2014: HK$633,794,000) for a
term of three to six months from the respective
drawdown dates.

Except for a loan of RMB49,200,000 (equivalent to
HK$58,725,000) (2014: HK$62,365,000) which was
secured by a charge over 1,307,786,705 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Easyman,
representing approximately 51.22% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2015, all of these loans are unsecured.

As at 31 December 2015, all of the Financing Loans
were overdue (2014: RMB249,200,000 (equivalent
to HK$315,883,000)). The Group is in the process
of negotiating with Beijing Wincapital and the above
relevant lenders to extend the terms of these
borrowings.

Unsecured borrowings from related parties

As at 31 December 2015, unsecured borrowings from
related parties comprised of: (i) loans from Mr. Dong’s
relatives of RMB25,700,000 (equivalent to
HK$30,676,000) (2014: HK$32,577,000), which bear
interest at rates of 36% to 43% per annum; and (i) loans
from the ultimate holding company of the Company
consisting of amounts of SG$7,443,000, US$1,715,000
and HK$6,140,000 (in aggregate equivalent to
HK$59,586,000) (2014: HK$61,232,000), which bear
interest at a rate of 8% per annum except for an amount
of US$1,715,000, which is interest free.
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26 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

174

(9)

(h)

Unsecured borrowings from related parties of
the Potential Investor

During the year, the Group obtained borrowings from
certain related parties of the Potential Investor totalling
RMB158,910,000 (equivalent to HK$189,676,000) (2014:
Nil). All these borrowings were overdue as at 31
December 2015. Subsequent to the financial reporting
period, a related party of the Potential Investor has
provided additional borrowings of RMB50 million to the
Group in January 2016.

The Group has been actively negotiating with the lenders
of the above borrowings for the renewal and extension of
the repayment dates for a term of 2 years.

Unsecured other borrowings

As at 31 December 2015, unsecured other borrowings
comprised of (i) a loan from an independent third party of
RMB1,000,000 (equivalent to HK$1,193,000) (2014:
HK$2,535,000), which bear interest at 12% per annum; (ii)
a loan from an independent third party of US$2,500,000
(equivalent to HK$19,377,000) (2014: HK$19,391,000),
which bear interest at 8% per annum; loans from certain
independent third parties of RMB21,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$25,066,000) (2014: HK$26,619,000),
RMB17,000,000 (equivalent to HK$20,291,000) (2014:
HK$25,352,000), and RMB3,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,178,000) (2014: HK$7,606,000) which bear interest
at rates of 21.6% per annum, 19.2% per annum and
0.3% per day, respectively.

All these unsecured other borrowings were repayable
within one year and, became overdue as at 31 December
2015 (2014: HK$10,140,000).
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26 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

(i)

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds

On 12 December 2007, the Company issued 20,000 zero
coupon convertible bonds due 2012 at HK$100,000 each
with an aggregate nominal value of HK$2,000,000,000
(the “Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds”) which were
subsequently traded on the Stock Exchange.

On 10 November 2010, the Company exchanged 97.85%
of the Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds with: (1) a cash
payment of HK$20,000 for each HK$100,000 in principal
amount of the Zero Coupon Convertible Bonds; and (2)
13,748 10% coupon convertible bonds due 2012 at
HK$100,000 each with an aggregate nominal value of
HK$1,374,800,000 (the “10% Coupon Convertible
Bonds”).

On 12 June 2012, the Company further exchanged
97.87% of the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds with: (1)
39,099 10% coupon senior bonds due 2015 at a principal
amount of HK$25,000 for the 10% Coupon Convertible
Bond of principal amount of HK$100,000 with an
aggregate nominal amount of HK$977,475,000 (the “10%
Coupon Senior Bonds”); and (2) 13,033 6% coupon
convertible bonds due 2015 at a principal amount of
HK$25,000 for the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds of
principal amount of HK$100,000 with an aggregate
nominal amount of HK$325,825,000 (the “6% Coupon
Convertible Bonds”) (Note 27).

On 13 June 2014, the Company completed the
restructuring of its 10% Coupon Senior Bonds with
aggregate nominal amount of HK$390,990,000 and the
6% Coupon Convertible Bonds with aggregate nominal
amount of HK$181,575,000 (“Bonds Restructuring”).

Key terms of the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds have been
amended as follows:

(i) Interest rate: 12% per annum, which is repayable
quarterly in arrears;

(i) Final maturity date: 12 December 2018;
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26 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
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(i)

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds (Continued)

@iy  Repayment: The Company shall redeem the bonds
at 100% of the remaining principal of
HK$390,990,000 in 8 quarterly instalments
commencing 12 March 2017 to and including the
Final Maturity Date;

(iv) Redeemable in cash at the option of the Company
at their early redemption amount calculated by
using the bond principal with an interest rate of 12%
payable on a quarterly basis, at any time prior to the
final maturity date, providing that early redemption
may not be exercised by the Company within 30
days of the end of a specific close period.

Details of the amendments to the terms of 6% Coupon
Convertible Bonds have been disclosed in Note 27. The
amendments are considered to be substantial
modification of terms of the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds
and the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds. Consequently,
the 10% Coupon Senior Bonds and the 6% Coupon
Convertible Bonds have been accounted for as
extinguishment of financial liabilities and the amended
Senior Bonds (“12% Coupon Senior Bonds”) and
amended convertible bonds (“8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds”) have been recognised upon the completion of
the Debt Restructuring.

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds with the embedded
redemption options were initially recognised as a debt
host contract, which was measured using an equivalent
market interest rate for a similar bond without a
redemption option, and are subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The embedded redemption options were
initially recognised as an embedded derivative, which was
measured using valuation technique. At its initial
recognition on 13 June 2014 and at the end of the
reporting period, the fair value of the embedded
redemption options was insignificant. The fair value of the
12% Coupon Senior Bonds was valued by Greater China
Appraisal Limited.
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26 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 26 $R{TREMES (&)
() The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds (Continued) (i) 12%ZmMEEEBS (&)
The movements of the liability and embedded derivative BEEFZBBERANENETAES S
components of the Senior Bonds are as follows: BB ¢
Liability = Embedded
component derivatives Total
EEPBF AESTEIR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F#E T T T
10% Coupon Senior Bonds 10% EEEELEES
At 1 January 2014 RZZE—MFE—H—H 477,769 - 477,769
Interest expense FEMAZ 25,628 = 25,628
Payments of principal and TREEREL
coupons (119,653) - (119,653)
Extinguishment on AT —F
13 June 2014 NAT=HEH (383,744) - (383,744)
At 13 June 2014 RZZE—MEA+=H - - -
12% Coupon Senior Bonds 12% EEREEBLEES
At 13 June 2014 RZZF—HEA+=H 219,351 - 219,351
Interest expense FEMAZ 414,772 = 41,772
Payment of coupons YTRES (11,826) - (11,826)
Acceleration of unwinding IEBEES 2 F B ()
interest of bonds (note) 141,693 - 141,693
At 31 December 2014 and NRZE—MNER
2015 —T—hF
+=—A=+—H 390,990 - 390,990
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(i)

)

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds (Continued)
Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company failed to make
interest payment under the relevant terms and conditions of the Modified
10% Coupon Bonds (see note (j) below) , 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and
8% Coupon Convertible Bonds (Note 27) of HK$1,420,000,
HK$11,698,000 and HK$2,990,000 respectively. This constituted an event
of default under the respective terms of the Bonds. As a result, the
outstanding carrying amounts of the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds, 12%
Coupon Senior Bonds and 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds totalling
HK$352,644,000, shall become immediately due and payable. In addition,
unwinding of interest totalling HK$210,670,000 was accelerated; and all
the liabilities of the Bonds have been classified as current liabilities as at 31
December 2014.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company also failed to
make further interest payments of the Bonds of HK$64,344,000.

Despite the above, DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, the trustee for the
holders of the Bonds, has not demanded immediate repayment of the
Bonds and their related interest up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements. The Group has been actively negotiating
with the holders of the Bonds for the execution of the Debt Restructuring
Proposal to facilitate the Group meeting its obligations.

The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds

According to an extraordinary resolution dated 31 May
2012, amendments to the terms and conditions governing
the 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds for the remaining
284 10% Coupon Convertible Bonds with an aggregate
nominal amount of HK$28,400,000 (the “Modified 10%
Coupon Bonds”) are as follows:

(i) delete the conversion right attached to the 10%
Coupon Convertible Bonds and delete the terms in
relation to the adjustment to the conversion price;

(i)  extend the maturity date of the 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds from 12 December 2012 to 12
March 2015;

@iy  amend the maturity repayment in respect of each
10% Coupon Convertible Bonds from 131.1699%
of the principal amount to 100% of the principal
amount;
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26 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

)]

The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds (Continued)

(iv) delete the pre-agreed share price ceiling as an
event triggering the redemption option of the
Company, and remove the capital event and the
delisting of the Company as a relevant event
triggering the redemption option of the
bondholders;

(v)  amend the early redemption amount to 100% of the
principal amount together with any unpaid interest
accrued thereto on the redemption date.

The Group determined the fair value of the Modified 10%
Coupon Bonds based on the valuation performed by
Great China Appraisal Limited using an equivalent market
interest rate for a similar bond without a conversion
option.

As at 31 December 2014 and 2015, an event of default
occurred under the terms of the Modified 10% Coupon
Bonds, details of which have been disclosed in note (i)
above.

27 CONVERTIBLE BONDS
On 13 June 2014, the Company completed the Bonds
Restructuring as stated in Note 26(i), whereupon the terms and
conditions governing the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds with
aggregate nominal amount of HK$181,575,000 have been
amended as follows:

U)

(i)

(i)

Amended the interest rate payable from 6% per annum to
8% per annum;

Extended the final maturity date of the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds from 12 March 2015 to 12 March
2018;

The price at which ordinary shares will be issued upon
conversion of the Convertible Bonds will be reduced to
HK$0.30 per ordinary share, subject to adjustment in the
manner provided in the Convertible Bonds Trust Deed;
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
vy  Amended to the Conversion Price re-set mechanics to
provide a reduced Floor Price of HK$0.18;

(vy Added a provisional clause to the definition of “Relevant
Event” (Note) to ensure that the suspension of trading of
the ordinary shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange at the completion date of the Debt
Restructuring will not constitute a Relevant Event unless it
continues for a period of 120 consecutive calendar days
following 12 June 2014;

(vij  Amended the Reserve Account arrangements to reduce
the Required Minimum Balance from US$10,000,000 to
US$1,000; and

(vii)  The addition of provisions which will require the Company
to credit to the balance of the Reserve Account amounts
calculated by reference to the volume of dry tonnes of ore
exported to SEAM in the event that the current restrictions
imposed on the export of ores under the Exclusive Offtake
Agreement are lifted and which will require the Company
to accelerate the payments schedule in such
circumstances.

Note:
A “Relevant Event” occurs:

(1) when the ordinary shares of the Company cease to be listed or admitted
to trading, or the trading of which is suspended for a period of more than
90 consecutive calendars, on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange; or

() when there is a change of control in the Company.

The amendments are considered to be substantial modification
of terms of the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds. Consequently,
the 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds have been accounted for as
extinguishment of financial liabilities and the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds have been recognised upon the completion
of the Bonds Restructuring.
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27 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 27

The movements of the liability and derivative components of the

AR S ()
AR ER 2 BERITET AR 2 ZEH N

Convertible Bonds are as follows:

T

Derivatives
Liability financial
component instruments Total
EEBS TELBMIA st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHATT FHT FHTT
6% Coupon Convertible Bonds 6% ZEE AR ES
At 1 January 2014 R-_ZE—mWFE—H—H 129,182 21,652 150,834
Interest expense A EFHX 22,020 - 22,020
Changes in fair value DABEZEE = (20,575) (20,575)
Payments of coupons SHEER (5,432) - (5,432)
Extinguishment on 13 June 2014 RZZE—NF A +=H8FH (145,770) (1,077) (146,847)
At 13 June 2014 R_ZE—MEA+=H - — =
8% Coupon Convertible Bonds 8% EHE A2 R &%
At 13 June 2014 R-Z—mEXA+=H 81,691 105,663 187,354
Interest expense A EFHXZ 14,608 - 14,608
Conversion into ordinary shares B 5 T E AL (17,782) (22,033) (39,815)
Changes in fair value ARBEZEE) = 743 743
Payments of coupons SHEE (3,662) = (3,662)
Acceleration of unwinding interest of IR £ [0l & 5
bonds (Note 26(i)) FL2 (HFaE26()) 69,070 - 69,070

At 31 December 2014 R-TB—mE+=-A=+—H 143,925 84,373 228,208
Conversion into ordinary shares B2 5 TR S (26,400) (15,476) (41,876)
Changes in fair value NRBEZEE - (27,128) (27,128)
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—hFE+-_H=+—H 117,525 41,769 159,294

The Company determined the fair value of the liability
component of the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds based on the
valuation performed by Greater China Appraisal Limited using
an equivalent market interest rate for a similar bond without a
conversion option.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
The Company also recognised a number of derivatives, the
values of which comprise:

(i) The fair value of the option of the bondholders to convert
the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds into ordinary shares of
the Company at the conversion price;

(i)  The fair value of the option of the Company to redeem the
8% Coupon Convertible Bonds; and

(i) The fair value of the potential option of the holders to
request the Company to redeem the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds upon the occurrence of Relevant
Event.

These options are interdependent as only one of these options
can be exercised. Therefore, they are not able to be accounted
for separately and a single compound derivative financial
instrument was recognised.

The fair values of the derivatives were valued by Greater China
Appraisal Limited using the trinomial model. As at 31 December
2015, the fair value of the liability component of the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds was HK$41,769,000

The 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds (as detailed in Note 26(i) above) are secured by (i)
the pledge of the Group’s time deposits amounting to
HK$13,000; (i) all of the rights, interest, title and benefits of the
Exclusive Offtake Agreement; and (iii) all of the shares held by
First Elite Development Limited in S.E.A. Mining Limited, a
private company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability,
which is the sole legal and beneficial holder of the convertible
bonds issued by Yiwan with principals amounting to
HK$46,500,000 and US$3,000,000 respectively, which are
convertible into ordinary shares of Yiwan.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, an event of default

occurred under the terms of the 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds, details of which have been disclosed in Note 26(j).
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28 SHARE CAPITAL 28 B
2015 2014
—E-1F b SbukS
Number of Number of
ordinary shares HK$’000  ordinary shares HK$'000
EEREY TR TR T
Authorised (HK$0.1 each): & (GRR0.1ETT)
At 1 January and R—A—Bk
31 December +=H=+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid BETRER
(HK$0.1 each): (B1%0187T) :
At 1 January ®n—HA—H 2,678,540,198 267,854 2,553,040,200 255,304
Conversion of convertible ER TR ES
bonds 88,000,000 8,800 125,499,998 12,550
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 2,766,540,198 276,654 2,678,540,198 267,854

29

During the year ended 31 December 2015, convertible bonds
with principal amount of HK$26,400,000 (2014:
HK$37,650,000) were converted into 88,000,000 (2014:
125,500,000) new ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.30
(2014: HK$0.30) per share in accordance with the terms of the
convertible bonds.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 76 to 77
of the financial statements.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (2009 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium and contributed surplus are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company, provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.
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RESERVES (Continued)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate of the nominal value of the paid-up
capital of Infonics acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation on 29 April 2006 and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

Capital reserve

At 31 December 2015, the balance of capital reserve is non-
distributable and represents the additional contribution by a
shareholder in 2003 amounting to HK$36,047,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB37,147,000), and the capitalisation of
payable to a shareholder amounting to HK$79,760,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB85,000,000) in respect of
which Mr. Dong waived his rights and benefits to the debts
owed to him by Yongtong Special Steel in 2004.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective Articles of Association of Yongtong Special Steel,
Yongtong Alloy Metals, Xiangtong Electricity, Yongtong
Stainless Steel, East Harvest Minerals, East Harvest Mining,
Hongnie Trading, Yongtong Fully Lead and Henan Jiakun, these
companies are each required to allocate 10% of their profit after
tax, as determined in accordance with PRC Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“PRC GAAP”), to the statutory surplus
reserves (the “SSR”) until these reserves reach 50% of the
registered capital.

Subsequent to the re-registration of Yongtong Special Steel as
a wholly-foreign-owned company on 10 November 2003,
allocation to the SSR was no longer required. According to the
relevant PRC regulations applicable to wholly-foreign-owned
companies, Yongtong Special Steel is required to allocate a
certain portion (not less than 10%) of its profit after tax in
accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve fund (the
“SRF”) until this reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

The SSR and SRF are non-distributable other than in the event
of liquidation and, subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations, can be used to offset accumulated
losses or be capitalised as paid-up capital.
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RESERVES (Continued)

Distributable reserves

For dividend purposes, the amount which the PRC subsidiaries
can legally distribute by way of a dividend is determined by
reference to the distributable profits as reflected in their PRC
statutory financial statements which are prepared in accordance
with PRC GAAP. These profits differ from those that are
reflected in this report which is prepared in accordance with
IFRSs.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, profits after
tax of the PRC subsidiaries can be distributed as dividends after
the appropriations to the SSR and SRF set out above.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 2 May 2005, the Company approved a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) under which the Directors may, at
their discretion, grant options to the Directors and employees of
the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company. The
subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme
will be determined by the Directors, which shall be calculated at
the time of grant of the relevant option and shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of a share; (i) the
closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option,
which must be a business day; and (iii) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant option.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in issue and
may not exceed in nominal value 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company in issue for a period of 10 consecutive
years. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for the
period of 10 years commencing on 2 May 2005. No option may
be granted to any one person which, if exercised in full, would
result in the total number of shares which were already issued
and may fall to be issued to him under all the options previously
granted to him pursuant to the Share Option Scheme in any
12-month period up to the date of grant, exceeding 1% of the
maximum aggregate number of shares for the time being issued
and which may fall to be issued under the Share Option
Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors. In additions, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive Director, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or
with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of
offer of the share options. The options will have a vesting
schedule of five years whereby only 20% of the options shall be
exercisable 12 months after the grant date and an additional
20% may be exercised by the grantee in each subsequent year
until five years later when 100% of the options may be
exercised.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme during the year:
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Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options  exercise price options

ik S INAEF 19
TRE BREHE 17118 fElk 2
HK$ ’000 HK$ ‘000

per share per share
BRET T4 FRBT F4
At 1 January R—H—H 1.05 58,815 0.99 73,275
Forfeited during the year RERZIR 1.10 (18,270) 0.71 (14,460)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 1.03 40,545 1.05 58,815
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

BRESE (&)
R E IR ARITE 2 BB 2 TTEE RIT
EHIEAT -

2015 2014
—E-RHF C—ENF
Exercise price! Number of options
HK$ per share Exercise period BREEE
TEE" ’000 ’000
FRET 1TfEHA T4 F1n
1.07 30 July 2006 to 29 July 201 5 - 17,920
—EERFE+L+A=tTHE-_ZE—RFtA-1+NH
1.91 6 March 2008 to 5 March 2017 2,550 2,550
R N\F=ARHEZZE—tF=HAH
2.45 20 March 2009 to 19 March 2018 7,195 7,545
—EENF=HA=THEZZ-N\F=HTIB
0.63 20 Jan 2013 to 19 Jan 2022 30,800 30,800
— T =—F—A-+RAE-_ZE-——&—A+AhAR
40,545 58,815

i The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s
share capital.

The Group charged share option expense of approximately
HK$687,000 during the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014:
share option expense of HK$180,000 was reversed).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
40,545,000 (2014: 58,815,000) share options outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 1.46% (2014: 2.20%) of the Company’s shares
in issue as at 31 December 2015. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 40,545,000
(2014 58,815,000) additional ordinary shares of the Company
and an additional share capital of HK$4,054,500 (2014:
HK$5,881,500) and share premium of HK$37,847,750 (2014:
HK$56,053,000) (before issue expenses).
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group follows the guidance of IAS37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” to determine
when contingent liabilities should be recognised, which requires
significant judgement.

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible obligation
has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed by future
events outside the Group’s control, or when it is not possible to
calculate the amount. Realisation of any contingent liabilities not
currently recognised or disclosed could have a material impact
on the Group’s financial position.

The Group reviews significant outstanding litigations in order to
assess the need for provisions. Among the factors considered
are the nature of the litigation, legal processes and potential
level of damages, the opinions and views of the legal counsels
and advisors, and the management’s intentions to respond to
the litigations. To the extent the estimates and judgements do
not reflect the actual outcome, this could materially affect the
results for the period and the financial position.

(a) Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR”)

and United Mineral Limited (“UM?”) (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”)
In March 2014, the Company received certain legal letters
(the “Letters”) from the Buyers dated 20 March 2014,
which purported to be statutory demands serviced to the
Company pursuant to section 178(1)(a) of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Cap.32) (“Statutory Demand”).
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(a)

Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR”)
and United Mineral Limited (“UM”) (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (Continued)

The Letters concern disputes between the Group and the
Buyers relating to certain primary contracts for the sale
and purchase of Indonesian iron ores, and contain claims
for (i) an amount of US$10,347,698 (equivalent to
approximately HK$80,242,000) which comprises the
demand for return of an advance payment made by RR to
the Group of US$3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,264,000) and interest thereon to the extent of
US$7,347,698 (equivalent to approximately
HK$56,978,000) payable up to 20 March 2014; and (i) an
amount of RMB70,355,783 (equivalent to approximately
HK$89,488,000) which comprises the demand for return
of an advance payment made by UM to the Group of
RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$25,438,000) and interest thereon to the extent of
RMB50,355,783 (equivalent to approximately
HK$64,050,000) payable up to 20 March 2014. The
Company as guarantor to the abovementioned primary
contracts is therefore also a party to these litigations.

On 4 April 2014, the Group issued a legal letter to the
legal representative of the Buyers requesting them to
withdraw the Statutory Demand as the Group considers
that it has bona fide defences on substantial grounds to
the claims asserted from the Buyers, and the Group also
considers it has very substantial counterclaims against the
Buyers as a result of their non-performance of the relevant
contracts.

On 7 April 2014, the Group received another legal letter
from the legal representative of the Buyers informing that
the Buyers will not present their winding up petition
against the Company without serving a 3-day notice.
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(a)

Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR”)
and United Mineral Limited (“UM”) (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (Continued)

On 11 April 2014, the Company received another
statutory demand from the legal representative of UM to
claim for certain interest charge (“Interest Charge”) on
certain loans provided by UM to the Group (the principal
of which had been fully repaid before 31 December 2014)
calculated up to 11 April 2014 (as supplemented by
another legal letter dated 15 April 2014), together with the
related penalty, to the extent of US$3,839,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$29,770,000). The Group has
subsequently replied, through its legal representative, that
most of the claimed Interest Charge are unenforceable at
law but agreed to pay the relevant interest charge (after
tax) calculated under normal contract terms in the amount
of US$345,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,675,000) which had been provided for during the
year ended 31 December 2013.

On 9 May 2014, the Group received another legal letter
from the legal representative of UM informing that UM will
not present its winding up petition against the Company
without serving a 3-day notice.

In October 2014, the legal representative of UM issued a
letter to the Group requesting payment for the amount of
US$345,000 and the Group fully settled the amount in
November 2014.

On 18 November 2014, a subsidiary of the Group
received a legal letter from RR, which purported to be
statutory demand serviced to the subsidiary pursuant to
section 254(2)(a) of the Singapore Companies Act
(Cap.50), requesting for settlement of a payable of
US$1,726,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$13,387,000) (the “Unpaid Invoices”), which has been
included as current liabilities of the Group in the
consolidated financial statements.
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31 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

(a)

Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR”)
and United Mineral Limited (“UM”) (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (Continued)

On 8 December 2014, the Group issued a legal letter to
RR requesting RR to withdraw such statutory demand
and confirm that RR will not commence winding up of the
aforementioned subsidiary as the Group considers it has
bona fide defences on substantial grounds to the claims
asserted in RR’s letter dated 18 November 2014 and
significant cross-claims against RR and therefore the
Unpaid Invoices should not be settled at this stage since
the Group would be entitled to set these sums off against
its very substantial counterclaims for RR and/or UM.

There has been no further correspondence between the
Group and the Buyers since then and up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements. The
Directors, after seeking legal advice on the above claims,
consider that the Group has bona fide defences on
substantial grounds to the claims asserted from the
Buyers such that (i) the aforementioned advance
payments received to the extent of approximately
HK$48,702,000 in aggregate are presently not due for
repayment by the Group; (i) the resulting interest so
calculated are therefore miscalculated and grossly
inflated; (iii) other than an amount of HK$2,675,000
relating to the Interest Charge which has already been
settled by the Group, the remaining sums of the claims
are without merit; and (iv) the Unpaid Invoices should not
be settled at this stage. The Directors are also of the
opinion that the Group has significant ground for very
substantial counterclaims and cross-claims against each
of the Buyers as a result of their non-performance of the
relevant contracts as mentioned in the Letters.
Consequently, no provision has been made for these
claims on these consolidated financial statements as the
Directors consider that it is not probable that the above
legal claims would result in any material outflow of
economic benefits from the Group.

Annual Report 2015

31

FAREE (&)

(a)

B Rock Resource Limited
(TRRJ) & United Mineral Limited
(TUM)) (B[ BE=xX]) 2=Fa0 (&)
RZZE—NF+=_ANR KEEME
RRE A2 K4+ ZRRRE|EZE
FEERREE  WHERRRETZER
FHB AR ZEE  EHEAEE
REHMRRAPA-ZE—HWFE+—A
TNABZHGRENRERSELDEIE
EHEBM A S RRIBEEARR
8 MR AERGTSERR &, 3
UMZ IR EARREREZENIE
R IRPE B RS RS EE R

Bt REBEGEMEHREAERE
AEEEERWETAEMBN - B
ER LR RSIERZELERE
AEERERRINEZEFELGEE
EHE# A > RAH) LIS K8
X R A #£4948,702,000% 7t B Al k&
EHMAEEEE; (HAEOF AR
MEWERTERERESA : (ii)BRA
SEEEMNEFNBEKERBEN
2,675,000 AN © RIEMHERZ 7T
DRI ¢ R (iv) R B ZH AR IR ER
Bt BENMRAE ERERINAF
BITZEHEMLAREL  AEE
EEEMNERNBRERIELEEE
AHRRERIXZEE - At - AR
EERALIVEREBRDIARAREFE AR
EEREEMERNLER - Bt
WEREERRN GRSV ERERAE
A -

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 191



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBRRME

31 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

192

(b) Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment

(“COAs”)

The Group entered into certain COAs with various marine
vessel owners committing certain minimum number of
cargoes per calendar month for exporting iron ores from
Indonesia. As a result of the unfavourable economic
environment and the various changes in rules and
regulations stipulated by the Indonesian government
authorities since year 2012, the Group’s ores export was
adversely affected and therefore unable to fulfil the
minimum cargoes commitments as stipulated by some of
these COAs.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
received various legal letters from TORM A/S (“TORM”), a
marine vessel owner, to (i) claim for an outstanding freight
charges payable by the Group to TORM of approximately
US$1,834,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$14,268,000) (“Outstanding Freight Charges”); and (i)
notify the commencement of arbitration proceedings
pursuant to the terms of the relevant COAs to claim for
loss and damage suffered by TORM (“Other Losses”) with
respect to approximately 51 unfulfilled cargoes under the
terms of the relevant COAs which is estimated by TORM
to be approximately US$11,828,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$91,721,000) up to 27 March 2014 (the
amount stated in the latest claim submissions from
TORM).

The dispute with TORM in respect of the Outstanding
Freight Charges had been settled at an amount of
US$419,000 (equivalent to HK$3,253,000) during the
year ended 31 December 2014 and the claim had been
fully discharged in June 2014.

In connection with the claims on Other Losses, the Group
has engaged legal advisors to commence arbitration
procedures with TORM in February 2014.
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31 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)
(b) Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment
(“COAs”) (Continued)

During the year, the Group has been actively negotiating
with TORM on settlement of the above claims on Other
Losses. In preparing these consolidated financial
statements, the directors have obtain legal advice in this
respect and, based on the current status of the
proceedings, evidence exchanged and the latest
communication with TORM, consider that most likely the
Group will be able to settle the claims on Other Losses at
a consideration of approximately US$5 million (equivalent
to HK$38,782,000), and therefore a provision for claims
of the same amount was made for the year ended 31

December 2015 (Note 7).

As at 31 December 2015 and up to the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements, based on the
best knowledge and information of the directors, there are
no other major claims in relation to any COAs that the
Group has entered into saved as disclosed in these

consolidated financial statements.

Should the resolution of these legal claims and disputes
turn out to be unfavourable to the Group, the Group may
need to record additional losses in respect of these claims

and disputes in future reporting periods.

32 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENT — AS

LESSEE

The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating
lease arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for
terms ranging from two to three years. At 31 December 2015,
the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

31

32
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(b)

REMEESH(HMEESH]D
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FR - ANEE—-FHEHEETORMER
Fh_E A BAEAD IR SR A FR SRR
EEERBEGAMBHRRE S5l
BEUEZRER  WEROEEREZFEA
FER - FTRBEE R M ETORM Y
RIBM - RAARKEBA A R L
WMIARKEBHNSEEXT(HER
38,782,000/8 7T ) M E B K KO FR 3=
Mg At AREEREBE—T— 5
Ft-A=+—HLFEEFREER
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\—_E-RFT-_A=+—HREE
REMBHRRILERE  BESFRA
REE  BEAMBTRERAREEN
$%lﬁﬂﬁ)§iﬁﬁi{£ﬂﬁfﬁiﬁﬂ“
EEANZEMEBERER -

WEAZRERREFENREERT
MRAEE - ZK%I—I@E?E%E?HK%&
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2015 2014

—E-1% —T—mEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#&x F&TT

Within one year — %R 6,832 5,750
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EZERF(BEEERE) 3,040 2,241
Over five years b Ak - -
9,872 7,991
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33

34

194

COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in Note
33 above, the Group had the following capital commitments at

the end of the reporting period:

33 &iE

B b X PR 33 A7 2 AR S E A
REERFERARZERAEMT

2015 2014
—B-afF —ZlEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Contracted, but not provided for: EEFNEEST
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KRR 54,544 58,679

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

VPN

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the GRS IN=

consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following
material transactions and outstanding balances with related

parties during the year and as at the end of the reporting period:

34 BEEIRS

B RS SRR Eo At Sk 2 3 S0 -
AEBMNERRRE R ERE T ETT
BAX S RERE S 2 R ESE

Transactions with related parties HEELNXS
2015 2014
—E-RfF —=—F
Names of related parties Nature of transactions HK$’000 HK$'000
BELEE REME THET FHET
Yiwan Purchase of iron ores, export tax - 16,848
exclusive (note b)
BASREA - TeEDOH (MEo)
Yiwan Sales of machinery (note c) - 8,315
SHEMM (Mistc)
Easyman (note a) (Ffizta) Interest expense (note d) 4,890 3,347
NMEER(MwEd)
Ms. Sun Qiadian (“Ms. Sun”) (note €) Interest expense (note e) 13,613 9,209

Bzt (THat])(MiEe)

FISER (Hife)
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34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 34 EBEAXS (&)
Outstanding balances with related parties BARRE H KRG EREE
2015 2014
—E—FEF —ZT—pFE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Prepayments to Yiwan (Note 21 and note f)  ¥&/ Yiwan 2 18
(MFaE21 RMIFES) 137,251 108,349
Loan to Full Harvest Development Limited B FEERIZEREFR A A
(Note 17) (H5E17) 56,975 56,975
Amounts due to Easyman (note d) 45 /K Easyman 7058 (M 5Ed) 59,586 61,232
Amount due to Ms. Sun (note e) xR F R LA (K Ee) 30,676 32,577
Amount due to a Director (note g) R —RESHIE (Miskg) 1,975 2,226

Notes:

@)

Easyman is a company wholly owned by Mr. Dong. The Directors consider
that Mr. Dong through Easyman, as a lender of Yiwan, has an indirect
economic interest in Yiwan.

The transactions were carried out based on the terms agreed by the
parties under an exclusive offtake agreement and a second amending
agreement entered into between Yiwan and the Group in March 2007 and
September 2008, respectively.

Sales of machinery to Yiwan were conducted at mutually agreed prices
and terms.

Details of the terms of amounts due to Easyman are disclosed in Note 26.

Ms. Sun Qiaodian is the spouse of Mr. Dong. Amount due to Ms. Sun is
unsecured and is repayable by 31 December 2015. Interest is calculated
at mutually agreed terms.

Prepayments are made to Yiwan for purchases of iron ores. The amount is
unsecured and interest free and will be settled by offsetting the relevant
purchases.

Amount due to a Director is unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.

Details of compensation of key management personnel of the Group are
included in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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35

196

TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

At 31 December 2015, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Endorsed Bills”),
to certain of its suppliers in order to settle trade payables due to
such suppliers with a carrying amount in aggregate of
HK$22,349,000 (31 December 2014: HK$12,087,000). In
addition, the Group discounted certain bills receivable accepted
by banks in the PRC (the “Discounted Bills”), to certain banks to
finance its operating cash flow with a carrying amount in
aggregate of HK$47,563,000 (31 December 2014:
HK$15,013,000). The Endorsed Bills and the Discounted Bills
have a maturity from one to six months at the end of the
reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC and relevant discounting arrangement
with certain banks, the holders of the Endorsed Bills and the
Discounted Bills have a right of recourse against the Group if
the accepting banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”).

In the opinion of the directors, the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards relating to the Endorsed Bills
and the Discounted Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the
full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Bills and the Discounted
Bills. The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s
Continuing Involvement in the Endorsed Bills and the
Discounted Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase
these Endorsed Bills and Discounted Bills are equal to their
carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the fair values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement
in the Endorsed Bills and the Discounted Bills are not significant.

During the year, the Group has not recognised any gain or loss
on the date of transfer of the Endorsed Bills and the Discounted
Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from the continuing
involvement, both during the year or cumulatively.
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RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company
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36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

R TR R R

36 ARATZMBRRRERAERE

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2015 2014
—E-—AHEF —ZT—OF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TFETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB MEE 20 265
Interests in subsidiaries N B AT Z s 1,047,905 2,552,888
1,047,925 2,553,153
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other RIS - me REA
receivables JE U GRIA 4,043 30,778
Pledged time deposits EEAE TR 13 13
Cash and cash equivalents He NIBSEEY 1,639 436
5,695 31,227
Total assets HEE 1,053,620 2,584,380
EQUITY i
Share capital AR 7R 276,654 267,854
Reserves & (note (a))
(FF5E (@) (45,690) 1,118,058

Total equity EREE 230,964 1,385,912
LIABILITIES 88
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables FETHR SR 3,848 3,850
Other payables and accruals Hip I IE R BT aE 200,594 40,685
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 458,920 925,635
Convertible bonds AR ES 117,525 143,925
Derivative financial instruments TTESRTIEA 41,769 84,373

822,656 1,198,468
Total liabilites ~~~~~~~~ #&8® = 822,656 1,198,468
Total equity and liabilities EERkEEEHE 1,053,620 2,584,380
Net current liabilities REBAEEE (816,961) (1,167,241)

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2016 and was

signed on its behalf.

Dong Shutong

BEEB

Director

EF
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36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

198

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Statement of financial position of the Company
(Continued)

Note (a) Reserve movement of the Company

36 ¢§ﬂ2%%%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ§
(]|

RRB B FRRR ()

P4 (o) A5 2 G R

Share Contributed Share option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
RAD=E BHRL BREGERE Rt At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT FHET FHT FHET
(note)
(PaE)
At 1 January 2014 R-FT—NF—A—H 3,124,945 296,966 36,651 (905,339) 2,653,223
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4 [E & [ &5 18 4458 - - - (1,462,250) (1,462,250)
Conversion of convertible bonds it N R AT B 5 27,265 - - - 27,265
Equity-settled share-based VARG 45 5 2 IR R B B 2
compensation expense (Note 30) (Fff5£30) - - (180) - (180)
At 31 December 2014 RZT-—NF+=A=1+—H 3,162,210 296,966 36,471 (2,367,589) 1,118,058
At 1 January 2015 R=-—Z—RF—F—H 3,152,210 296,966 36,471 (2,367,589) 1,118,058
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4 & 2 H & 184858 - - - (1,197,511) (1,197,511)
Conversion of convertible bonds SRR ES 33,076 - - - 33,076
Equity-settled share-based LARGIE S 2 B n B R
compensation expense (Note 30) (Ft#E30) - - 687 - 687
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE—AF+-_A=+—8H 3,185,286 296,966 37,158 (3,565,100) (45,690)

Note: Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between
the value of the net assets of the underlying subsidiaries acquired by the
Company pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 29 April 2006 and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
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37 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the following major events occurred
after the reporting period:

(a)

(b)

New syndicated loan

In January 2016, the Group has successfully obtained a
3-year syndicated loan of approximately RMB498 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$594,840,000) from a
syndicate of banks in the PRC (i) to replace certain
outstanding bank loans and notes payable of the Group
as at 31 December 2015 to the extent of
HK$320,625,000 and HK$95,175,000, respectively with
the syndicated loan of the same amount; and (ii) to
provide additional loan facilities to the Group as working
capital for an amount of approximately RMB150 million
(the “New Facilities”) for a 3-year term. The syndicated
loan is interest-bearing at 5.225% per annum and is
secured by certain property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land lease payments of certain subsidiaries of the
Group. The Group is required to fulfill certain undertakings
and restrictive covenant requirements under this
syndicated loan facilities. Up to the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements, approximately
RMB30 million of the New Facilities have been drawn
down.

Subscription of the ordinary shares of the
Company

On 5 March 2016, the Company and a potential investor
(the “Potential Investor” or “Subscriber”) entered into a
share subscription agreement to subscribe for a total of
1,465,898,410 new ordinary shares of the Company at a
subscription price of HK$0.1876 per share (the
“Subscription Shares”), with proposed gross proceeds
totalling approximately HK$275 million (the
“Subscription”), subject to certain conditions precedent
which, among others, include the following:

° approval from the Company’s shareholders, or
independent shareholders when appropriate, for (i)
allotment and issuance of the Subscription Shares;
(i) a Whitewash Waiver; and (iii) a Special Deal (as
defined hereunder), at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company (‘EGM”);
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37 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

(b) Subscription of the ordinary shares of the
Company (Continued)

200

a Whitewash Waiver being granted by the SFC in
respect of any obligation of the Subscriber and
parties acting in concert with it to make a
mandatory general offer in cash for all the issued
shares and other relevant securities of the Company
not already owned (or agreed to be acquired) by the
Subscriber and parties acting in concert with it
which might otherwise arise as a result of the
Subscription;

the consent from the SFC for repayment to any
creditor who is a shareholder of the Company using
the proceeds from the Subscription under a
proposed debt restructuring as mentioned below
(the “Special Deal”);

approval of resumption of trading of the Company’s
shares, and listing of the Subscription Shares from
the Stock Exchange; and

completion of the Debt Restructuring Proposal. The
Debt Restructuring Proposal refers to a plan for
restructuring of the indebtedness of the Company
which involves, among other things: (i) the reduction
and cancellation of the outstanding principal amount
of the Bonds by at least 80%; (ii) the reduction and
cancellation of all the outstanding accrued interests
of the Bonds; (iii) the release and discharge of all
security collateral provided in relation to the 12%
Coupon Senior Bonds and the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds; and (iv) the reduction and
cancellation of all other indebtedness and
contingent liabilities of the Company as referred to
in the Debt Restructuring Proposal, by at least 80%.

Financial advisor and debt restructuring scheme advisor
have been appointed by the Company to facilitate the
Subscription and the Debt Restructuring Proposal. The
Subscription is not yet completed as at the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements.
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